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This is an electronic version of the print textbook. Due to electronic rights restrictions,
some third party content may be suppressed. Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed
content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. The publisher reserves the right
to remove content from this title at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it. For
valuable information on pricing, previous editions, changes to current editions, and alternate
formats, please visit www.cengage.com/highered to search by ISBN#, author, title, or keyword for
materials in your areas of interest.

Important Notice: Media content referenced within the product description or the product
text may not be available in the eBook version.
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MindTap for Fundamentals
of Financial Management

MindTap, featuring all-new Excel Online integration powered by Microsoft, is a complete

digital solution for the corporate finance course. It has enhancements that take students
from learning basic financial concepts to actively engaging in critical-thinking applications,

while learning valuable Excel skills for their future careers.

5% MINDTAP

@ ™ From Cengage

m-.,,.-er-/EVERYTHING YOU NEED IN ONE PLACE.

Cut prep time with MindTap preloaded, organized course materials. Teach more efficiently
with interactive multimedia, assignments, quizzes, and more.

‘.,;/EMPOWER YOUR STUDENTS TO REACH THEIR POTENTIAL.

Built-in metrics provide insight into student engagement. Identify topics needing extra
instruction. Instantly communicate with struggling students to speed progress.

m;_,pﬁ’MYOUR COURSE. YOUR CONTENT. _ .

MindTap gives you complete control over your course. You can rearrange textbook chapters, add fr\\
your own notes, and embed a variety of content—including Open Educational Resources (OER). '

a:,/ A DEDICATED TEAM, WHENEVER YOU NEED IT. %

MindTap is backed by a personalized team eager to help you every step of the way. We'll help ..
set up your course, tailor it to your specific objectives, and stand by to provide support.




Elevate Critical Thinking through a

variety of unique assessment tools

PRACTICE PROBLEMS

= All of the end-of-chapter problems are available in algorithmic format for either student practice
of applying content presented in the chapter or alternative graded assignment. MindTap is a
gy highly customizable assessment delivery platform, so you can pick and choose from a large bank
of algorithmic problem sets to assign to your students.
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i Q om ri BLUEPRINT PRACTICE PROBLEMS

e e g g o~ i Blueprint Practice Problems combine conceptual and
E L T

application-driven problems with a tutorial emphasis.
T — Students will know with certainty their level of competency
for every chapter, which will improve course outcomes.
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Attempts: Average: 0/2

1. preferred stock s Aa

preferred stock is a hybrid security because it shares characteristics of both debt and equity securities. However, it is
often hard to know how to classify preferred stock when talking about a firm's leverage.

Read the following statement about a characteristic of preferred stocks and answer the corr ing guestion

GRADED HOMEWORK

MindTap offers an assignable, algorithmic
homework tool that is based on our ——

proven and popular Aplia product for @rals —~
Finance. These homework problems e —— =

Failure to pay a preferred dividend does not cause the firm togo into default, unlike failure to pay interest on debt.

True or False: The preceding statement accurately describes a characteristic of preferred stocks.

This statement is true. Bondholders have the most seniority in the claim of a company’s assets. Though preferred

H H H H stockholders have more seniority in the claim of assets than common stockholders, missing payments on preferred
InCI Ude rICh explanatlons and InStant dividends does not lead to bankruptcy. It is important to note that even though unpaid preferred dividends do not
H H 11 bankrupt a company, firms must be careful about missing dividend payments. If a firm has a history of missing
rading, with opportunities to tr :
g g’ pp y dividend payments, it may have a hard time issuing new debt, and it will be virtually impossible for such a firm to
another algorithmic version of the e men et o
e problem to bolster
confldence W|th Preferred stock foers the. issuing cnrpnratmn.and investors advantages and disadvantages. which of the following
statements describes a disadvantage for the issuer of preferred stock?
[ problem SOIV'ng. {2 Nonconvertible preferred stock helps prevent the dilution of common equity.
ap 1 aTM X (O The after-tax cost of preferred stock is higher than the after-tax cost of debt.
Explanation: Open
amept e —TY F
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MindTap offers a series of Finance
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Building valuable Excel skills for future

business careers while making data-driven decisions

Cengage Learning and Microsoft have partnered in MindTap to provide students with a

uniform, authentic Excel assignment experience. It provides instant feedback, built-in video

tips, and easily accessible spreadsheet work. These features allow you to spend more time

teaching finance applications and less time teaching and troubleshooting Excel.

These new algorithmic activities offer pre-populated data directly in Microsoft Excel Online,
which runs seamlessly on all major platforms and browsers. Students each receive their own
version of the problem data in order to use Excel Online to perform the necessary financial
analysis calculations. Their work is constantly saved in Cengage cloud storage as part of
homework assignments in MindTap. It’s easily retrievable so students can review their answers
without cumbersome file management and numerous downloads/uploads.

Access to Excel Online
as used in these
activities is completely
free for students as part
of the MindTap course
for Fundamentals of
Financial Management,
15e. It is not in any way
connected to personal
Office 365 accounts/
local versions of Excel,
nor are Microsoft
accounts required to
complete these
activities in MindTap.

Microsoft Excel Online
activities are aimed

at meeting students
where they are with
unparalleled support
and immediate
feedback.
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I3 assn Mariaztasng Somaaty Rad B2 Sliea & salad 352 3700 000 000 & b BE3enS
Cyrrpety e soemgany § Bued gesets pre speatag 30 130 o cagaon,. The 239 Rag been
s e o s Vgesash e U e teise Do T SR sRSER e a0g wliem T
BRI BSHEE T AN 1R BTN B

x 2

S il ol = o

B WRSt el of sakes caud Baretns el 2aRal F R R Baen speEteg 3t A0 caeen,”

Virite out yeur sngenr comoiptely. Reund your prgaer 12 the reses oane

i

boigt g ot £ pepet Cond pEele ppaf 9047 Bl nd bl Bt M Tt Selma
vaiEs
by
¢ ladense s saies Acoesse 410 oo aese of 30 mcoease - fues sssens o e

SRR, ST N SEE N PRt Lakd BEENE BRE P 0N8 2 B B
comaintety. Do aet smund meerpdane chicipmong. Baund your prgutr 12 R rere
ol




Microsoft Excel Online activities aimed at meeting

students where they are with unparalleled

CALCULATION
STEPS AND
EXCEL SOLUTIONS

Each activity offers
configurable displays
that include the correct
answers, the manual
calculation steps, and
an Excel solution (with
suggested formulas)
that matches the exact
version of the problem
the student received.
Students can check
their work against the
correct solution to
identify improvement
areas. Instructors always

support and immediate feedback

EXCEL VIDEO TIPS

Each activity includes a walk-
through video of a similar problem
being worked in Excel Online to
offer suggested formulas to use for
solving the problem. It also offers
tips and strategies, which assist

in understanding the underlying
financial concepts while working
within Excel.
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have access to review the student’s answers and Excel work from the MindTap progress app to
better assist in error analysis and troubleshooting.




Encouraging those ‘Aha!’” moments with all new

Exploring Finance visualizations

All-new in MindTap for Fundamentals of Financial Management, 15e, Exploring Finance

M'E:“K activities offer instructors and students interactive visualizations that engage with

“lean forward” interactivity. Exploring Finance activities provide instructors visual,
3 . interactive tools that can be used to help students “see” the statistical concept being

o presented directly within MindTap.

Constant Growth Stock

Concaptual Overview: Explons how the value of 3 stock changes as a function of the discount interest rate.
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Conceptual Overview: Explore how interest, payment, and nurmiBET OFf DENOGS GEETTITIE Uhe TUTUTE ValUue OF an orainary annuity. —
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Assignments

Exploring Finance visualizations are s .
found at the chapter level of the ! ==
MindTap learning path for easy retrieval s i
in class to show on projector screens.
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Exploring Finance visualizations have a pre-built activity in the learning path within MindTap

that allows students to manipulate the values and then respond to questions that reinforce

their understanding of the concept being

conveyed. These activities can be assigned

as practice or for a grade and often offer an e eeeee
interactive, conceptual activity immediately e A e v S A e S
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Linear Trend Forecasting : .
Conceptual Cverview: Explore how the linear trend across time provides a forecast d
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Help students prepare for @Xam SUCCeSS with

Adaptive Test Prep, only available in MindTap

L ADAPTIVE WHERE
= | 'mcounts
- The new Adaptive
N Test Prep App helps
S =, students prepare nn:r'rmr'tfs: VP ol A i o A oy o] o Sty Al
— for test success by Test Me

allowing them to
generate multiple
practice tests across
chapters until they
have confidence
they have mastered
the material.

1) Generate a Sracoce Tess that

R cne et P

My Study Plan M Creale a New Test fate Tet Wow

2) Review your Personpized S
Select One or More Chapters. then Create a Practice Test
3) Rermediate by med

Selected Test Secsons

Total Avadable Quessions

ADAPTIVE TEST PREP

M St d PI reaie a New lesi .
# M chdyelen ‘¥ The adaptive test program grades

practice tests and indicates the areas
that have or have not been mastered.
Students are presented with an
Adaptive Study
PR o My Study Plan [P—— Plan that takes

PAST ATTEMPTS

Spladted Attempt

Date: Aug 18, 2017 1:02 PM Score: 30% (3 of 10) Date/Time = Score

PROGRESS REVIEW CHAPTER RESOURCES
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FEEDBACK IS KEY

Students also receive robust explanations of the problems to assist in further understanding.
Many of the quantitative test questions feature video feedback that offers students step-by-
step instruction to reinforce their understanding and bolster their confidence.
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Getting Down the Basics

is Important

In order for you to take students further into the applications of finance, it's important
N that they have a firm handle on the basic concepts and methods used. In MindTap for

Fundamentals of Financial Management, we provide students with just-in-time tools

e that—coupled with your guidance—ensure that e—— w—

= they build a solid foundation. —— —
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PREPARING FOR FINANCE TIPS B RS T

Students are more confident and prepared when they

have the opportunity to brush up on their knowledge _— i e e e
of the prerequisite concepts required to be successful e
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in finance. Tutorials/problems to review prerequisite Pt e

concepts that students should know. Topics covered | SR 188wy bt st

- the walet of hpa will be

include Accounting, Economics, Mathematics, and s

Statistics, as well as coverage of various Financial

Calculators and Excel. L e
Ty eepe™: valun oF Py ferason” in Cusel i S0 (o CHICUeT th cament valve of Rutyre poYmEnTS. CoOEERE i
T

Be0p08e yOu Shche SeN8N yOu B 510,800 CertRTate of SHR0NT 11 yOu ABIE which will S5 4% Iatonet ko the
PveilReal perid URSE Ihe e of Bis oM. vou 200 wilthdiie 19 Rt B 4 pelel o 1R iy of vaur

How do you interact with financial institutions and financial markets?
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CONCEPT CLIPS

Embedded throughout
the new interactive
MindTap Reader,
Concept Clips present
key finance topics

to students in an
entertaining and
memorable way

via short animated
video clips. These
video animations
provide students with
auditory and visual
representation of the
important terminology

for the course.

investment-grade bonds

® ConceptClip - Investment Grade v. Junk

<
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% Problem
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Video
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. Walk=Through

Reno Revolvers has an EPS of $1.50, a cash flow per share of $3.00, and a price/cash flow
ratio of 8.0. What is its P/E ratio?

PROBLEM WALK-THROUGH VIDEOS

Embedded in the interactive MindTap
Reader and linked to select problems

in MindTap, Problem Walk-Through
Videos provide step-by-step instructions
designed to walk students through
solving a problem from start to finish.

Students can play and replay the
tutorials as they work through homework
assignments or prepare for quizzes and

tests—almost as though they had you
by their side the whole time. Ideal for
homework, study outside the classroom,
or distance learning, Problem Walk-
Through Videos extend your reach to
give students extra instructional help
whenever and wherever it’s most useful.
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Customizable Course and

Mobile On-the-Go study tools
based on YOUR Needs

MindTap for Fundamentals of Financial Management, 15e offers features that allow you to

= customize your course based on the topics you cover.

S LEARNING PATH
=J  CUSTOMIZATION

The learning path is structured
by chapter so you can easily
hide activities you wish to not
cover, or change the order b 22 Acthities
to better align with your
course syllabus. RSS feeds and Practics o
YouTube links can easily be
added to the learning path or

embedded directly within the I

MindTap Reader.
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When the first edition of Fundamentals was published 40 years ago, we wanted to
provide an introductory text that students would find interesting and easy to un-
derstand. Fundamentals immediately became the leading undergraduate finance
text, and it has maintained that position ever since. Our continuing goal with this
edition is to produce a book and ancillary package that sets a new standard for
finance textbooks.

Finance is an exciting and continually changing field. Since the last edition,
many important changes have occurred within the global financial environment.
In the midst of this changing environment, it is certainly an interesting time to be a
finance student. In this latest edition, we highlight and analyze the events leading
to these changes from a financial perspective. Although the financial environment
is ever changing, the tried-and-true principles that the book has emphasized over
the past four decades are now more important than ever.

Structure of the Book

Our target audience is a student taking his or her first, and perhaps only, finance
course. Some of these students will decide to major in finance and go on to take
courses in investments, money and capital markets, and advanced corporate
finance. Others will choose marketing, management, or some other nonfinance
business major. Still others will major in areas other than business and take fi-
nance plus a few other business courses to gain information that will help them
in law, real estate, or other fields.

Our challenge has been to provide a book that serves all of these audiences
well. We focus on the core principles of finance, including the basic topics of time
value of money, risk analysis, and valuation. In each case, we address these topics
from two points of view: (1) that of an investor who is seeking to make intelligent
investment choices and (2) that of a business manager trying to maximize the
value of his or her firm’s stock. Both investors and managers need to understand
the same set of principles, so the core topics are important to students regardless
of what they choose to do after they finish the course.

In planning the book’s structure, we first listed the core topics in finance
that are important to virtually everyone. Included were an overview of financial
markets, methods used to estimate the cash flows that determine asset values, the
time value of money, the determinants of interest rates, the basics of risk analysis,
and the basics of bond and stock valuation procedures. We cover these core topics
in the first nine chapters. Next, because most students in the course will probably
work for a business firm, we want to show them how the core ideas are imple-
mented in practice. Therefore, we go on to discuss cost of capital, capital budget-
ing, capital structure, dividend policy, working capital management, financial
forecasting, risk management, international operations, hybrids, and mergers and
acquisitions.

Non-finance majors sometimes wonder why they need to learn finance. As
we have structured the book, it quickly becomes obvious to everyone why they
need to understand time value, risk, markets, and valuation. Virtually all stu-
dents enrolled in the basic course expect at some point to have money to invest,
and they quickly realize that the knowledge gained from Chapters 1 through 9
will help them make better investment decisions. Moreover, students who plan

XXviii

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Preface xXxix

to go into the business world soon realize that their own success requires that
their firms be successful, and the topics covered in Chapters 10 through 21 will
be helpful here. For example, good capital budgeting decisions require accurate
forecasts from people in sales, marketing, production, and human resources, and
non-financial people need to understand how their actions affect the firm’s profits
and future performance.

Organization of the Chapters:
A Valuation Focus

As we discuss in Chapter 1, in an enterprise system such as that of the United
States, the primary goal of financial management is to maximize their firms’
values. At the same time, we stress that managers should not do “whatever it
takes” to increase the firm'’s stock price. Managers have a responsibility to behave
ethically, and when striving to maximize value, they must abide by constraints
such as not polluting the environment, not engaging in unfair labor practices, not
breaking the antitrust laws, and the like. In Chapter 1, we discuss the concept of
valuation, explain how it depends on future cash flows and risk, and show why
value maximization is good for society in general. This valuation theme runs
throughout the text.

Stock and bond values are determined in the financial markets, so an under-
standing of those markets is essential to anyone involved with finance. Therefore,
Chapter 2 covers the major types of financial markets, the rates of return that
investors have historically earned on different types of securities, and the risks
inherent in these securities. This information is important for anyone working in
finance, and it is also important for anyone who has or hopes to own any financial
assets. In this chapter, we also highlight how this environment has changed in the
aftermath of the financial crisis.

Asset values depend in a fundamental way on earnings and cash flows as
reported in the accounting statements. Therefore, we review those statements in
Chapter 3 and then, in Chapter 4, show how accounting data can be analyzed and
used to measure how well a company has operated in the past and how well it is
likely to perform in the future.

Chapter 5 covers the time value of money (TVM), perhaps the most funda-
mental concept in finance. The basic valuation model, which ties together cash
flows, risk, and interest rates, is based on TVM concepts, and these concepts are
used throughout the remainder of the book. Therefore, students should allocate
plenty of time to studying Chapter 5.

Chapter 6 deals with interest rates, a key determinant of asset values. We
discuss how interest rates are affected by risk, inflation, liquidity, the supply of
and demand for capital in the economy, and the actions of the Federal Reserve.
The discussion of interest rates leads directly to the topics of bonds in Chapter 7
and stocks in Chapters 8 and 9, where we show how these securities (and all other
financial assets) are valued using the basic TVM model.

The background material provided in Chapters 1 through 9 is essential to
both investors and corporate managers. These are finance topics, not business
or corporate finance topics as those terms are commonly used. Thus, Chapters 1
through 9 concentrate on the concepts and models used to establish values,
whereas Chapters 10 through 21 focus on specific actions managers can take to
maximize their firms’ values.

Because most business students don’t plan to specialize in finance, they might
think the business finance chapters are not particularly relevant to them. This is
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most decidedly not true, and in the later chapters we show that all really impor-
tant business decisions involve every one of a firm’s departments—marketing,
accounting, production, and so on. Thus, although a topic such as capital budget-
ing can be thought of as a financial issue, marketing people provide inputs on
likely unit sales and sales prices; manufacturing people provide inputs on costs;
and so on. Moreover, capital budgeting decisions influence the size of the firm, its
products, its profits, and its stock price, and those factors affect all of the firm’s
employees, from the CEO to the mail room staff.

Innovations for the Fifteenth Edition

A great deal has happened in the financial markets and corporate America since
the 14th edition was published. In this 15th edition, we have made several im-
portant changes to reflect this dynamic environment. Below, we provide a brief
summary of the more significant changes.

I. Today’s students are tomorrow’s business and government leaders, and it
is essential that they understand the key principles of finance, and the im-
portant role that financial markets and institutions have on our economy.
Since the last edition, a number of key events have significantly influenced
the financial markets and finance in general. Over the last few years, we
have witnessed continued sluggishness but steady improvement in the
world economy, a dramatic reduction in oil prices, the surprise election of
President Donald ]. Trump in November 2016, and continued unrest
overseas. At the same time, the Federal Reserve has begun to slowly increase
interest rates in the aftermath of its aggressive policy of quantitative easing
that had pushed interest rates to the lowest levels in years. We have also
witnessed between August 2014 and August 2017 the continued dramatic
run-up in the U.S. stock market to record-high levels. Throughout the
15th edition, we discuss these events and their implications for financial
markets and corporate managers, and we use these examples to illustrate
the importance of the key concepts covered in Fundamentals for investors,
businesses, and even government officials.

2. In the 15th edition, we also continue to highlight the important influences
of increased globalization and changing technology. These influences have
created new opportunities, but they have also generated new sources of
risk for individuals and businesses. Notably, since the last edition, we have
seen the phenomenal increase in the stock prices of the FANG (Facebook,
Amazon, Netflix, and Google’s parent Alphabet). We have also witnessed
the initial public offerings of Snapchat and Alibaba, the disrupting forces
of Uber and Airbnb, the continued rise of Bitcoin, and several high-
profile mergers.

3. Instructors and students continually impress upon us the importance of
having interesting and relevant real-world examples. Throughout the
15th edition we have added several new examples where recent events help
illustrate the key concepts covered in the text. We have added a number of
new boxes discussing chapter concepts impacting real-world companies,
such as Chapter 2: “Initial Buzz Surrounding IPOs Doesn’t Always Trans-
late into Long-Lasting Success;” Chapter 2: “Lower Fees Motivate Investors
to Move Toward Index Funds;” Chapter 3: “Congress Considers Significant
Changes to the Tax Code;” Chapter 4: “Household Debt Burdens Have
Declined in Recent Years;” Chapter 6: “European Banks Confront the Real-
ity of Negative Interest Rates;” Chapter 9: “Are ‘Smart Beta’ Funds a Smart

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.




Preface xXxxi

Idea?;” and Chapter 19: “Brexit Shakes Europe.” We have also expanded
and updated the many tables where we present real-world data, and we
have revised our Taking A Closer Look Problems. Finally, as is always the
case, we have made significant changes to many of the opening vignettes
that precede each chapter.

4. Behavioral finance theory continues to have an important influence on the
academic literature and it has in many ways reshaped the way that many
of us think about financial markets and corporate finance. In addition, we
continue to highlight the importance of securitization, the role of deriva-
tives, and the increasing importance of hedge funds, mutual funds, and
private equity firms.

5. We updated the tax discussion in Chapter 3 to reflect 2017 tax rates (in effect
when writing the text in the summer of 2017) for tax returns due April 15,
2018. Impacts of these changes are discussed throughout the text, especially
in the capital structure and dividend chapters. Finally, we have added a dis-
cussion on traditional and Roth IRAs.

6. In Chapter 3, we revised the definition of operating working capital. Fol-
lowing real-world practices and the increase in the number of companies
with extremely large cash holdings, we now exclude excess cash from our
calculation of operating current assets. In response to this change, we also
now allow for non-operating assets in our estimates of stock valuation in
Chapter 9.

7. To better reflect current market conditions, the interest rates in Section 8-4
(“The Relationship between Risk and Rates of Return”) and in Section 9-6
(“Valuing Nonconstant Growth Stocks”) have been lowered, so the accompa-
nying figures in those sections have been updated accordingly.

8. In Chapter 15, we added some current discussion on DRIPs for companies
comprising the Dow Jones Industrial Average. In addition, we updated the dis-
cussion regarding the current stock repurchasing activity.

9. We updated the exchange rate data in Chapter 19 to reflect what’s currently
going on in the world. All figures and text discussion have been updated accord-
ingly, including “Hungry for a Big Mac? Go to Hong Kong,” “Stock Market Indexes
Around the World,” “Measuring Country Risk;” and “Investing in International
Stocks” boxes.

10. Instructors and students have impressed upon us the importance of revis-
ing the end-of-chapter problems to facilitate the learning process. To this end,
we have revised approximately 50% of the end-of-chapter problems throughout the
text. In addition, we revised the Integrated Cases for Chapters 8 and 9 to reflect
lower returns currently existing in the market.

When revising the text, we always rely heavily on a team of reviewers who
offer suggestions for making the text more readable and relevant to students. We
give special thanks to these reviewers later in the preface; their comments and
recommendations certainly helped us improve this 15th edition.

Digital Solutions for the Fifteenth Edition

Changing technology and new ideas have had an exciting and dramatic influ-
ence on the ways we teach finance. Innovative instructors are developing and
utilizing different classroom strategies, and new technology has allowed us to
present key material in a more interesting and interactive fashion. As textbook
authors, we think these new developments are tremendously exciting, and we
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have worked closely with our publisher’s top team of innovative content and
media developers, who have created a whole new set of revolutionary prod-
ucts for the 15th edition.

MINDTAP™

MindTap™, Cengage Learning’s fully online, highly personalized learning expe-
rience combines readings, multimedia activities, and assessments into a singular
Learning Path. MindTap™ guides students through their course with ease and
engagement with a learning path that includes an Interactive Chapter Reading,
Problem Demonstrations, Blueprint Problems, Excel Online Problems, and the
Online Homework Assignment powered by Aplia. These homework problems
include rich explanations and instant grading, with opportunities to try another
algorithmic version of the problem to bolster confidence with problem solving.
Instructors can personalize the Learning Path for their students by customizing
the robust suite of the Fifteenth Edition resources and adding their own content
via apps that integrate into the MindTap™ framework seamlessly with Learning
Management Systems.

NEW! EXCEL ONLINE PROBLEMS

Microsoft Excel Online activities provide students with an opportunity to work
auto-gradable, algorithmic homework problems directly in their browser using
Excel Online. Students receive instant feedback on their Excel work, including “by
hand” calculations and a solution file containing a recommended way of solving
the problem. Students’ Excel work is saved in real-time in the cloud; is platform,
device, and browser independent; and is always accessible with their homework
without cumbersome file uploads and downloads. This unique integration rep-
resents a direct collaboration between Cengage and Microsoft to strengthen and
support the development of Microsoft Office education skills for success in the
workplace.

NEW! ATP

Adaptive Test Prep allows students to create practice quizzes covering mul-
tiple chapters in a lowstakes environment. Students receive immediate feed-
back so they know where they need additional help, and the test bank-like
questions prepare students for what to expect on the exam. With many ques-
tions offered per chapter, students can create multiple unique practice quizzes
within MindTap.

NEW! EXPLORING FINANCE

Exploring Finance offers instructors and students interactive visualizations that
engage with “lean forward” interactivity. Exploring Finance offers instructors
visual, interactive tools that they can use to help students “see” the financial con-
cept being presented directly within MindTap.

NEW! FINANCE IN ACTION

MindTap offers a series of Finance in Action analytical cases that assess students’
higher level of understanding, critical thinking and decision making.
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BLUEPRINT PROBLEMS

Written by the authors and located within MindTap™, Blueprints teach students
the fundamental finance concepts and their associated building blocks—going
beyond memorization. By going through the problems step by step, they reinforce
foundational concepts and allow students to demonstrate their understanding of
the problem-solving process and business impact of each topic. Blueprints include
rich feedback and explanations, providing students with an excellent learning
resource to solidify their understanding.

CONCEPTCLIPS

Embedded throughout the new interactive eReader, finance ConceptClips present
fundamental key topics to students in an entertaining and memorable way via
short animated video clips. Developed by Mike Brandl of The Ohio State Univer-
sity, these vocabulary animations provide students with a memorable auditory
and visual representation of the important terminology for the course.

PROBLEM WALK-THROUGHS

More than 100 Problem Walk-Through videos are embedded in the new in-
teractive MindTap eReader and online homework. Each video walks students
through solving a problem from start to finish, and students can play and
replay the tutorials as they work through homework assignments or prepare
for quizzes and tests, almost as though they had an instructor by their side the
whole time.

COGNERO™ TESTING SOFTWARE

Cengage Learning Testing Powered by Cognero™ is a flexible, online system
that allows you to author, edit, and manage test bank content from multiple
Cengage Learning solutions, create multiple test versions in an instant, and
deliver tests from your LMS, your classroom, or wherever you want. Revised
to reflect concepts covered in the Fifteenth Edition, the Cognero™ Test Bank
is tagged according to Tier I (AACSB Business Program Interdisciplinary
Learning Outcomes) and Tier II (Finance specific) topic, Bloom’s Taxonomy,
and difficulty level. In addition to these changes, we have also significantly
updated and improved our more traditional ancillary package, which includes
the Instructor’s Manual, Test Bank, Excel Chapter Models, Excel Chapter Inte-
grated Case Models, Excel Spreadsheet Problem Models, and PowerPoints for
Chapter Integrated Cases.
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Errors in the Textbook

At this point, most authors make a statement such as this: “We appreciate all
the help we received from the people listed above; but any remaining errors are,
of course, our own responsibility.” And generally there are more than enough
remaining errors! Having experienced difficulties with errors ourselves, both as
students and instructors, we resolved to avoid this problem in Fundamentals. As
a result of our detection procedures, we are convinced that few errors remain,
but primarily because we want to detect any errors that may have slipped by so
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that we can correct them in subsequent printings, we decided to offer a reward of
$10 to the first person who reports an error in the printed textbook or the corre-
sponding e-book. For the purpose of this reward, errors are defined as misspelled
words, nonrounding numerical errors, incorrect statements, and any other error
that inhibits comprehension. Typesetting problems such as irregular spacing and
differences of opinion regarding grammatical or punctuation conventions do not
qualify for this reward. Given the ever-changing nature of the World Wide Web,
changes in web addresses also do not qualify as errors, although we would like
to learn about them. Finally, any qualifying error that has follow-through effects
is counted as two errors only. Please report any errors to Joel Houston through
e-mail at bhfundamentals@gmail.com or by regular mail at the address below.

Conclusion

Finance is, in a real sense, the cornerstone of the enterprise system—good fi-
nancial management is vitally important to the economic health of all firms and
hence to the nation and the world. Because of its importance, finance should be
widely and thoroughly understood, but this is easier said than done. The field is
complex, and it undergoes constant change due to shifts in economic conditions.
All of this makes finance stimulating and exciting, but challenging and sometimes
perplexing. We sincerely hope that this 15th Edition of Fundamentals will meet its
own challenge by contributing to a better understanding of our financial system.

EUGENE E. BRIGHAM

JOEL F. HOUSTON
Warrington College of Business
University of Florida

P.O. Box 117168

Gainesville, FL 32611-7168

bhfundamentals@gmail.com

November 2017
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Striking the Right Balance

In 1776, Adam Smith described how an
“invisible hand” guides companies as they
strive for profits, and that hand leads them to
decisions that benefit society. Smith's insights
led him to conclude that profit maximization
is the right goal for a business and that the
free enterprise system is best for society. But
the world has changed since 1776. Firms today
are much larger, they operate globally, they
have thousands of employees, and they are
owned by millions of stockholders. This makes
us wonder if the “invisible hand” still provides
reliable guidance: Should companies still try to
maximize profits, or should they take a broader
view and more balanced actions designed to
benefit customers, employees, suppliers, and
society as a whole?

Many academics and finance professionals
today subscribe to the following modified ver-
sion of Adam Smith’s theory:

An Overview of Financial Management

Philip Lange/Shutterstock.com

« A firm's principal financial goal should be
to maximize the wealth of its stockholders,
which means maximizing the value of its
stock.

« Free enterprise is still the best economic
system for society as a whole. Under the free
enterprise framework, companies develop
products and services that people want and
that benefit society.

«  However, some constraints are needed—firms
should not be allowed to pollute the air and
water, to engage in unfair employment prac-
tices, or to create monopolies that exploit
consumers.

These constraints take a number of dif-
ferent forms. The first set of constraints is the
costs that are assessed on companies if they
take actions that harm society. Another set of
constraints arises through the political process,
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where society imposes a wide range of regulations that are
designed to keep companies from engaging in practices that
are harmful to society. Properly imposed, these costs fairly
transfer value to suffering parties and help create incentives
that help prevent similar events from occurring in the future.

The recent financial crisis dramatically illustrates these
points. We witnessed many Wall Street firms engaging in
extremely risky activities that pushed the financial system to
the brink of collapse in 2007 and 2008. Saving the financial sys-
tem required a bailout of the banks and other financial com-
panies, and that bailout imposed huge costs on taxpayers and
helped push the economy into a deep recession. Apart from
the huge costs imposed on society, the financial firms also
paid a heavy price—a number of leading financial institutions
saw a huge drop in their stock price, some failed and went out
of business, and many Wall Street executives lost their jobs.

Arguably, these costs are not enough to prevent
another financial crisis from occurring. Many maintain that
the events surrounding the financial crisis illustrate that
markets don't always work the way they should and that
there is a need for stronger regulation of the financial sec-
tor. For example, in his recent books, Nobel Laureate Joseph
Stiglitz makes a strong case for enhanced regulation. At
the same time, others with a different political persuasion
continue to express concerns about the costs of excessive
regulation.

Beyond the financial crisis, there is a broader question of
whether laws and regulations are enough to compel firms to
act in society’s interest. An increasing number of companies
continue to recognize the need to maximize shareholder
value, but they also see their mission as more than just making
money for shareholders. Google's parent company Alphabet’s
motto is “Do the right thing—follow the law, act honorably,
and treat each other with respect” Consistent with this mis-
sion, the company has its own in-house foundation that each
year makes large investments in a wide range of philanthropic
ventures worldwide.

Microsoft is another good example of a company that
has earned a well-developed reputation for taking steps to
be socially responsible. On its corporate blog, the company

Chapter 1 An Overview of Financial Management 3

recently released its 2016 Corporate Social Responsibility
Report. In this report, Microsoft highlighted its broader
mission:

At Microsoft, our mission is to empower every person and
every organization on the planet to achieve more.

We care deeply about how we achieve that mission and
our lasting impact on the world. Across the company, we
are working to apply the power of technology to ensure
corporate responsibility, safeguard human rights and protect
our planet. This commitment is central to why many of our
employees come to work every day, and it impacts the type of
products and services we develop.

For nearly the past two decades, Microsoft's co-founder
Bill Gates and his wife, Melinda Gates, have also dedicated the
bulk of their time, money, and energy to the Bill & Melinda
Gates Foundation, which has made notable investments
aimed at attacking some of society’s toughest problems on
a global level. In its recent annual report, the Foundation
reports an endowment of nearly $40 billion and indicates
that it had made $36.7 billion in grant payments through the
end of 2015. The Foundation has also attracted a well-known
benefactor in Warren Buffett, who announced in 2006 that he
was going to give a significant portion of his fortune to the
Gates Foundation. To date, Buffett has already contributed
more than $17 billion, and he has pledged considerably more
over time.

While many companies and individuals have taken
very significant steps to demonstrate their commitments to
being socially responsible, corporate managers frequently
face a tough balancing act. Realistically, there will still be
cases where companies face conflicts between their various
constituencies—for example, a company may enhance share-
holder value by laying off some workers, or a change in policy
may improve the environment but reduce shareholder value.
In these instances, managers have to balance these compet-
ing interests and different managers will clearly make different
choices. At the end of the day, all companies struggle to find
the right balance. Enlightened managers recognize that there
is more to life than money, but it often takes money to do
good things.

Sources: Kevin J. Delaney, “Google: From ‘Don’t Be Evil’ to How to Do Good,” The Wall Street Journal, January 18, 2008, pp. B1-B2; Joseph E.
Stiglitz, FreeFall: America, Free Markets, and the Sinking of the World Economy (New York: W.W. Norton, 2010); Joseph E. Stiglitz, The Price of Inequality
(New York: W.W. Norton, 2012); “Microsoft Releases 2016 Corporate Social Responsibility Report,” blogs.microsoft.com/blog/2016/10/18/,
October 18, 2016; and “Gates Foundation Fact Sheet,” www.gatesfoundation.org/Who-We-Are/General-Information /Foundation-Factsheet.
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Part 1 Introduction to Financial Management

’}V\
l‘ PUTTING THINGS IN PERSPECTIVE

This chapter will give you an idea of what financial management is all about. We
begin the chapter by describing how finance is related to the overall business envi-
ronment, by pointing out that finance prepares students for jobs in different fields
of business, and by discussing the different forms of business organization. For
corporations, management’s goal should be to maximize shareholder wealth, which
means maximizing the value of the stock. When we say “maximizing the value of the
stock,” we mean the “true, long-run value,” which may be different from the current
stock price. In the chapter, we discuss how firms must provide the right incentives
for managers to focus on long-run value maximization. Good managers understand
the importance of ethics, and they recognize that maximizing long-run value is con-
sistent with being socially responsible.
When you finish this chapter, you should be able to do the following:

- Explain the role of finance and the different types of jobs in finance.

- Identify the advantages and disadvantages of different forms of business
organization.

- Explain the links between stock price, intrinsic value, and executive compensation.

« ldentify the potential conflicts that arise within the firm between stockholders
and managers and between stockholders and bondholders, and discuss the
techniques that firms can use to mitigate these potential conflicts.

- Discuss the importance of business ethics and the consequences of unethical
behavior.

1-1 What Is Finance?

Finance is defined by Webster’s Dictionary as “the system that includes the circula-
tion of money, the granting of credit, the making of investments, and the provision
of banking facilities.” Finance has many facets, which makes it difficult to provide
one concise definition. The discussion in this section will give you an idea of what
finance professionals do and what you might do if you enter the finance field after
you graduate.

1-1A AREAS OF FINANCE

Finance as taught in universities is generally divided into three areas: (1) financial
management, (2) capital markets, and (3) investments.

Financial management, also called corporate finance, focuses on decisions relat-
ing to how much and what types of assets to acquire, how to raise the capital
needed to purchase assets, and how to run the firm so as to maximize its value.
The same principles apply to both for-profit and not-for-profit organizations, and
as the title suggests, much of this book is concerned with financial management.

Capital markets relate to the markets where interest rates, along with stock
and bond prices, are determined. Also studied here are the financial institu-
tions that supply capital to businesses. Banks, investment banks, stockbrokers,
mutual funds, insurance companies, and the like bring together “savers” who
have money to invest and businesses, individuals, and other entities that need
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capital for various purposes. Governmental organizations such as the Federal
Reserve System, which regulates banks and controls the supply of money, and the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), which regulates the trading of stocks
and bonds in public markets, are also studied as part of capital markets.

Investments relate to decisions concerning stocks and bonds and include a
number of activities: (1) Security analysis deals with finding the proper values of
individual securities (i.e., stocks and bonds). (2) Portfolio theory deals with the best
way to structure portfolios, or “baskets,” of stocks and bonds. Rational investors
want to hold diversified portfolios in order to limit risks, so choosing a properly
balanced portfolio is an important issue for any investor. (3) Market analysis deals
with the issue of whether stock and bond markets at any given time are “too
high,” “too low,” or “about right.” Included in market analysis is behavioral finance,
where investor psychology is examined in an effort to determine whether stock
prices have been bid up to unreasonable heights in a speculative bubble or driven
down to unreasonable lows in a fit of irrational pessimism.

Although we separate these three areas, they are closely interconnected.
Banking is studied under capital markets, but a bank lending officer evaluating a
business” loan request must understand corporate finance to make a sound deci-
sion. Similarly, a corporate treasurer negotiating with a banker must understand
banking if the treasurer is to borrow on “reasonable” terms. Moreover, a security
analyst trying to determine a stock’s true value must understand corporate finance
and capital markets to do his or her job. In addition, financial decisions of all types
depend on the level of interest rates; so all people in corporate finance, investments,
and banking must know something about interest rates and the way they are deter-
mined. Because of these interdependencies, we cover all three areas in this book.

1-1B FINANCE WITHIN AN ORGANIZATION

Most businesses and not-for-profit organizations have an organization chart
similar to the one shown in Figure 1.1. The board of directors is the top governing
body, and the chairperson of the board is generally the highest-ranking individual.
The CEO comes next, but note that the chairperson of the board often also serves
as the CEO. Below the CEO comes the chief operating officer (COO), who is often
also designated as a firm’s president. The COO directs the firm’s operations,
which include marketing, manufacturing, sales, and other operating departments.
The chief financial officer (CFO), who is generally a senior vice president and the
third-ranking officer, is in charge of accounting, finance, credit policy, decisions
regarding asset acquisitions, and investor relations, which involves communica-
tions with stockholders and the press.

If the firm is publicly owned, the CEO and the CFO must both certify to the
SEC that reports released to stockholders, and especially the annual report, are
accurate. If inaccuracies later emerge, the CEO and the CFO could be fined or
even jailed. This requirement was instituted in 2002 as a part of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act. The act was passed by Congress in the wake of a series of corporate
scandals involving now-defunct companies such as Enron and WorldCom, where
investors, workers, and suppliers lost billions of dollars due to false information
released by those companies.

1-1C FINANCE VERSUS ECONOMICS AND ACCOUNTING

Finance, as we know it today, grew out of economics and accounting. Economists
developed the notion that an asset’s value is based on the future cash flows the
asset will provide, and accountants provided information regarding the likely size
of those cash flows. People who work in finance need knowledge of both eco-
nomics and accounting. Figure 1.1 illustrates that in the modern corporation, the

The duties of the CFO have
broadened over the years.
CFO magatzine’s online
service, cfo.com, is an excel-
lent source of timely finance
articles intended to help

the CFO manage those new
responsibilities.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act
A law passed by
Congress that requires
the CEO and CFO to
certify that their firm’s
financial statements are
accurate.
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SelfTest

m Finance within the Organization

| Board of Directors

Y
| Chief Executive Officer (CEO) |

Chief Operating Officer (COO) | | Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
Y Y
Marketing, Production, Human Accounting, Treasury, Credit,
Resources, and Other Operating Legal, Capital Budgeting,
Departments and Investor Relations

accounting department typically falls under the control of the CFO. This further
illustrates the link among finance, economics, and accounting.

To find information about
different finance careers, go
to allbusinessschools.com/
business-careers/finance/
job-description. This website
provides information about
different finance areas.

What three areas of finance does this book cover? Are these areas independent of
one another, or are they interrelated in the sense that someone working in one area
should know something about each of the other areas? Explain.

Who is the CFO, and where does this individual fit into the corporate hierarchy? What
are some of his or her responsibilities?

Does it make sense for not-for-profit organizations such as hospitals and universities
to have CFOs? Why or why not?

What is the relationship among economics, finance, and accounting?

1-2 Jobs in Finance

Finance prepares students for jobs in banking, investments, insurance, corpora-
tions, and government. Accounting students need to know marketing, manage-
ment, and human resources; they also need to understand finance, for it affects
decisions in all those areas. For example, marketing people propose advertising
programs, but those programs are examined by finance people to judge the effects
of the advertising on the firm’s profitability. So to be effective in marketing, one
needs to have a basic knowledge of finance. The same holds for management—
indeed, most important management decisions are evaluated in terms of their
effects on the firm’s value.

It is also worth noting that finance is important to individuals regardless of
their jobs. Some years ago most employees received pensions from their employ-
ers upon retirement, so managing one’s personal investments was not critically
important. That’s no longer true. Most firms today provide “defined contribu-
tion” pension plans, where each year the company puts a specified amount of
money into an account that belongs to the employee. The employee must decide
how those funds are to be invested—how much should be divided among stocks,
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bonds, or money funds—and how much risk they’re willing to take with their
stock and bond investments. These decisions have a major effect on people’s lives,
and the concepts covered in this book can improve decision-making skills.

1-3 Forms of Business Organization

The basics of financial management are the same for all businesses, large or small,
regardless of how they are organized. Still, a firm’s legal structure affects its
operations and thus should be recognized. There are four main forms of business
organizations: (1) proprietorships, (2) partnerships, (3) corporations, and (4) lim-
ited liability companies (LLCs) and limited liability partnerships (LLPs). In terms
of numbers, most businesses are proprietorships. However, based on the dollar
value of sales, more than 80% of all business is done by corporations.' Because
corporations conduct the most business and because most successful businesses
eventually convert to corporations, we focus on them in this book. Still, it is
important to understand the legal differences between types of firms.

A proprietorship is an unincorporated business owned by one individual. Going
into business as a sole proprietor is easy—a person begins business operations.
Proprietorships have three important advantages: (1) They are easy and inexpensive
to form. (2) They are subject to few government regulations. (3) They are subject to
lower income taxes than are corporations. However, proprietorships also have three
important limitations: (1) Proprietors have unlimited personal liability for the busi-
ness’ debts, so they can lose more than the amount of money they invested in the
company. You might invest $10,000 to start a business but be sued for $1 million if,
during company time, one of your employees runs over someone with a car. (2) The
life of the business is limited to the life of the individual who created it, and to bring
in new equity, investors require a change in the structure of the business. (3) Because
of the first two points, proprietorships have difficulty obtaining large sums of capital;
hence, proprietorships are used primarily for small businesses. However, businesses
are frequently started as proprietorships and then converted to corporations when
their growth results in the disadvantages outweighing the advantages.

A partnership is a legal arrangement between two or more people who
decide to do business together. Partnerships are similar to proprietorships in that
they can be established relatively easily and inexpensively. Moreover, the firm'’s
income is allocated on a pro rata basis to the partners and is taxed on an indi-
vidual basis. This allows the firm to avoid the corporate income tax. However, all
of the partners are generally subject to unlimited personal liability, which means
that if a partnership goes bankrupt and any partner is unable to meet his or her
pro rata share of the firm’s liabilities, the remaining partners will be responsible
for making good on the unsatisfied claims. Thus, the actions of a Texas partner
can bring ruin to a millionaire New York partner who had nothing to do with the
actions that led to the downfall of the company. Unlimited liability makes it dif-
ficult for partnerships to raise large amounts of capital.?

'Refer to ProQuest Statistical Abstract of the United States: 2017 Online Edition, Table 768: Number of
Tax Returns, Receipts, and Net Income by Type of Business: 1990 to 2013.

*Originally, there were just straightforward partnerships, but over the years lawyers have created a
number of variations. We leave the variations to courses on business law, but we note that the varia-
tions are generally designed to limit the liabilities of some of the partners. For example, a limited part-
nership has a general partner, who has unlimited liability, and one or more limited partners, whose
liability is limited to the amount of their investment. This sounds great from the standpoint of limited
liability, but the limited partners must cede sole control to the general partner, which means that they
have almost no say in the way the firm is managed. With a corporation, the owners (stockholders) have
limited liability, but they also have the right to vote and thus change management if they think that a
change is in order. Note too that LLCs and LLPs, discussed later in this section, are increasingly used
in lieu of partnerships.
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efinancialcareers.com pro-
vides finance career news and
advice including information
on who’s hiring in finance and
accounting fields.

Proprietorship
An unincorporated
business owned by
one individual.

Partnership

An unincorporated
business owned by two
or more persons.
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Corporation

A legal entity created

by a state, separate and
distinct from its owners
and managers, having
unlimited life, easy trans-
ferability of ownership,
and limited liability.

S Corporations

A special designation that
allows small businesses
that meet qualifications
to be taxed as if they
were a proprietorship or
a partnership rather than
a corporation.

Limited Liability
Company (LLC)

A popular type of orga-
nization that is a hybrid
between a partnership
and a corporation.
Limited Liability
Partnership (LLP)
Similar to an LLC but
used for professional
firms in the fields of
accounting, law, and
architecture. It provides
personal asset protection
from business debts and
liabilities but is taxed as a
partnership.

A corporation is a legal entity created by a state, and it is separate and dis-
tinct from its owners and managers. It is this separation that limits stockholders’
losses to the amount they invested in the firm—the corporation can lose all of its
money, but its owners can lose only the funds that they invested in the company.
Corporations also have unlimited lives, and it is easier to transfer shares of stock
in a corporation than one’s interest in an unincorporated business. These factors
make it much easier for corporations to raise the capital necessary to operate large
businesses. Thus, companies such as Hewlett-Packard and Microsoft generally
begin as proprietorships or partnerships, but at some point they find it advanta-
geous to become a corporation.

A major drawback to corporations is taxes. Most corporations’ earnings are
subject to double taxation—the corporation’s earnings are taxed, and then when
its after-tax earnings are paid out as dividends, those earnings are taxed again
as personal income to the stockholders. However, as an aid to small businesses,
Congress created S corporations, which are taxed as if they were proprietorships
or partnerships; thus, they are exempt from the corporate income tax. To qualify
for S corporation status, a firm can have no more than 100 stockholders, which
limits their use to relatively small, privately owned firms. Larger corporations are
known as C corporations. The vast majority of small corporations elect S status and
retain that status until they decide to sell stock to the public, at which time they
become C corporations.

A limited liability company (LLC) is a popular type of organization
that is a hybrid between a partnership and a corporation. A limited liability
partnership (LLP) is similar to an LLC. LLPs are used for professional firms
in the fields of accounting, law, and architecture, while LLCs are used by other
businesses. Similar to corporations, LLCs and LLPs provide limited liability
protection, but they are taxed as partnerships. Further, unlike limited partner-
ships, where the general partner has full control of the business, the investors
in an LLC or LLP have votes in proportion to their ownership interest. LLCs
and LLPs have been gaining in popularity in recent years, but large companies
still find it advantageous to be C corporations because of the advantages in
raising capital to support growth. LLCs/LLPs were dreamed up by lawyers;
they are often structured in very complicated ways, and their legal protections
often vary by state. So, it is necessary to hire a good lawyer when establishing
one.

When deciding on its form of organization, a firm must trade off the
advantages of incorporation against a possibly higher tax burden. However,
for the following reasons, the value of any business other than a relatively
small one will probably be maximized if it is organized as a corporation:

I. Limited liability reduces the risks borne by investors, and, other things held
constant, the lower the firm's risk, the higher its value.

2. Afirm’s value is dependent on its growth opportunities, which are depen-
dent on its ability to attract capital. Because corporations can attract capi-
tal more easily than other types of businesses, they are better able to take
advantage of growth opportunities.

3. The value of an asset also depends on its liquidity, which means the time
and effort it takes to sell the asset for cash at a fair market value. Because
the stock of a corporation is easier to transfer to a potential buyer than is an
interest in a proprietorship or partnership, and because more investors are
willing to invest in stocks than in partnerships (with their potential unlim-
ited liability), a corporate investment is relatively liquid. This too enhances
the value of a corporation.
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SelfTest

What are the key differences among proprietorships, partnerships, and corporations?
O How are LLCs and LLPs related to the other forms of organization?

What is an S corporation, and what is its advantage over a C corporation? Why don't
firms such as IBM, GE, and Microsoft choose S corporation status?

What are some reasons why the value of a business other than a small one is gener-
ally maximized when it is organized as a corporation?

Suppose you are relatively wealthy and are looking for a potential investment. You
do not plan to be active in the business. Would you be more interested in investing
in a partnership or in a corporation? Why?

1-4 The Main Financial Goal: Creating Value
for Investors

In public corporations, managers and employees work on behalf of the shareholders
who own the business, and therefore they have an obligation to pursue policies that
promote stockholder value. While many companies focus on maximizing a broad
range of financial objectives, such as growth, earnings per share, and market share,
these goals should not take precedence over the main financial goal, which is to cre-
ate value for investors. Keep in mind that a company’s stockholders are not just an
abstract group—they represent individuals and organizations who have chosen to
invest their hard-earned cash into the company and who are looking for a return on
their investment in order to meet their long-term financial goals, which might be sav-
ing for retirement, a new home, or a child’s education. In addition to financial goals,
the firm also has nonfinancial goals, which we will discuss in Section 1-7.

If a manager is to maximize stockholder wealth, he or she must know how
that wealth is determined. Throughout this book, we shall see that the value of
any asset is the present value of the stream of cash flows that the asset provides
to its owners over time. We discuss stock valuation in depth in Chapter 9, where
we see that stock prices are based on cash flows expected in future years, not just
in the current year. Thus, stock price maximization requires us to take a long-run
view of operations. At the same time, managerial actions that affect a company’s
value may not immediately be reflected in the company’s stock price.

1-4A DETERMINANTS OF VALUE

Figure 1.2 illustrates the situation. The top box indicates that managerial actions,
combined with the economy, taxes, and political conditions, influence the level
and riskiness of the company’s future cash flows, which ultimately determine the
company’s stock price. As you might expect, investors like higher expected cash
flows, but they dislike risk; so the larger the expected cash flows and the lower the
perceived risk, the higher the stock’s price.

The second row of boxes differentiates what we call “true” expected cash flows
and “true” risk from “perceived” cash flows and “perceived” risk. By “true,” we
mean the cash flows and risk that investors would expect if they had all of the infor-
mation that existed about a company. “Perceived” means what investors expect,
given the limited information they have. To illustrate, in early 2001, investors had
information that caused them to think Enron was highly profitable and would
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Intrinsic Value

An estimate of a stock'’s
“true” value based on
accurate risk and return
data. The intrinsic value
can be estimated, but
not measured precisely.

Market Price

The stock value based on
perceived but possibly
incorrect information

as seen by the marginal
investor.

Marginal Investor

An investor whose views
determine the actual
stock price.
Equilibrium

The situation in which
the actual market price
equals the intrinsic value,
so investors are indiffer-
ent between buying and
selling a stock.

Managerial Actions, the Economic
Environment, Taxes, and the Political Climate

ANRN

Determinants of Intrinsic Values and Stock Prices

“True” Investor “True” “Perceived” Investor “Perceived”
Cash Flows Risk Cash Flows Risk
Stock’s Stock’s
Intrinsic Value Market Price

N

Market Equilibrium:
Intrinsic Value = Stock Price

enjoy high and rising future profits. They also thought that actual results would be
close to the expected levels and hence that Enron’s risk was low. However, true esti-
mates of Enron’s profits, which were known by its executives, but not the investing
public, were much lower; Enron’s true situation was extremely risky.

The third row of boxes shows that each stock has an intrinsic value, which is an
estimate of the stock’s “true” value as calculated by a competent analyst who has the
best available data, and a market price, which is the actual market price based on
perceived but possibly incorrect information as seen by the marginal investor.> Not
all investors agree, so it is the “marginal” investor who determines the actual price.

When a stock’s actual market price is equal to its intrinsic value, the stock is in
equilibrium, which is shown in the bottom box in Figure 1.2. When equilibrium
exists, there is no pressure for a change in the stock’s price. Market prices can—
and do—differ from intrinsic values; eventually, however, as the future unfolds,
the two values tend to converge.

1-4B INTRINSIC VALUE

Actual stock prices are easy to determine—they can be found on the Internet and
are published in newspapers every day. However, intrinsic values are estimates,
and different analysts with different data and different views about the future
form different estimates of a stock’s intrinsic value. Indeed, estimating intrinsic
values is what security analysis is all about and is what distinguishes successful from
unsuccessful investors. Investing would be easy, profitable, and essentially riskless
if we knew all stocks’ intrinsic values—but, of course, we don’t. We can estimate

’Investors at the margin are the ones who actually set stock prices. Some stockholders think that a
stock at its current price is a good deal, and they would buy more if they had more money. Others
think that the stock is priced too high, so they would not buy it unless the price dropped sharply. Still
others think that the current stock price is about where it should be; so they would buy more if the
price fell slightly, sell it if the price rose slightly, and maintain their current holdings unless something
were to change. These are the marginal investors, and it is their view that determines the current stock
price. We discuss this point in more depth in Chapter 9, where we discuss the stock market in detail.

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Chapter 1 An Overview of Financial Management

m Graph of Actual Prices versus Intrinsic Values

Stock Price and
Intrinsic Value ($)

Stock
Overvalued

Actual Stock

Intrinsic
Value
Undervalued R&D
Breakthrough
| | | | |
1 6 11 16 21 26

intrinsic values, but we can’t be sure that we are right. A firm’s managers have
the best information about the firm’s future prospects, so managers’” estimates
of intrinsic values are generally better than those of outside investors. However,
even managers can be wrong.

Figure 1.3 graphs a hypothetical company’s actual price and intrinsic value
as estimated by its management over time.* The intrinsic value rises because the
firm retains and reinvests earnings each year, which tends to increase profits. The
value jumped dramatically in Year 20, when a research and development (R&D)
breakthrough raised management’s estimate of future profits before investors
had this information. The actual stock price tended to move up and down with
the estimated intrinsic value, but investor optimism and pessimism, along with
imperfect knowledge about the true intrinsic value, led to deviations between the
actual prices and intrinsic values.

Intrinsic value is a long-run concept. Management’s goal should be to take
actions designed to maximize the firm’s intrinsic value, not its current market price.
Note, though, that maximizing the intrinsic value will maximize the average price
over the long run, but not necessarily the current price at each point in time. For
example, management might make an investment that lowers profits for the cur-
rent year but raises expected future profits. If investors are not aware of the true
situation, the stock price will be held down by the low current profit even though
the intrinsic value was actually raised. Management should provide information
that helps investors make better estimates of the firm’s intrinsic value, which will
keep the stock price closer to its equilibrium level. However, there are times when

*We emphasize that the intrinsic value is an estimate and that different analysts have different esti-
mates for a company at any given time. Managers should also estimate their firm’s intrinsic value
and then take actions to maximize that value. They should try to help outside security analysts
improve their intrinsic value estimates by providing accurate information about the company’s
financial position and operations, but without releasing information that would help its competitors.
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management cannot divulge the true situation because doing so would provide
information that helps its competitors.’

1-4C CONSEQUENCES OF HAVING A SHORT-RUN FOCUS

Ideally, managers adhere to this long-run focus, but there are numerous
examples in recent years where the focus for many companies shifted to the
short run. Perhaps most notably, prior to the recent financial crisis, many Wall
Street executives received huge bonuses for engaging in risky transactions that
generated short-term profits. Subsequently, the value of these transactions col-
lapsed, causing many of these Wall Street firms to seek a massive government
bailout.

Apart from the recent problems on Wall Street, there have been other examples
where managers have focused on short-run profits to the detriment of long-term
value. For example, Wells Fargo implemented incentives to reward employees for
signing up customers to new accounts. Unfortunately, to obtain bonuses some
employees created fake accounts or signed up customers for unauthorized credit
cards. This led to the firing of thousands of employees, as well as its CEO and
other senior managers, and millions of dollars in fines for Wells Fargo. With these
types of concerns in mind, many academics and practitioners stress the need for

Corporate boards and directors to establish effective procedures for corporate governance.
Governance This involves putting in place a set of rules and practices to ensure that managers
Establishment of rules act in shareholders’ interests while also balancing the needs of other key con-

and practices by Board of  stityencies such as customers, employees, and affected citizens. Having a strong,

Directors to ensure that 3, jependent board of directors is viewed as an important component of strong

managers act in share-

holders’ interests while governance. . .

balancing the needs of Effective governance requires holding managers accogntable for poor perfor-

other key constituencies, ~ Mance and understanding the important role that executive compensation plays
in encouraging managers to focus on the proper objectives. For example, if a
manager’s bonus is tied solely to this year’s earnings, it would not be a surprise
to discover that the manager took steps to pump up current earnings—even if
those steps were detrimental to the firm’s long-run value. With these concerns
in mind, a growing number of companies have used stock and stock options as
a key part of executive pay. The intent of structuring compensation in this way is
for managers to think more like stockholders and to continually work to increase
shareholder value.

Despite the best of intentions, stock-based compensation does not always
work as planned. To give managers an incentive to focus on stock prices, stock-
holders (acting through boards of directors) awarded executives stock options
that could be exercised on a specified future date. An executive could exercise the
option on that date, receive stock, immediately sell it, and earn a profit. The profit
was based on the stock price on the option exercise date, which led some manag-
ers to try to maximize the stock price on that specific date, not over the long run.
That, in turn, led to some horrible abuses. Projects that looked good from a long-
run perspective were turned down because they would penalize profits in the
short run and thus lower the stock price on the option exercise day. Even worse,
some managers deliberately overstated profits, temporarily boosted the stock
price, exercised their options, sold the inflated stock, and left outside stockholders
“holding the bag” when the true situation was revealed.

°As we discuss in Chapter 2, many academics believe that stock prices embody all publicly avail-
able information—hence, that stock prices are typically reasonably close to their intrinsic values
and thus at or close to equilibrium. However, almost no one doubts that managers have better
information than the public at large, that at times stock prices and equilibrium values diverge, and
thus that stocks can be temporarily undervalued or overvalued (as we suggest in Figure 1.3).
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SelfTest
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vV

What's the difference between a stock’s current market price and its intrinsic value?

Do stocks have known and “provable” intrinsic values, or might different people
reach different conclusions about intrinsic values? Explain.

Should managers estimate intrinsic values or leave that to outside security analysts?
Explain.

If a firm could maximize either its current market price or its intrinsic value, what
would stockholders (as a group) want managers to do? Explain.

Should a firm's managers help investors improve their estimates of the firm'’s intrinsic

value? Explain.

1-5 Stockholder—Manager Conflicts®

It has long been recognized that managers’ personal goals may compete with
shareholder wealth maximization. In particular, managers might be more inter-
ested in maximizing their own wealth than their stockholders” wealth; therefore,
managers might pay themselves excessive salaries.

Effective executive compensation plans motivate managers to act in their
stockholders’ best interests. Useful motivational tools include (1) reasonable com-
pensation packages, (2) firing of managers who don’t perform well, and (3) the
threat of hostile takeovers.

1-5A COMPENSATION PACKAGES

Compensation packages should be sufficient to attract and retain able managers, but
they should not go beyond what is needed. Compensation policies need to be con-
sistent over time. Also, compensation should be structured so that managers are
rewarded on the basis of the stock’s performance over the long run, not the stock’s
price on an option exercise date. This means that options (or direct stock awards)
should be phased in over a number of years so that managers have an incentive
to keep the stock price high over time. When the intrinsic value can be measured
in an objective and verifiable manner, performance pay can be based on changes
in intrinsic value. However, because intrinsic value is not observable, compensa-
tion must be based on the stock’s market price—but the price used should be an
average over time rather than on a specific date.

1-5B DIRECT STOCKHOLDER INTERVENTION

Years ago most stock was owned by individuals. Today, however, the majority of
stock is owned by institutional investors such as insurance companies, pension
funds, hedge funds, and mutual funds, and private equity groups are ready and
able to step in and take over underperforming firms. These institutional money
managers have the clout to exercise considerable influence over firms’ operations.
Given their importance, they have access to managers and can make suggestions
about how the business should be run. In effect, institutional investors such as
CalPERS (California Public Employees” Retirement System, with $300 billion of

Conflicts between stockholders and managers, which are discussed in this section, and conflicts
between stockholders and debtholders, which are discussed in the next section, are studied under
the heading of “agency theory” in finance literature. The classic work on agency theory is Michael
C. Jensen and William H. Meckling, “Theory of the Firm, Managerial Behavior, Agency Costs, and
Ownership Structure,” Journal of Financial Economics, vol. 3, no. 4 (October 1976), pp. 305-360.
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A recent Wall Street Journal analysis of 115 S&P 500 companies,
found that the median CEO received $11.5 million in total
compensation (which includes salaries, bonuses, and long-
term incentives such as stock options) in 2016. Compared to
2015, total CEO compensation for these executives rose 6.8%,
reflecting strong corporate performances and stock market
gains in 2016. During this same year, corporate profits in this
sample rose nearly 17%, while the average worker’s pay was
up roughly 2.5%. It is interesting to note that while median CEO
pay has risen, executive cash bonuses have fallen 1.4%, but
stock awards have risen 7.4% and option awards have risen 3%.
Media scrutiny and investor concerns about excessive
compensation have led some companies to limit the com-
pensation paid to their top executives. A further concern is
the“Say on Pay” provisions in the 2010 Dodd-Frank Act, which
give shareholders an ability to vote on whether they approve
of the CEO’s compensation package. While these votes are
nonbinding, they have put pressure on firms who want to
avoid the negative publicity surrounding a shareholder vote
to reject the pay plan. Because of these provisions, a substan-
tial part of a CEO’s pay is now tied to performance. Indeed, it’s
interesting to note that a typical CEO pay package consists of
32% cash, 60% stock and options, 2% perks, and 6% toward
pensions and other forms of deferred compensation.
Average compensation levels are significantly higher
than they were a decade or two ago. The large shifts in CEO
compensation over time can often be attributed to the
increased importance of stock options.” On the plus side,

stock options provide CEOs with a powerful incentive to raise
their companies’ stock prices. Indeed, most observers believe
there is a strong causal relationship between CEO compensa-
tion procedures and stock price performance.

Other critics argue that although performance incentives
are entirely appropriate as a method of compensation, the
overall level of CEO compensation is just too high. The critics ask
such questions as these: Would these CEOs have been unwill-
ing to take their jobs if they had been offered only half as many
stock options? Would they have put forth less effort, and would
their firms’ stock prices have not increased as much? It is hard to
say. Other critics lament that the exercise of stock options has
dramatically increased the compensation of not only truly excel-
lent CEOs, but it has also dramatically increased the compensa-
tion of some pretty average CEOs, who were lucky enough to
have had the job during a stock market boom that raised the
stock prices of even poor-performing companies. In addition,
huge CEO salaries are widening the gap between top executives
and middle management salaries leading to employee discon-
tent and declining employee morale and loyalty.

As the current survey indicates, the shift to better align
CEO pay with corporate performance is modest. Stock returns
and corporate financial results are only two factors impacting
CEO pay. The correlation between executive compensation
and firm performance is not always strong. Other factors that
influence CEO pay are the size of the firm (larger companies
pay their CEOs more) and the type of industry (energy com-
panies pay their CEOs more).

Sources: Louis Lavelle, Frederick F. Jespersen, and Michael Arndt, “Executive Pay,” BusinessWeek, April 15, 2002, pp. 80-86; Jason Zweig, “A

Chance to Veto a CEO’s Bonus,” The Wall Street Journal (www.wsj.com), January 29, 2011; Emily Chasan, “Early Say-On-Pay Results Show Rising
Support, Few Failures,’ The Wall Street Journal (www.wsj.com), April 2, 2014; and Theo Francis and Joann S. Lublin, “CEO Pay Climbs with the
Market,” The Wall Street Journal (www.wsj.com), March 20, 2017, pp. B1-B2.

assets) and TIAA-CREF (Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association-College
Retirement Equities Fund, a retirement plan originally set up for professors at
private colleges that now has more than $600 billion of assets) act as lobbyists for
the body of stockholders. When such large stockholders speak, companies listen.
For example, Coca-Cola Co. revised its compensation package after hearing nega-
tive feedback from its largest stockholder, Warren Buffett.?

’Over the past few years, a small number of CEOs have attracted attention by announcing that they
are only going to accept a $1 cash salary. A recent study finds that shareholders of these firms don't
do particularly well, but the CEOs’ total compensation doesn't suffer since they instead receive off-
setting compensation in the form of stock and stock options. Refer to Gilberto R. Loureiro, Anil K.
Makhija, and Dan Zhang, “The Ruse of a One-Dollar CEO Salary,” Charles A. Dice Center Working
Paper No. 2011-7 and Fisher College of Business Working Paper No. 2011-03-007, January 10, 2014.
The paper is available at ssrn.com/abstract=1571823.

SAnupreeta Das, Mike Esterl, and Joann S. Lublin, “Buffett Pressures Coca-Cola over Executive
Pay,” The Wall Street Journal (www.wsj.com), April 30, 2014; and Mark Melin, “Coca-Cola Changes
Pay Plan, Warren Buffett Influence Credited,” ValueWalk (www.valuewalk.com), October 1, 2014.
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At the same time, any shareholder who has owned $2,000 of a company’s stock for
1 year can sponsor a proposal that may be voted on at the annual stockholders” meet-
ing, even if management opposes the proposal’ Although shareholder-sponsored
proposals are nonbinding, the results of such votes are heard by top management.

There has been an ongoing debate regarding how much influence shareholders
should have through the proxy process. As a result of the passage of the Dodd-
Frank Act, the SEC was given authority to make rules regarding shareholder access
to company proxy materials. On August 25, 2010, the SEC adopted changes to fed-
eral proxy rules to give shareholders the right to nominate directors to a company’s
board. Rule 14a-11 under the 1934 SEC Act requires public companies to permit
any shareholder owning at least 3% of a public company’s voting stock for at least
3 years to include director nominations in the company’s proxy materials.

Years ago, the probability of a large firm’s management being ousted by its
stockholders was so remote that it posed little threat. Most firms’ shares were so
widely distributed and the CEO had so much control over the voting mechanism
that it was virtually impossible for dissident stockholders to get the votes needed
to overthrow a management team. However, that situation has changed. In recent
years, the top executives of Uber, Mattel, Citigroup, AT&T, Coca-Cola, Merrill
Lynch, Fannie Mae, General Motors, Peugeot, IBM, Target, and Xerox, to name a
few, were forced out due to poor corporate performance.

Relatedly, a recent article in The Wall Street Journal documents the growing
importance of shareholder activists. It points out that in 2014, activists established
a record level of influence when they were granted a board seat in 73% of the
proxy fights that occurred that year. Likewise, a 2015 cover story in The Economist
highlights the important role that activists play in insuring that managers act
in shareholders’ interests—their article labels these activists as “Capitalism’s
Unlikely Heroes.” In another high-profile example, GE became one of a small
group of companies that has voluntarily made it easier for shareholders to secure
a board seat. GE’s new plan allows shareholder groups holding at least 3% of the
company’s stock to directly nominate candidates for its board."

1-5C MANAGERS’ RESPONSE

If a firm’s stock is undervalued, corporate raiders will see it as a bargain and
will attempt to capture the firm in a hostile takeover. If the raid is successful, the
target’s executives will almost certainly be fired. This situation gives managers
a strong incentive to take actions to maximize their stock’s price. In the words
of one executive, “If you want to keep your job, never let your stock become a
bargain.”

Note that the price managers should be trying to maximize is not the price on
a specific day. Rather, it is the average price over the long run, which will be maxi-
mized if management focuses on the stock’s intrinsic value. However, managers
must communicate effectively with stockholders (without divulging information
that would aid their competitors) to keep the actual price close to the intrinsic
value. It's bad for stockholders and managers when the intrinsic value is high but

‘Under current guidelines, shareholder proposals are restricted to governance issues, and share-
holders are not allowed to vote directly on items that are considered to be “operating issues.”
However, the SEC recently adopted rules (resulting from the passage of the Dodd-Frank Act) man-
dating an advisory vote on CEO compensation at least once every 3 years.

0Refer to David Benoit, “Activists Are on a Roll, with More to Come,” The Wall Street Journal
(www.wsj.com), January 1, 2015; “Capitalism’s Unlikely Heroes,” The Economist (www.economist
.com), February 7, 2015; and Ted Mann and Joann S. Lublin, “GE to Allow Proxy Access for Big
Investors,” The Wall Street Journal (www.wsj.com), February 11, 2015.

Corporate Raiders
Individuals who target
corporations for takeover
because they are under-
valued.

Hostile Takeover
The acquisition of a com-
pany over the opposition
of its management.
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SelfTest

the actual price is low. In that situation, a raider may swoop in, buy the company
at a bargain price, and fire the managers. To repeat our earlier message:

Managers should try to maximize their stock’s intrinsic value and then commu-
nicate effectively with stockholders. That will cause the intrinsic value to be high
and the actual stock price to remain close to the intrinsic value over time.

Because the intrinsic value cannot be observed, it is impossible to know
whether it is really being maximized. Still, as we will discuss in Chapter 9, there are
procedures for estimating a stock’s intrinsic value. Managers can use these valua-
tion models to analyze alternative courses of action and thus see how these actions
are likely to impact the firm’s value. This type of value-based management is not
precise, but it is the best way to run a business.

What are three techniques stockholders can use to motivate managers to maximize
their stock’s long-run price?

Should managers focus directly on the stock’s actual market price or its intrinsic
value, or are both important? Explain.

1-6 Stockholder-Debtholder Conflicts

Conflicts can also arise between stockholders and debtholders. Debtholders, which
include the company’s bankers and its bondholders, generally receive fixed pay-
ments regardless of how well the company does, while stockholders do better when
the company does better. This situation leads to conflicts between these two groups,
to the extent that stockholders are typically more willing to take on risky projects."
To illustrate this problem, consider the example in Table 1.1, where a company
has raised $2,000 in capital, $1,000 from bondholders, and $1,000 from stockhold-
ers. To keep things simple, we assume that the bonds have a 1-year maturity and
pay an 8% annual interest rate. The company’s current plan is to invest its $2,000
in Project L, a relatively low-risk project that is expected to be worth $2,400 one
year from now if the market is good and $2,000 if the market is bad. There is a 50%
chance that the market will be good and a 50% chance the market will be bad. In
either case, there will be enough cash to pay the bondholders their money back
plus the 8% annual interest rate that they were promised. The stockholders will
receive whatever is left over after the bondholders have been paid. As expected,
because they are paid last, the stockholders are bearing more risk (their payoff
depends on the market), but they are also earning a higher expected return.
Now assume that the company discovers another project (Project H) that has
considerably more risk. Project H has the same expected cash flow as Project L,
but it will produce cash flows of $4,400 if the market is good but $0 if the market
is bad. Clearly, the bondholders would not be interested in Project H, because they
wouldn’t receive any additional benefits if the market is good and they would lose
everything if the market is bad. Notice, however, that Project H provides a higher
rate of return for stockholders than Project L, because they capture all of the extra
benefits if the market turns out to be good. While Project H is clearly riskier, in

"We are assuming here that managers make decisions on behalf of stockholders, so saying that
there are conflicts between stockholders and debtholders is the same as saying there are conflicts
between managers and debtholders.

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).

Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Chapter 1 An Overview of Financial Management

Stockholder-Debtholder Conflict Example TABLE 1.1
Project L:
Market Conditions
1 Year from Now
Money Invested Expected Expected
Today GOOD BAD Cash Flow Return
Cash flow to firm $2,400 $2,000 $2,200
Bondholders’ portion $1,000 1,080 1,080 1,080 8.00%
Stockholders’ portion 1,000 1,320 920 1,120 12.00
Project H:
Market Conditions
1 Year from Now
Money Invested Expected Expected
Today GOOD BAD Cash Flow Return
Cash flow to firm $4,400 S0 $2,200
Bondholders’ portion $1,000 1,080 0 540 -46.00%
Stockholders’ portion 1,000 3,320 0 1,660 66.00

some circumstances managers acting on behalf of the stockholders may decide
that the higher expected return is enough to justify the additional risk, and they
would proceed with Project H despite the strong objections of the bondholders.

Notice, however, that astute bondholders understand that managers and
stockholders may have an incentive to shift to riskier projects. Recognizing this
incentive, they will view the bonds as being riskier and will demand a higher rate
of return, and in some cases the perceived risk may be so great that they will not
invest in the company, unless the managers can credibly convince bondholders
that the company will not pursue excessively risky projects.

Another type of stockholder—-debtholder conflict arises over the use of addi-
tional debt. As we see later in this book, the more debt a firm uses to finance a
given amount of assets, the riskier the firm becomes. For example, if a firm has
$100 million of assets and finances them with $5 million of bonds and $95 million
of common stock, things have to go terribly badly before the bondholders suffer a
loss. On the other hand, if the firm uses $95 million of bonds and $5 million of stock,
the bondholders suffer a loss even if the value of the assets declines only slightly.

Bondholders attempt to protect themselves by including covenants in the
bond agreements that limit firms” use of additional debt and constrain managers’
actions in other ways. We address these issues later in this book, but they are quite
important and everyone should be aware of them.

SelfTest

Why might conflicts arise between stockholders and debtholders?
0 How might astute bondholders react if stockholders take on risky projects?

How can bondholders protect themselves from managers’ actions that negatively
impact bondholders?
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Shareholder Wealth
Maximization

The primary financial
goal for managers of
publicly owned compa-
nies implies that deci-
sions should be made to
maximize the long-run
value of the firm's com-
mon stock.

1-7 Balancing Shareholder Interests
and the Interests of Society

Throughout this book, we focus primarily on publicly owned companies; hence,
we operate on the assumption that management’s primary financial goal is share-
holder wealth maximization. At the same time, the managers know that this does
not mean maximize shareholder value “at all costs.” Managers have an obligation
to behave ethically, and they must follow the laws and other society-imposed con-
straints that we discussed in the opening vignette to this chapter.

INVESTING IN SOCIALLY RESPONS_"

The same societal pressures that have encouraged consumers
to buy products of companies that they believe to be socially
responsible have also led some investors to search for ways
to limit their investments to firms they deem to be socially
responsible. Indeed, today there are a large number of mutu-
al funds that only invest in companies that meet specified
social goals. Each of these socially responsible funds applies
different criteria, but typically they consider a company’s
environmental record, its commitment to social causes, and
its employee relations. Many of these funds also avoid invest-
ments in companies that are involved with alcohol, tobacco,
gambling, and nuclear power. Investment performance var-
ies among funds from year to year. The accompanying chart
compares the past performance of a representative socially
responsible fund, the Domini Impact Equity Investor Fund,
with that of the S&P 500 during the past 20+ years. Although

the general shape of each is similar, in the last 15 years or so
the S&P 500 has outperformed this fund.

Consistent with the chart shown below, a recent article in
The Wall Street Journal cites a study that suggests that investors
may be able to profit by buying stocks that other investors
choose to avoid. The study by professors Elroy Dimson, Paul
Marsh, and Mike Staunton of the London Business School
found that over the past century, U.S. tobacco stocks have dra-
matically outperformed the overall market. As a possible expla-
nation, the article provides a quote from one of the authors:'?

It appears that when the people who abhor such stocks
have shunned them, they have depressed the share prices
but haven't managed to destroy the industries,” Prof. Marsh
says. “So investors who don't have the same scruples have
been able to pick up [these stocks] at a cheaper price.”

Recent Performance of Domini Impact Equity Investor Fund versus S&P 500
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2Refer to Jason Zweig, “ ‘Sin-Vestors’ Can Reap Smoking-Hot Returns,” The Wall Street Journal

(www.wsj.com), February 13, 2015.
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To understand how corporate managers balance the interests of society and
shareholders, it is helpful to first look at those issues from the perspective of a
sole proprietor. Consider Larry Jackson, the owner of a local sporting goods store.
Jackson is in business to make money, but he likes to take time off to play golf on
Fridays. He also has a few employees who are no longer very productive, but he
keeps them on the payroll out of friendship and loyalty. Jackson is running the
business in a way that is consistent with his own personal goals. He knows that
he could make more money if he didn’t play golf or if he replaced some of his
employees. But he is comfortable with his choices—and because it is his business,
he is free to make those choices.

By contrast, Linda Smith is CEO of a large corporation. Smith manages the
company; however, most of the stock is owned by shareholders who purchased
it because they were looking for an investment that would help them retire,
send their children to college, pay for a long-anticipated trip, and so forth. The
shareholders elected a board of directors, which then selected Smith to run the
company. Smith and the firm’s other managers are working on behalf of the share-
holders, and they were hired to pursue policies that enhance shareholder value.

Most managers understand that maximizing shareholder value does not
mean that they are free to ignore the larger interests of society. Consider, for
example, what would happen if Linda Smith narrowly focused on creating share-
holder value, but in the process her company was unresponsive to its employees
and customers, hostile to its local community, and indifferent to the effects its
actions had on the environment. In all likelihood, society would impose a wide
range of costs on the company. It may find it hard to attract top-notch employees,
its products may be boycotted, it may face additional lawsuits and regulations,
and it may be confronted with negative publicity. These costs would ultimately
lead to a reduction in shareholder value. So clearly, when taking steps to maxi-
mize shareholder value, enlightened managers need to also keep in mind these
society-imposed constraints."

From a broader perspective, firms have a number of different departments,
including marketing, accounting, production, human resources, and finance. The
finance department’s principal task is to evaluate proposed decisions and judge
how they will affect the stock price and thus shareholder wealth. For example,
suppose the production manager wants to replace some old equipment with new
automated machinery that will reduce labor costs. The finance staff will evalu-
ate that proposal and determine whether the savings seem to be worth the cost.
Similarly, if marketing wants to spend $10 million of advertising during the Super
Bowl, the financial staff will evaluate the proposal, look at the probable increase in
sales, and reach a conclusion as to whether the money spent will lead to a higher
stock price. Most significant decisions are evaluated in terms of their financial
consequences, but astute managers recognize that they also need to take into
account how these decisions affect society at large.

Interestingly, some companies have taken more explicit steps to recognize the
broader needs of society. A fairly small but rapidly growing number of companies
have become certified as “B” or “benefit” corporations. While these companies are
still focused on making a profit, they are committed to putting other stakeholders
such as employees, customers, and their communities on an equal footing with
shareholders. In order to qualify as a B corporation, the company must subject
itself to an annual audit in which its practices regarding social responsibility,

BBA recent study highlights the various factors that motivate corporate managers to make socially
responsible investments. Refer to Richard Borghesi, Joel F. Houston, and Andy Naranjo, “Corporate
Socially Responsible Investments: CEO Altruism, Reputation, and Shareholder Interests,” Journal of
Corporate Finance, vol. 26 (June 2014), pp. 164-181.
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SelfTest

corporate governance, and transparency are reviewed. A recent Time magazine
article points out that 26 states now provide a legal framework for companies to
be certified as a B corporation. The article also estimates that roughly 1,200 com-
panies (mostly small) have qualified as B corporations.™

As you might imagine, there is a very wide range of opinions regarding the
appropriate balance between the interests of shareholders and other societal stake-
holders. For example, a mutual fund manager attracted a lot of attention when he
characterized shareholder wealth maximization as the “world’s dumbest idea.”
Later on, a high-profile columnist for The Wall Street Journal offered a strong criti-
cism of this viewpoint, and laid out his argument for why maximizing shareholder
value is the appropriate goal.”® While these arguments will no doubt continue,
there is a broader consensus that emphasizes that maximizing shareholder value
doesn’t mean that corporate managers should ignore other societal interests.
Indeed, our discussion in this chapter is meant to illustrate that companies striving
to increase shareholder value have to be ever mindful of these broader interests.

v

Is maximizing shareholder value inconsistent with being socially responsible?
Explain.

When Boeing decides to invest $5 billion in a new jet airliner, are its managers certain
of the project’s effects on Boeing’s future profits and stock price? Explain.

1-8 Business Ethics

As a result of the financial scandals occurring during the past decade, there has
been a strong push to improve business ethics. This is occurring on many fronts—
actions begun by former New York Attorney General and former Governor Elliot
Spitzer and others who sued companies for improper acts; Congress’s passing of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to impose sanctions on executives who sign finan-
cial statements later found to be false; Congress’s passing of the Dodd-Frank Act to
implement an aggressive overhaul of the U.S. financial regulatory system aimed at
preventing reckless actions that would cause another financial crisis; and business
schools trying to inform students about proper versus improper business actions.
Asnoted earlier, companies benefit from having good reputations and are penal-
ized by having bad ones; the same is true for individuals. Reputations reflect the
extent to which firms and people are ethical. Ethics is defined in Webster’s Dictionary
as “standards of conduct or moral behavior.” Business ethics can be thought of as
a company’s attitude and conduct toward its employees, customers, community,
and stockholders. A firm’s commitment to business ethics can be measured by the
tendency of its employees, from the top down, to adhere to laws, regulations, and
moral standards relating to product safety and quality, fair employment practices,
fair marketing and selling practices, the use of confidential information for personal
gain, community involvement, and the use of illegal payments to obtain business.
For the past decade, Ethisphere, an organization based out of Scottsdale,
Arizona, has focused on evaluating ethical business practices and has published a

“Refer to Bill Saporito, “Making Good, Plus a Profit: A New Type of Company Lures Activist
Entrepreneurs,” Time, March 23, 2015, p. 22.

5Refer to Holman W. Jenkins, Jr., “Are Shareholders Obsolete?” The Wall Street Journal (Www.wsj
.com), January 2, 2015.
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list of “The World’s Most Ethical Companies.” It honors companies that promote
ethical business standards and practices internally, enable managers and employ-
ees to make good choices, and shape industry standards by introducing best prac-
tices. Those companies that have made the list in every year include Aflac, Fluor
Corporation, GE, Kao Corporation, Milliken & Company, Starbucks, and UPS.'¢

1-8A WHAT COMPANIES ARE DOING

Most firms today have strong written codes of ethical behavior; companies also
conduct training programs to ensure that employees understand proper behavior
in different situations. When conflicts arise involving profits and ethics, ethical
considerations sometimes are so obviously important that they dominate. In
other cases, however, the right choice is not clear. For example, suppose that
Norfolk Southern’s managers know that its coal trains are polluting the air, but
the amount of pollution is within legal limits, and further reduction would be
costly. Are the managers ethically bound to reduce pollution? Similarly, several
years ago Merck’s research indicated that its Vioxx pain medicine might be caus-
ing heart attacks. However, the evidence was not overly strong, and the product
was clearly helping some patients. Over time, additional tests produced stronger
evidence that Vioxx did pose a health risk. What should Merck have done, and
when should Merck have done it? If the company released negative but perhaps
incorrect information, this announcement would have hurt sales and possibly
prevented some patients benefitting from the product. If the company delayed
the release of this additional information, more patients might have suffered
irreversible harm. At what point should Merck have made the potential problem
known to the public? There are no obvious answers to questions such as these, but
companies must deal with them, and a failure to handle them properly can lead
to severe consequences.

1-8B CONSEQUENCES OF UNETHICAL BEHAVIOR

Over the past few years, ethical lapses have led to a number of bankruptcies. The
collapses of Enron and WorldCom as well as the accounting firm Arthur Andersen
dramatically illustrate how unethical behavior can lead to a firm’s rapid decline.
In all three cases, top executives came under fire because of misleading account-
ing practices that led to overstated profits. Enron and WorldCom executives were
busily selling their stock at the same time they were recommending the stock
to employees and outside investors. These executives reaped millions before
the stock declined, while lower-level employees and outside investors were left
“holding the bag.” Some of these executives are now in jail, and Enron’s CEO
had a fatal heart attack while awaiting sentencing after being found guilty of con-
spiracy and fraud. Moreover, Merrill Lynch and Citigroup, which were accused of
facilitating these frauds, were fined hundreds of millions of dollars.

In other cases, companies avoid bankruptcy but face a damaging blow to
their reputation. Safety concerns tarnished Toyota’s once-sterling reputation for
reliability. Ethical questions were raised regarding when the company’s senior
management became aware of the problems and whether they were forthcoming in
sharing these concerns with the public. Similarly, GM agreed to pay a $900 million
settlement for its delay in addressing defective ignition switches, which have been
connected to 57 deaths and the recall of 2.6 million vehicles.

Likewise, in April 2010, the SEC brought forth a civil fraud suit against
Goldman Sachs. The SEC contended that Goldman Sachs misled its investors

*Karsten Strauss, “The World's Most Ethical Companies 2016,” Forbes (www.forbes.com), March 9, 2016.
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when it created and marketed securities that were backed by subprime mort-
gages. In July 2010, Goldman Sachs ultimately reached a settlement where it
agreed to pay $550 million. While just one example, many believe that too many
Wall Street executives in recent years have been willing to compromise their eth-
ics. In May 2011, Raj Rajaratnam, the founder of the hedge fund Galleon Group
LLC, was convicted of securities fraud and conspiracy in one of the government’s
largest insider trading cases. Mr. Rajaratnam traded on information (worth
approximately $63.8 million) from insiders at technology companies and others
in the hedge fund industry. On October 13, 2011, he was sentenced to 11 years
in prison. On March 14, 2014, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)
sued 16 big banks (including Bank of America, Citigroup, and JPMorgan Chase)
for actively manipulating the London Interbank Offered Rate (the LIBOR rate)
to make additional profits on their trades. This is particularly important because
the LIBOR rate is used to set the terms in many financial contracts. The banks
are accused of rigging LIBOR from August 2007 to mid-2011. Five of the banks,
Barclay’s, RBS, UBS, Deutsche Bank, and Rabobank of the Netherlands, together
have paid $5 billion to settle the charges and avoid criminal prosecution if they
meet certain conditions.

More recently, Mylan, a pharmaceutical company, agreed to pay the U.S.
Department of Justice a $465 million settlement for overcharging Medicaid for its
allergy shot EPIPen. Wells Fargo fired its CEO, other senior managers, and 5,000
employees, paid $186 million in fines to the government, and returned $2.6 mil-
lion in fees because employees created fake accounts and signed up customers for
unauthorized credit cards to reach sales quotas for bonuses. These recent problems
are not unique to U.S. companies. Volkswagen (VW) recently admitted to selling
cars that were installed with software to cheat emissions tests. Approximately
11 million cars worldwide, including 8 million in Europe, have the software
installed in them. VW has set aside 6.7 billion euros (roughly $7.6 billion) to cover
the cost of recalling millions of cars, which resulted in its first quarterly loss (third
quarter, 2015) in 15 years. Its CEO resigned and several of its top executives were
fired because of this scandal. In another recent scandal, Canadian drug maker
Valeant has been accused of improper accounting and predatory price hikes to
boost its growth. In addition, it appears that Philidor (an undisclosed affiliate of
Valeant) may have changed patients’ prescriptions to push Valeant’s high-priced
drugs. Near the end of 2016, two Philidor executives (one of whom had been an
executive with Valeant) had been arrested and charged with a multimillion-dollar
fraud and kickback scheme.

A firm’s CEO is the face of the corporation. When a CEO is accused of illegal
activity, the Board of Directors conducts an independent investigation, and if the
allegation is verified, it takes corrective action. In most cases, the CEO is termi-
nated. It’s much less obvious what the board should do when the CEO is accused
of questionable, but not illegal, behavior. When a CEO is accused of misconduct,
the board must investigate the situation, take proactive steps to ensure that the
situation is properly dealt with, and, most importantly, ensure that the corporate
reputation, culture, and long-term performance are not damaged."”

The perception of widespread improper actions has caused many investors to
lose faith in American business and to turn away from the stock market, which
makes it difficult for firms to raise the capital they need to grow, create jobs, and
stimulate the economy. So, unethical actions can have adverse consequences far
beyond the companies that perpetrate them.

"David Larcker and Brian Tayan, “We Studied 38 Incidents of CEO Bad Behavior and Measured Their
Consequences,” Harvard Business Review (www.hbr.org), June 9, 2016.
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All this raises a question: Are companies unethical, or is it just a few of their
employees? That was a central issue that came up in the case of Arthur Andersen,
the accounting firm that audited Enron, WorldCom, and several other compa-
nies that committed accounting fraud. Evidence showed that relatively few of
Andersen’s accountants helped perpetrate the frauds. Its top managers argued
that while a few rogue employees did bad things, most of the firm’s 85,000
employees, and the firm itself, were innocent. The U.S. Justice Department dis-
agreed, concluding that the firm was guilty because it fostered a climate where
unethical behavior was permitted and that Andersen used an incentive system
that made such behavior profitable to both the perpetrators and the firm. As a
result, Andersen was put out of business, its partners lost millions of dollars, and
its 85,000 employees lost their jobs. In most other cases, individuals, rather than
firms, were tried, and though the firms survived, they suffered damage to their
reputations, which greatly lowered their future profit potential and value.

1-8C HOW SHOULD EMPLOYEES DEAL
WITH UNETHICAL BEHAVIOR?

Far too often the desire for stock options, bonuses, and promotions drives man-
agers to take unethical actions such as fudging the books to make profits in the
manager’s division look good, holding back information about bad products that
would depress sales, and failing to take costly but needed measures to protect
the environment. Generally, these acts don’t rise to the level of an Enron or a
WorldCom, but they are still bad. If questionable things are going on, who should
take action and what should that action be? Obviously, in situations such as Enron
and WorldCom, where fraud was being perpetrated at or close to the top, senior
managers knew about the illegal activities. In other cases, the problem is caused
by a mid-level manager trying to boost his or her unit’s profits and thus his or
her bonus. In all cases, though, at least some lower-level employees are aware of
what’s happening; they may even be ordered to take fraudulent actions. Should
the lower-level employees obey their boss’s orders; refuse to obey those orders; or
report the situation to a higher authority, such as the company’s board of direc-
tors, the company’s auditors, or a federal prosecutor?

As you might imagine, these issues are often tricky and judgment comes into
play when deciding on what action to take and when to take it. If a lower-level
employee thinks that a product should be pulled, but the boss disagrees, what should
the employee do? If an employee decides to report the problem, trouble may ensue
regardless of the merits of the case. If the alarm is false, the company will have been
harmed, and nothing will have been gained. In that case, the employee will probably
be fired. Even if the employee is right, his or her career may still be ruined because
many companies (or at least bosses) don’t like “disloyal, troublemaking” employees.

Such situations arise fairly often, ranging from accounting fraud to product
liability and environmental cases. Employees jeopardize their jobs if they come
forward over their bosses” objections. However, if they don’t speak up, they may
suffer emotional problems and contribute to the downfall of their companies and
the accompanying loss of jobs and savings. Moreover, if employees obey orders
regarding actions they know are illegal, they may end up going to jail. Indeed, in
most of the scandals that have gone to trial, the lower-level people who physi-
cally entered the bad data received longer jail sentences than the bosses who pre-
sumably gave the directives. So employees can be “stuck between a rock and a
hard place,” that is, doing what they should do and possibly losing their jobs
versus going along with the boss and possibly ending up in jail. This discussion
shows why ethics is such an important consideration in business and in business
schools—and why we are concerned with it in this book.
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SelfTest

vV

T

How would you define business ethics?
Can a firm's executive compensation plan lead to unethical behavior? Explain.

Unethical acts are generally committed by unethical people. What are some things
companies can do to help ensure that their employees act ethically?

TYING IT ALLTOGETHER

This chapter provides a broad overview of financial management. Management’s
primary goal should be to maximize the long-run value of the stock, which means the
intrinsic value as measured by the stock’s price over time. To maximize value, firms
must develop products that consumers want, produce the products efficiently, sell
them at competitive prices, and observe laws relating to corporate behavior. If firms
are successful at maximizing the stock’s value, they will also be contributing to social
welfare and citizens’ well-being.

Businesses can be organized as proprietorships, partnerships, corporations,
limited liability companies (LLCs), or limited liability partnerships (LLPs). The vast
majority of all business is done by corporations, and the most successful firms
become corporations, which explains the focus on corporations in this book.

The primary tasks of the CFO are (1) to make sure the accounting system provides
“good” numbers for internal decision making and for investors, (2) to ensure that the
firm is financed in the proper manner, (3) to evaluate the operating units to make
sure they are performing in an optimal manner, and (4) to evaluate all proposed capi-
tal expenditures to make sure they will increase the firm’s value. In the remainder of
this book, we discuss exactly how financial managers carry out these tasks.

Self-Test Questions and Problems

vV

ST-1

(Solutions Appear in Appendix A)

KEY TERMS Define each of the following terms:

Sarbanes-Oxley Act

Proprietorship; partnership; corporation

S corporation; limited liability company (LLC); limited liability partnership (LLP)
. Intrinsic value; market price

Marginal investor; equilibrium

Corporate governance

Corporate raider; hostile takeover

Stockholder wealth maximization

TR e a0 T

Business ethics

=
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Questions
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1-1

1-2

1-3

1-4

1-6

1-7

1-8

1-9

What is a firm’s intrinsic value? Its current stock price? Is the stock’s “true” long-run value
more closely related to its intrinsic value or to its current price?

When is a stock said to be in equilibrium? Why might a stock at any point in time not be
in equilibrium?

Suppose three honest individuals gave you their estimates of Stock X’s intrinsic value. One
person is your current roommate, the second person is a professional security analyst with
an excellent reputation on Wall Street, and the third person is Company X’s CFO. If the
three estimates differed, in which one would you have the most confidence? Why?

Is it better for a firm’s actual stock price in the market to be under, over, or equal to its intrin-
sic value? Would your answer be the same from the standpoints of stockholders in general
and a CEO who is about to exercise a million dollars in options and then retire? Explain.

If a company’s board of directors wants management to maximize shareholder wealth,
should the CEO’s compensation be set as a fixed dollar amount, or should the compensa-
tion depend on how well the firm performs? If it is to be based on performance, how should
performance be measured? Would it be easier to measure performance by the growth rate
in reported profits or the growth rate in the stock’s intrinsic value? Which would be the
better performance measure? Why?

What are the various forms of business organization? What are the advantages and disad-
vantages of each?

Should stockholder wealth maximization be thought of as a long-term or a short-term goal?
For example, if one action increases a firm'’s stock price from a current level of $20 to $25
in 6 months and then to $30 in 5 years, but another action keeps the stock at $20 for several
years but then increases it to $40 in 5 years, which action would be better? Think of some
specific corporate actions that have these general tendencies.

What are some actions that stockholders can take to ensure that management’s and stock-
holders’ interests are aligned?

The president of Southern Semiconductor Corporation (SSC) made this statement in the
company’s annual report: “SSC’s primary goal is to increase the value of our common
stockholders” equity.” Later in the report, the following announcements were made:

a. The company contributed $1.5 million to the symphony orchestra in Birmingham,
Alabama, its headquarters city.

b. The company is spending $500 million to open a new plant and expand operations in
China. No profits will be produced by the Chinese operation for 4 years, so earnings
will be depressed during this period versus what they would have been had the deci-
sion been made not to expand in China.

c. The company holds about half of its assets in the form of U.S. Treasury bonds, and it
keeps these funds available for use in emergencies. In the future, though, SSC plans to
shift its emergency funds from Treasury bonds to common stocks.

Discuss how SSC’s stockholders might view each of these actions and how the actions
might affect the stock price.

Investors generally can make one vote for each share of stock they hold. TTAA-CREF is the
largest institutional shareholder in the United States; therefore, it holds many shares and has
more votes than any other organization. Traditionally, this fund has acted as a passive investor,
just going along with management. However, in 1993, it mailed a notice to all 1,500 companies
whose stocks it held that henceforth it planned to actively intervene if, in its opinion, manage-
ment was not performing well. Its goal was to improve corporate performance to boost the
prices of the stocks it held. It also wanted to encourage corporate boards to appoint a majority
of independent (outside) directors, and it stated that it would vote against any directors of
firms that “don’t have an effective, independent board that can challenge the CEO.”

In the past, TTAA-CREF responded to poor performance by “voting with its feet,” which
means selling stocks that were not doing well. However, by 1993, that position had become
difficult to maintain for two reasons. First, the fund invested a large part of its assets in “index

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).

Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.

25



26

Part 1 Introduction to Financial Management

funds,” which hold stocks in accordance with their percentage value in the broad stock mar-

ket. Furthermore, TIAA-CREF owns such large blocks of stocks in many companies that if it

tried to sell out, doing so would severely depress the prices of those stocks. Thus, TITAA-CREF
is locked in to a large extent, which led to its decision to become a more active investor.

a. Is TTAA-CREF an ordinary shareholder? Explain.

b. Due to its asset size, TTAA-CREF owns many shares in a number of companies. The
fund’s management plans to vote those shares. However, TTAA-CREF is owned by
many thousands of investors. Should the fund’s managers vote its shares, or should it
pass those votes, on a pro rata basis, back to its own shareholders? Explain.

Edmund Enterprises recently made a large investment to upgrade its technology. Although
these improvements won’t have much effect on performance in the short run, they are
expected to reduce future costs significantly. What effect will this investment have on
Edmund Enterprises” earnings per share this year? What effect might this investment have
on the company’s intrinsic value and stock price?

Suppose you were a member of Company X’s board of directors and chairperson of the
company’s compensation committee. What factors should your committee consider when
setting the CEO’s compensation? Should the compensation consist of a dollar salary, stock
options that depend on the firm’s performance, or a mix of the two? If “performance” is
to be considered, how should it be measured? Think of both theoretical and practical (i.e.,
measurement) considerations. If you were also a vice president of Company X, might your
actions be different than if you were the CEO of some other company?

Suppose you are a director of an energy company that has three divisions—natural gas, oil,
and retail (gas stations). These divisions operate independently from one another, but all
division managers report to the firm’s CEO. If you were on the compensation committee,
as discussed in Question 1-12, and your committee was asked to set the compensation for
the three division managers, would you use the same criteria as that used for the firm’s
CEO? Explain your reasoning.

Bedrock Company has $70 million in debt and $30 million in equity. The debt matures in
1 year and has a 10% interest rate, so the company is promising to pay back $77 million to
its debtholders 1 year from now.

The company is considering two possible investments, each of which will require an
up-front cost of $100 million. Each investment will last for 1 year, and the payoff from each
investment depends on the strength of the overall economy. There is a 50% chance that the
economy will be weak and a 50% chance it will be strong.

Here are the expected payoffs (all dollars are in millions) from the two investments:

Payoff in 1 Year If the Payoff in 1 Year If the
Economy Is Weak Economy Is Strong Expected Payoff
Investment L $90.00 $130.00 $110.00
Investment H 50.00 170.00 110.00

Note that the two projects have the same expected payoff, but Project H has higher risk. The
debtholders always get paid first and the stockholders receive any money that is available
after the debtholders have been paid.

Assume that if the company doesn’t have enough funds to pay off its debtholders 1 year
from now, then Bedrock will declare bankruptcy. If bankruptcy is declared, the debtholders
will receive all available funds, and the stockholders will receive nothing.

a. Assume that the company selects Investment L. What is the expected payoff to the
firm’s debtholders? What is the expected payoff to the firm’s stockholders?

b. Assume that the company selects Investment H. What is the expected payoff to the
firm’s debtholders? What is the expected payoff to the firm’s stockholders?

c. Would the debtholders prefer that the company’s managers select Project L or Project
H? Briefly explain your reason.

d. Explain why the company’s managers, acting on behalf of the stockholders, might
select Project H, even though it has greater risk.

e. What actions can debtholders take to protect their interests?
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The Economy Depends on a Strong Financial System

History shows that a strong financial system is
a necessary ingredient for a growing and pros-
perous economy. Companies raising capital to
finance capital expenditures and investors saving
to accumulate funds for future use require well-
functioning financial markets and institutions.
Over the past few decades, changing
technology and improving communications
have increased cross-border transactions and
expanded the scope and efficiency of the glob-
al financial system. Companies routinely raise
funds throughout the world to finance projects
all around the globe. Likewise, with the click of
a mouse an individual investor in Pittsburgh can
deposit funds in a European bank or purchase a
mutual fund that invests in Chinese securities.
These innovations helped spur global eco-
nomic growth by providing capital to an increas-
ing number of individuals throughout the world.
Along the way, the financial industry attracted a

lot of talented people who created, marketed,
and traded a large number of new financial
products. However, despite their benefits many
of these same factors led to excesses that cul-
minated in the financial crisis of 2007 and 2008.

In the aftermath of the crisis, the financial
sector is slowly recovering, but its effects con-
tinue to linger. The crisis also reaffirmed how
changes in the value of financial assets can
quickly spill over and affect other parts of the
economy. For example, a 2014 article in The Wall
Street Journal described how a dramatic drop in
many of the leading hot tech stocks (Facebook,
King Digital Entertainment, Netflix, Yelp, and
Twitter) suddenly made it more difficult for new
start-ups to raise money in the initial public
offering (IPO) market. In the following three
years, at least two of the stocks (Netflix and
Facebook) sharply rebounded and generated
large returns for their investors.
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In recent years, there have been a few other high-profile
IPOs. For example, in January 2015 the burger chain Shake
Shack had a stronger than expected IPO—although the
stock’s price has fallen sharply in the two years following its
public offering. But, arguably the most dramatic event was
when the Chinese online retailer Alibaba raised $25 billion in
September 2014. This turned out to be the largest global IPO
in history. More recently, Snapchat’s parent company (Snap)
went public in March 2017 to considerable fanfare.

At the same time, a number of other high-profile “uni-
corns” (a term first coined by venture capitalist Aileen Lee to
describe start-ups valued at more than a billion dollars) have
successfully raised private funds and have so far resisted the

urge to go public. These companies include Uber, Airbnb, and
Palintir—all of which have been valued at $20 billion or more.

While these recent events have attracted a lot of attention, it
is important to understand that almost all companies have been
affected by changing technology and globalization. More gener-
ally, managers and investors don't operate in a vacuum—they
make decisions within a large and complex financial environ-
ment. This environment includes financial markets and institu-
tions, tax and regulatory policies, and the state of the economy.
The environment both determines the available financial alter-
natives and affects the outcome of various decisions. Thus, it is
crucial that investors and financial managers have a good under-
standing of the environment in which they operate.

Sources: Michael J. De La Merced, “Shake Shack More Than Doubles Its I.P.O. Price in Market Debut,” The New York Times (dealbook.nytimes
.com), January 30, 2015; Mike Isaac and Michael J. De La Merced, “Uber Closes $1.6 Billion in Financing,” The New York Times (dealbook
nytimes.com), January 21, 2015; Ryan Mac, “Alibaba Claims Title for Largest Global IPO Ever with Extra Share Sales,” Forbes (www.forbes
.com), September 22, 2014; and Scott Austin, Chris Canipe, and Sarah Slobin, “The Billion Dollar Startup Club,” The Wall Street Journal
(graphics.wsj.com/billion-dollar-club/), February 18, 2015.

N

p PUTTING THINGS IN PERSPECTIVE

For additional information
regarding the financial crisis,
students can refer to
stlouisfed.org/Financial-
Crisis. Another good

source can be found at
fcic.law.stanford.edu, which
focuses on the Financial Crisis
Inquiry Commission.

In Chapter 1, we saw that a firm’s primary financial goal is to maximize long-run
shareholder value. Shareholder value is ultimately determined in the financial
markets; so if financial managers are to make good decisions, they must under-
stand how these markets operate. In addition, individuals make personal invest-
ment decisions; so they too need to know something about financial markets
and the institutions that operate in those markets. Therefore, in this chapter,
we describe the markets where capital is raised, securities are traded, and stock
prices are established, as well as the institutions that operate in these markets.
We will also discuss the concept of market efficiency and demonstrate how effi-
cient markets help promote the effective allocation of capital.

In recent years, the dramatic price swings in the financial markets that have
become increasingly common have led many to question whether markets are always
efficient. In response, there has been increased interest in behavioral finance theory. This
theory focuses on how psychological factors influence individual decisions (sometimes
in perverse ways), and the resulting impact these decisions have on financial markets.

When you finish this chapter, you should be able to do the following:

« ldentify the different types of financial markets and financial institutions, and
explain how these markets and institutions enhance capital allocation.

- Explain how the stock market operates, and list the distinctions between the
different types of stock markets.

« Explain how the stock market has performed in recent years.

- Discuss the importance of market efficiency, and explain why some markets are
more efficient than others.

- Develop a simple understanding of behavioral finance.
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Chapter 2 Financial Markets and Institutions

2-1 The Capital Allocation Process

Businesses, individuals, and governments often need to raise capital. For
example, Carolina Power & Light Energy (CP&L) forecasts an increase in the
demand for electricity in North and South Carolina, so it will build a new power
plant to meet those needs. Because CP&L’s bank account does not contain the
$1 billion necessary to pay for the plant, the company must raise this capital
in the financial markets. Similarly, the proprietor of a San Francisco hardware
store wants to expand into appliances. Where will he get the money to buy the
initial inventory of TV sets, washers, and freezers? Or suppose the Johnson
family wants to buy a home that costs $200,000, but they have only $50,000 in
savings. Where will they obtain the additional $150,000? The city of New York
needs $200 million to build a new sewer plant. Where can it obtain this money?
Finally, the federal government needs more money than it receives from taxes.
Where will the extra money come from?

On the other hand, some individuals and firms have incomes that exceed their
current expenditures, in which case they have funds available to invest. For exam-
ple, Carol Hawk has an income of $36,000, but her expenses are only $30,000. That
leaves her with $6,000 to invest. Similarly, Microsoft has accumulated roughly
$122.8 billion of cash and marketable securities. What can Microsoft do with this
money until it is needed in the business?

People and organizations with surplus funds are saving today in order to
accumulate funds for some future use. Members of a household might save to
pay for their children’s education and the parents’ retirement, while a business
might save to fund future investments. Those with surplus funds expect to earn
a return on their investments, while people and organizations that need capital
understand that they must pay interest to those who provide that capital.

In a well-functioning economy, capital flows efficiently from those with sur-
plus capital to those who need it. This transfer can take place in the three ways
described in Figure 2.1.

I. Direct transfers of money and securities, as shown in the top section, occur
when a business sells its stocks or bonds directly to savers, without going

Diagram of the Capital Formation Process
for Business

1. Direct Transfers

Securities (Stocks or Bonds)

Business Dollars Savers

2. Indirect Transfers through Investment Bankers

Securities Securities

Business Investment Banks Savers

Dollars Dollars

3. Indirect Transfers through a Financial Intermediary

Business’ Intermediary’s
Securities Securities
Business el Savers
Dollars Intermediary Dollars

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



30

Part 1 Introduction to Financial Management

SelfTest

through any type of financial institution. The business delivers its securities
to savers, who, in turn, give the firm the money it needs. This procedure is
used mainly by small firms, and relatively little capital is raised by direct
transfers.

2. As shown in the middle section, transfers may also go through an invest-
ment bank (IB) such as Morgan Stanley, which underwrites the issue. An
underwriter facilitates the issuance of securities. The company sells its
stocks or bonds to the investment bank, which then sells these same securi-
ties to savers. The businesses’ securities and the savers’ money merely “pass
through” the investment bank. However, because the investment bank buys
and holds the securities for a period of time, it is taking a risk—it may not
be able to resell the securities to savers for as much as it paid. Because new
securities are involved and the corporation receives the sale proceeds, this
transaction is called a primary market transaction.

3. Transfers can also be made through a financial intermediary such as a bank,
an insurance company, or a mutual fund. Here the intermediary obtains
funds from savers in exchange for its securities. The intermediary uses this
money to buy and hold businesses’ securities, and the savers hold the inter-
mediary’s securities. For example, a saver deposits dollars in a bank, receiv-
ing a certificate of deposit; then the bank lends the money to a business in
the form of a mortgage loan. Thus, intermediaries literally create new forms
of capital—in this case, certificates of deposit, which are safer and more lig-
uid than mortgages and thus better for most savers to hold. The existence of
intermediaries greatly increases the efficiency of money and capital markets.

Often the entity needing capital is a business (and specifically a corporation),
but it is easy to visualize the demander of capital being a home purchaser, a small
business, or a government unit. For example, if your uncle lends you money to
fund a new business, a direct transfer of funds will occur. Alternatively, if you
borrow money to purchase a home, you will probably raise the funds through a
financial intermediary such as your local commercial bank or mortgage banker.
That banker could sell your mortgage to an investment bank, which then might
use it as collateral for a bond that is purchased by a pension fund.

In a global context, economic development is highly correlated with the
level and efficiency of financial markets and institutions.! It is difficult, if not
impossible, for an economy to reach its full potential if it doesn’t have access to a
well-functioning financial system. In a well-developed economy like that of the
United States, an extensive set of markets and institutions has evolved over time
to facilitate the efficient allocation of capital. To raise capital efficiently, managers
must understand how these markets and institutions work, and individuals need
to know how the markets and institutions work to earn high rates of returns on
their savings.

vV

Name three ways capital is transferred between savers and borrowers.

Why are efficient capital markets necessary for economic growth?

'For a detailed review of the evidence linking financial development to economic growth, see Ross
Levine, “Finance and Growth: Theory and Evidence,” Chapter 12 in Handbook of Economic Growth,
edited by Philippe Aghion and Steven Durlauf (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2005).
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Chapter 2 Financial Markets and Institutions

2-2 Financial Markets

People and organizations wanting to borrow money are brought together with
those who have surplus funds in the financial markets. Note that markets is plural;
there are many different financial markets in a developed economy such as that
of the United States. We describe some of these markets and some trends in their
development.

2-2A TYPES OF MARKETS

Different financial markets serve different types of customers or different parts of
the country. Financial markets also vary depending on the maturity of the secu-
rities being traded and the types of assets used to back the securities. For these
reasons, it is useful to classify markets along the following dimensions:

I Physical asset markets versus financial asset markets. Physical asset markets (also
called “tangible” or “real” asset markets) are for products such as wheat,
autos, real estate, computers, and machinery. Financial asset markets, on the
other hand, deal with stocks, bonds, notes, and mortgages. Financial mar-
kets also deal with derivative securities whose values are derived from changes
in the prices of other assets. A share of Ford stock is a “pure financial asset,”
while an option to buy Ford shares is a derivative security whose value
depends on the price of Ford stock.

2. Spot markets versus futures markets. Spot markets are markets in which assets
are bought or sold for “on-the-spot” delivery (literally, within a few days).
Futures markets are markets in which participants agree today to buy or sell
an asset at some future date. For example, a farmer may enter into a futures
contract in which he agrees today to sell 5,000 bushels of soybeans 6 months
from now at a price of $10.275 a bushel. To continue that example, a food pro-
cessor that needs soybeans in the future may enter into a futures contract in
which it agrees to buy soybeans 6 months from now. Such a transaction can
reduce, or hedge, the risks faced by both the farmer and the food processor.

3. Money markets versus capital markets. Money markets are the markets for
short-term, highly liquid debt securities. The New York, London, and Tokyo
money markets are among the world’s largest. Capital markets are the mar-
kets for intermediate- or long-term debt and corporate stocks. The New York
Stock Exchange, where the stocks of the largest U.S. corporations are traded,
is a prime example of a capital market. There is no hard-and-fast rule, but
in a description of debt markets, short-term generally means less than 1
year, intermediate-term means 1 to 10 years, and long-term means more than
10 years.

4. Primary markets versus secondary markets. Primary markets are the markets
in which corporations raise new capital. If GE were to sell a new issue of
common stock to raise capital, a primary market transaction would take
place. The corporation selling the newly created stock, GE, receives the pro-
ceeds from the sale in a primary market transaction. Secondary markets are
markets in which existing, already outstanding securities are traded among
investors. Thus, if Jane Doe decided to buy 1,000 shares of GE stock, the pur-
chase would occur in the secondary market. The New York Stock Exchange
is a secondary market because it deals in outstanding, as opposed to newly
issued, stocks and bonds. Secondary markets also exist for mortgages, other
types of loans, and other financial assets. The corporation whose securities
are being traded is not involved in a secondary market transaction and thus
does not receive funds from such a sale.

Spot Markets

The markets in which
assets are bought or sold
for “on-the-spot” delivery.
Futures Markets

The markets in which
participants agree today
to buy or sell an asset at
some future date.

Money Markets

The financial markets
in which funds are bor-
rowed or loaned for
short periods (less than
one year).

Capital Markets

The financial markets for
stocks and for intermedi-
ate- or long-term debt
(one year or longer).

Primary Markets
Markets in which corpo-
rations raise capital by
issuing new securities.

Secondary Markets
Markets in which securi-
ties and other financial
assets are traded among
investors after they
have been issued by
corporations.
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Private Markets
Markets in which trans-
actions are worked out
directly between two or
more parties.

Public Markets
Markets in which stan-
dardized contracts are
traded on organized
exchanges.

5. Private markets versus public markets. Private markets, where transactions
are negotiated directly between two or more parties, are differentiated
from public markets, where standardized contracts are traded on orga-
nized exchanges. Bank loans and private debt placements with insurance
companies are examples of private market transactions. Because these
transactions are private, they may be structured in any manner to which
the relevant parties agree. By contrast, securities that are traded in public
markets (for example, common stock and corporate bonds) are held by a
large number of individuals. These securities must have fairly standard-
ized contractual features because public investors do not generally have
the time and expertise to negotiate unique, nonstandardized contracts.
Broad ownership and standardization result in publicly traded securities
being more liquid than tailor-made, uniquely negotiated securities.

Other classifications could be made, but this breakdown shows that there
are many types of financial markets. Also note that the distinctions among
markets are often blurred and unimportant except as a general point of refer-
ence. For example, it makes little difference if a firm borrows for 11, 12, or
13 months, that is, whether the transaction is a “money” or “capital” market
transaction. You should be aware of the important differences among types of
markets, but don’t be overly concerned about trying to distinguish them at the
boundaries.

A healthy economy is dependent on efficient funds transfers from people
who are net savers to firms and individuals who need capital. Without efficient
transfers, the economy could not function: Carolina Power & Light Energy
could not raise capital, so Raleigh’s citizens would have no electricity; the
Johnson family would not have adequate housing; Carol Hawk would have no
place to invest her savings; and so forth. Obviously, the level of employment
and productivity (i.e., the standard of living) would be much lower. Therefore,
it is essential that financial markets function efficiently—not only quickly, but
also inexpensively.

Table 2.1 is a listing of the most important instruments traded in the various
financial markets. The instruments are arranged in ascending order of typical
length of maturity. As we go through this book, we will look in more detail at
many of the instruments listed in Table 2.1. For example, we will see that there
are many varieties of corporate bonds, ranging from “plain vanilla” bonds to
bonds that can be converted to common stocks to bonds whose interest pay-
ments vary depending on the inflation rate. Still, the table provides an overview
of the characteristics and costs of the instruments traded in the major financial
markets.

2-2B RECENT TRENDS

Financial markets have experienced many changes in recent years. Technological
advances in computers and telecommunications, along with the globalization
of banking and commerce, have led to deregulation, which has increased com-
petition throughout the world. As a result, there are more efficient, internation-
ally linked markets, which are far more complex than what existed a few years
ago. While these developments have been largely positive, they have also cre-
ated problems for policymakers. With these concerns in mind, Congress and
regulators have moved to reregulate parts of the financial sector. The box titled
“Changing Technology Has Transformed Financial Markets” on page 35 illus-
trates some dramatic examples of how changing technology has transformed
financial markets in recent years.

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).

Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



33

Chapter 2 Financial Markets and Institutions

(panuruo)

spuoq pajel-y 0} pajel-yyy

soxe] 1sow
woJ} 1dwaxa 1nqg sa1314Nd39s

SI01S9AUI [RUOIINIASUL pUE
sjlenpialpul Aq play ‘siuswiuis

spuoq juaw

1e9A-07 UO 9499°€ 01 %88°C sieak g 01dn JusWUIRA0B "' ueyl Jaysiy -Aob |eD0| pue 31e3s Aq panss| jended -u19n0b [BDO| pue 91e1S
suonnsul
J3y30 pue syueq Aq 1ybnoq
91 PaxIy JeAK-0€ %L LY sueo| awudqns Jo ased sy} ‘91e159 |Pal AQ PRINdSs S3SSAU
‘21e4 1e3A-G 9|geIsnipe 96E°E sieak g o1dn ut ybiy s1ysu d|geLiea si sty -ISNq pue s[enpIAIpul 0} SUeoT jeuded sabebriop
3S1 SWOS S 3IaY] ‘9dusy
spuoq Jeak-0¢ ‘9514 S918J 1S9J91U JI BUIPSP spuoq
U0 9456°C 01 1e9A-Z U0 %G 1°| sieak pg 01 ¢ [I!m 22ud INq “Ysu 3 neyap oN JuswuIRnob ‘s Aq panss| jended pue sajou Ainseal] ‘s'n
s|enplAlpul 199p
%6781 03 %9S5°CL 01 saluedwod adueUl pue p4ed upaid buipnpul
S1 ¥ydy obeiane Inq ‘s|qeliep d|qeuep S|qeLeA SIYSIY ‘suolun 1paid ‘syjueq Aq panss| Kauopy ‘UPaId JBWNSUOD
S9sSaUISNQ pue s[enplAlpul Aq
(Aupinbiy pRy ‘4aded |ediswwod pue spuny
%LEOD uelsul) Ayunjew dyads oN 3S1J JO 9a169p MO ‘s@D ‘s||iq Ainseal] ul 1SaAU| Kauopy Jeninw 133Jew Asuopy
S10]SaAUI
jueq Buinssi ay1 jo yibuans ob.e| 01 sHUE] [BIDISWWOD (s@D) usodap jo
%580 Jeak | ordn 91 uo spuadap ysu 1nejaQg 191udd-Asuow Jofew Aq panss| Ksuopy $91eD1J11492 9|qenobaN
S101SaAUl Sb6Je| 03 SWly
%80 skep 0zz 01 dn 3S1 3 Nejep Mo 21n23s Ajjeueuly Aq panss| Asuopy Jaded |epsswiwo)
sainypuadxa |eJapay) dURUL
%ES0 1eak | 01sAep L6 SS9]{SII 01 950D ‘9344-1neyaq o1 Ainseas) 'sn Aq p|os Asuopy s||iq Ainseai] ‘s
(9) (s) (v) (€) (@ (1)
<L 1/8/T uo djey Isaiu| fAunjey jeuibiQ ssaunjsiy syuedpnied Jofey 19N juswiniysuj

L'z319vl

sansiaeIRY) A3INd3S

sonsuaIdeIRY) A1UNDS pue ‘stuedidilied 19¥Jey ‘S1usWINISU| 19yJe|p Jofe Jo Alewwng

WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Part 1 Introduction to Financial Management

34

‘sobeiane [e2101SIY 3S3Y1 UeY) JaMO| Jo Jaybiy Ajgeiapisuod aq Aew uinial [enide Jnok ¥203s e aseydind noK §i ‘9sinod JO Jeak usAIb e ul Jamoj 1o J1aybiy yonw aq ued A3yl Ing ‘yeak e
9%C L PUB %6 U29MI9Q pabelane aney suinial 3203s ‘A||ed1i03sIH “suleb |exded pue SpuspIAIP JO WO} 3Y3 Ul ,uiniai, e dpinoid 03 pa1dadxa ale A3y) 1sa19iul Aed 10U Op $3I03s UOWWIOD JIYM-

'sieak O uey) ss3| aJe Jeyl SaNLINIBW YIM SPUOq panss sey Alofew 9y} 49AMOY ‘spuod 1eak-00 | Pansst aAey suoneiodiod maj v,

*A1AN1eW YIUOW-E B SWINSSe salel 1934ew ASUOp "sa1es puoq~a1isodwod/spuog/wod ooyeladueuly ‘sajey puog a11sodwo)) sjooyea pue 21epdn/s | H/sases|a./A0b:

DAIDSII|RIDPRF MMM ,/(A[1eQ) SD1RY 159191U| PRIDIDS,, ‘WISAS DAIDSDY |BISPSH BUj] JO SIOUIDAOD JO pleog ‘£ 10T ‘8 A1enigad ‘(WO [SM'MMM) [DUINOf 192115 DA 3Y L WOl 1e paliodal spialk 9y .

REIN

Auedwod 03 Auedwod
W04} SDLIBA S 3D03S palidy

SI03SDAU|
Jeuonniisul pue sjenpialpul

VN pajwiun -a1d pue spuoq uey Japysiy 0] suonesodiod Aq panss| jended ,$)[2015 UOWWOD
%2015 UOWIWOD ueyl S101S9AUI
Aysu ss3] Inq spuoq esod |euoIIN1ISUl pUe S|enplAlpul
%56 01 %S/’S pajwiun -10D uey Japysu Ajjessuan 0] suonesodiod Aq panss| jended S$201s palissRId
s19558
a1 Ang usy1 pue moiioq
spuoq ueyl Jayiel s19sse 9sea| ued
SpJaIA puoq 0} Jejiwis s1eak 0z 01 € A|jesausn 91e40d10D 0} JRJIWIS YSIY SWi1y 1Y) Ul 1gap O} Jejiwis Jeuded S95e97
Janss|
J0 yibuans uo spuadap
SpuUOq UIYLM ¥SlI JO 92169p
Buikien !s3201s uOWWOD
spuoq y pue paisyaid ueyl Aysu S101S3AUI [eUOl}
1e94-07 UO 9%76°€ ‘Spuoq $$3] INQ $9111INDSS JUBW -n11Isul pue sjenpiAipul Aq
VVYV 1e9£-0Z U0 9%99°€ 4sieak ot 01 dn -uI19n0b "S' N eyl JaNSIY pIay ‘suoneiodiod Aq panss| jended spuoq ajesodio)
(9) () () (€) (@ (1)
L 1/8/T Uo ey }saIdu| fAunjey jeuibao ssaunjsiy syuedpnied Jofey 1R\ juswinisuj

L'¢319vl

sansiaeIRy) L1INd3g

(panunuo)) sonsiadeIey) A14Nd3S pue ‘syuedidiiied 19y ‘siuswnIisu| 1y Jofely jo Alewwng

WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Chapter 2 Financial Markets and Institutions

CHANGING TECHNOLOGY HAS TRANSFORMED
FINANCIAL MARKETS

In recent years, changing technology has created numerous innovations and has dramatical-

ly transformed the operation of financial markets. Here are just a few interesting examples:

* Changing technology has created a whole class of firms that use computer algorithms
to buy and sell securities, often at speeds less than a second. The trades conducted by
these high-frequency trading (HFT) firms now represent a very significant fraction of
the total trading volume in a given day. Proponents argue that these HFT firms generate
liquidity, which helps reduce transactions costs and makes it easier for other investors to
getin and out of the market. Critics argue that these activities can create market instabil-
ity and that HFT firms often engage in trades that are self-serving to their own interests,
to the detriment of other investors. A recent best-selling book by Michael Lewis, titled
Flash Boys, attracted a lot of attention for its highly critical depiction of HFT firms.

e Changing technology has changed the way that many people pay for transactions.
Many of us rarely use cash anymore and instead often rely on debit and credit cards
for payment. Others often use electronic commerce services such as PayPal to make
online payments. More recently, there has been a growing interest in Bitcoin—a virtual
currency that involves no intermediary and has no fees.? Although intriguing, many
are concerned that the lack of regulation makes Bitcoin an attractive vehicle for illegal
transactions and that investors in the currency lack any legal protection against fraudu-
lent activities.?

e Changing technology has allowed some individuals and firms to bypass intermediar-
ies and directly raise money from investors to help fund various projects. This activ-
ity is referred to as crowdfunding. Two leading examples of these platforms include
Kickstarter and Indiegogo.*

Globalization has exposed the need for greater cooperation among regula-
tors at the international level, but the task is not easy. Factors that complicate
coordination include (1) the different structures in nations’ banking and securities
industries, (2) the trend toward financial services conglomerates, which obscures
developments in various market segments, and (3) the reluctance of individual
countries to give up control over their national monetary policies. Still, regulators
are unanimous about the need to close the gaps in the supervision of worldwide
markets.

Another important trend in recent years has been the increased use of
derivatives. A derivative is any security whose value is derived from the price of
some other “underlying” asset. An option to buy IBM stock is a derivative, as is
a contract to buy Japanese yen 6 months from now. The value of the IBM option
depends on the price of IBM’s stock and the value of the Japanese yen “future”
depends on the exchange rate between yen and dollars. The market for deriva-
tives has grown faster than any other market in recent years, providing investors
with new opportunities but also exposing them to new risks.

?For a concise review of Bitcoin, see Tal Yellin, Dominic Aratari, and Jose Pagliery, “What Is
Bitcoin?” CNN Money (money.cnn.com), January 2014.

*Despite these concerns, many believe that Bitcoin would become an important part of the global
economy. See, for example, a recent article by Paul Vigna and Michael ]. Casey, “BitBeat: The Fed’s
Surprisingly Warm Take on Bitcoin,” The Wall Street Journal (blogs.wsj.com), May 19, 2014.

*For a discussion of the role that these groups play in the funding process, see “Where Do
Crowdfunding Platforms Fit in Venture Capital?” The Wall Street Journal (blogs.wsj.com), May 2, 2014.

Derivatives

Any financial asset whose
value is derived from

the value of some other
“underlying” asset.
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SelfTest

To illustrate the growing importance of derivatives, consider the case of
credit default swaps (CDS).> Credit default swaps are contracts that offer protection
against the default of a particular security. Suppose a bank wants to protect itself
against the default of one of its borrowers. The bank could enter into a credit
default swap where it agrees to make regular payments to another financial insti-
tution. In return, that financial institution agrees to insure the bank against losses
that would occur if the borrower defaulted. The CDS market grew from less than
$1 trillion at the beginning of 2001 to over $60 trillion by the end of 2007 (the
beginning of the financial crisis). Almost 10 years later, the market is only at $10
trillion due to the impact of the financial crisis and tougher regulations on banks.
However, the CDS market is currently experiencing renewed growth due to recent
market volatility.®

Derivatives can be used to reduce risks or to speculate. Suppose a wheat
processor’s costs rise and its net income falls when the price of wheat rises. The
processor could reduce its risk by purchasing derivatives—wheat futures—whose
value increases when the price of wheat rises. This is a hedging operation, and its
purpose is to reduce risk exposure. Speculation, on the other hand, is done in the
hope of high returns; but it raises risk exposure. For example, several years ago
Procter & Gamble disclosed that it lost $150 million on derivative investments.
More recently, losses on mortgage-related derivatives helped contribute to the
credit collapse in 2008.

If a bank or any other company reports that it invests in derivatives, how can
one tell if the derivatives are held as a hedge against something like an increase in
the price of wheat or as a speculative bet that wheat prices will rise? The answer
is that it is very difficult to tell how derivatives are affecting the firm'’s risk profile.
In the case of financial institutions, things are even more complicated—the deriva-
tives are generally based on changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, or
stock prices, and a large international bank might have tens of thousands of sepa-
rate derivative contracts. The size and complexity of these transactions concern
regulators, academics, and members of Congress. Former Fed Chairperson Alan
Greenspan noted that in theory, derivatives should allow companies to better
manage risk, but that it is not clear whether recent innovations have increased or
decreased the inherent stability of the financial system.

V)

Distinguish between physical asset markets and financial asset markets.
What's the difference between spot markets and futures markets?
Distinguish between money markets and capital markets.

What's the difference between primary markets and secondary markets?
Differentiate between private and public markets.

Why are financial markets essential for a healthy economy and economic growth?

°A 2010 article in The New York Times reported that this market had grown from $900 billion in
2000 to more than $30 trillion in 2008. The article also describes how credit default swaps helped
contribute to the 2007-2008 financial crises in the United States and Europe. Refer to “Times Topics:
Credit Default Swaps,” The New York Times (topics.nytimes.com), March 10, 2010.

°Chris White, “The Rise and Fall of the Hottest Financial Product in the World,” Business Insider
(www.businessinsider.com), August 15, 2016; and Philip Stafford and Joe Rennison, “Credit Default
Swaps Activity Heats Up,” Financial Times (wWww.ft.com), February 4, 2016.
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Chapter 2 Financial Markets and Institutions

2-3 Financial Institutions

Direct funds transfers are common among individuals and small businesses and
in economies where financial markets and institutions are less developed. But
large businesses in developed economies generally find it more efficient to enlist
the services of a financial institution when it comes time to raise capital.

In the United States and other developed nations, a set of highly efficient
financial intermediaries has evolved. Their original roles were generally quite spe-
cific, and regulation prevented them from diversifying. However, in recent years
regulations against diversification have been largely removed; today, the differ-
ences between institutions have become blurred. Still, there remains a degree of
institutional identity. Therefore, it is useful to understand the major categories of
financial institutions. Keep in mind, though, that one company can own a number
of subsidiaries that engage in the different functions described next.

I.  Investment banks traditionally help companies raise capital. They (1) help
corporations design securities with features that are currently attractive to inves-
tors, (2) buy these securities from the corporation, and (3) resell them to savers.
Because the investment bank generally guarantees that the firm will raise the
needed capital, the investment bankers are also called underwriters. The credit
crisis has had a dramatic effect on the investment banking industry. Bear Stearns
collapsed and was later acquired by JP Morgan, Lehman Brothers went bank-
rupt, and Merrill Lynch was forced to sell out to Bank of America. The two “sur-
viving” major investment banks (Morgan Stanley and Goldman Sachs) received
Federal Reserve approval to become commercial bank holding companies.

2. Commercial banks, such as Bank of America, Citibank, Wells Fargo, and JP
Morgan Chase, are the traditional “department stores of finance” because
they serve a variety of savers and borrowers. Historically, commercial banks
were the major institutions that handled checking accounts and through
which the Federal Reserve System expanded or contracted the money sup-
ply. Today, however, several other institutions also provide checking services
and significantly influence the money supply. Note too that the larger banks
are generally part of financial services corporations as described next.”

3. Financial services corporations are large conglomerates that combine many
different financial institutions within a single corporation. Most financial
services corporations started in one area but have now diversified to cover
most of the financial spectrum. For example, Citigroup owns Citibank (a
commercial bank), an investment bank, a securities brokerage organization,
insurance companies, and leasing companies.

4. Credit unions are cooperative associations whose members are supposed to
have a common bond, such as being employees of the same firm. Members’
savings are loaned only to other members, generally for auto purchases,
home improvement loans, and home mortgages. Credit unions are often the
cheapest source of funds available to individual borrowers.

5. Pension funds are retirement plans funded by corporations or government
agencies for their workers and administered primarily by the trust depart-
ments of commercial banks or by life insurance companies. Pension funds
invest primarily in bonds, stocks, mortgages, and real estate.

6. Life insurance companies take savings in the form of annual premiums;
invest these funds in stocks, bonds, real estate, and mortgages; and make

"Two other institutions that were important a few years ago were savings and loan associations and
mutual savings banks. Most of these organizations have now been merged into commercial banks.

Investment Bank

An organization that
underwrites and distrib-
utes new investment
securities and helps busi-
nesses obtain financing.

Commercial Bank
The traditional depart-
ment store of finance
serving a variety of sav-
ers and borrowers.

Financial Services
Corporation

A firm that offers a wide
range of financial ser-
vices, including invest-
ment banking, brokerage
operations, insurance,
and commercial banking.
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Mutual Funds
Organizations that pool
investor funds to purchase
financial instruments and
thus reduce risks through
diversification.

Money Market Funds
Mutual funds that invest
in short-term, low-risk
securities and allow
investors to write checks
against their accounts.

payments to the beneficiaries of the insured parties. In recent years, life
insurance companies have also offered a variety of tax-deferred savings
plans designed to provide benefits to participants when they retire.

7. Mutual funds are corporations that accept money from savers and then use
these funds to buy stocks, long-term bonds, or short-term debt instruments
issued by businesses or government units. These organizations pool funds and
thus reduce risks by diversification. They also achieve economies of scale in
analyzing securities, managing portfolios, and buying and selling securities.
Different funds are designed to meet the objectives of different types of savers.
Hence, there are bond funds for those who prefer safety, stock funds for savers
who are willing to accept significant risks in the hope of higher returns, and
money market funds that are used as interest-bearing checking accounts.

Another important distinction exists between actively managed funds
and indexed funds. Actively managed funds try to outperform the overall
markets, whereas indexed funds are designed to simply replicate the perfor-
mance of a specific market index. For example, the portfolio manager of
an actively managed stock fund uses his or her expertise to select what he
or she thinks will be the best-performing stocks over a given time period.
By contrast, an index fund that tracks the S&P 500 index will simply hold
the basket of stocks that comprise the S&P 500. Both types of funds pro-
vide investors with valuable diversification, but actively managed funds
typically have much higher fees—in large part, because of the extra costs
involved in trying to select stocks that will (hopefully) outperform the
market. In any given year, the very best actively managed funds will
outperform the market index, but many will do worse than the overall
market—even before taking into account their higher fees. Furthermore,
it is extremely difficult to predict which actively managed funds will
beat the market in a particular year. For this reason, many academics and
practitioners have encouraged investors to rely more heavily on indexed
funds.®

There are literally thousands of different mutual funds with dozens of
different goals and purposes. Excellent information on the objectives and
past performances of the various funds are provided in publications such as
Value Line Investment Survey and Morningstar Mutual Funds, which are avail-
able in most libraries and on the Internet.

8. [Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs) are similar to regular mutual funds and are
often operated by mutual fund companies. ETFs buy a portfolio of stocks
of a certain type—for example, the S&P 500 or media companies or Chinese
companies—and then sell their own shares to the public. ETF shares are
generally traded in the public markets, so an investor who wants to invest in
the Chinese market, for example, can buy shares in an ETF that holds stocks
in that particular market. Table 2.2 provides a list of the top ETFs in early
March 2017 ranked according to the ETF’s assets under management (AUM).

9. Hedge funds are also similar to mutual funds because they accept money
from savers and use the funds to buy various securities, but there are some
important differences. While mutual funds (and ETFs) are registered and
regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), hedge funds
are largely unregulated. This difference in regulation stems from the fact

Refer to Mark Hulbert, “The Index Funds Win Again,” The New York Times (www.nytimes.com),
February 21, 2009; and Rick Ferri, “Index Fund Portfolios Reign Superior,” Forbes (www.forbes.com),
August 20, 2012.
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The 10 Largest Exchange Traded Funds (March 2017) TABLE 2.2
Assets Under Management
Symbol Fund Name ($ in billions) Underlying Index
SPY SPDR S&P 500 ETF $212.01 S&P 500
\4% iShares Core S&P 500 ETF 90.62 S&P 500
VTl Vanguard Total Stock Market ETF 69.56 CRSP US. Total Market
EFA iShares MSCI EAFE ETF 59.67 MSCI EAFE
VOO Vanguard S&P 500 ETF 56.49 S&P 500
QQQ PowerShares QQQ ETF 4530 NASDAQ 100
VWO Vanguard FTSE Emerging Markets ETF 43.95 FTSE Emerging
AGG iShares Core U.S. Aggregate Bond ETF 41.55 Barclays Capital U.S. Aggregate Bond
VEA Vanguard FTSE Developed Markets ETF 40.17 MSCI EAFE
IWM iShares Russell 2000 ETF 38.73 Russell 2000

Source: etfdb.com/compare/market-cap/

that mutual funds typically target small investors, whereas hedge funds
typically have large minimum investments (often exceeding $1 million) and
are marketed primarily to institutions and individuals with high net worths.
Hedge funds received their name because they traditionally were used when
an individual was trying to hedge risks. For example, a hedge fund manager
who believes that interest rate differentials between corporate and Treasury
bonds are too large might simultaneously buy a portfolio of corporate bonds
and sell a portfolio of Treasury bonds. In this case, the portfolio would be
“hedged” against overall movements in interest rates, but it would perform
especially well if the spread between these securities became smaller.

However, some hedge funds take on risks that are considerably higher
than that of an average individual stock or mutual fund. For example,
Paulson & Company, a firm that profited during the 2008 subprime mort-
gage crisis, has lost half of its hedge fund’s assets during the last 9 years.
The fund made a big bet on Valeant, a Canadian pharmaceutical company
that has recently been accused of improper accounting and predatory price
hikes, and it invested in other struggling pharmaceutical companies. The
fund’s estimated losses could total $4 billion. In fact, during 2016, John
Paulson, the hedge fund manager, actually pledged personal holdings as
additional collateral for a line of credit to help bolster the fund.’

Table 2.3 lists the 10 largest hedge funds for 2016. As evidence of their
growing importance, each of these funds controls more than $25 billion
in assets. While hedge funds have grown tremendously over the past two
decades, the road has been a bit bumpy in recent years. Hedge fund assets
under management fell sharply after the financial crisis, and it wasn’t until
2013 that they once again reached their pre-crisis levels. At the same time,
many hedge funds have come under fire for their high fees and sub-optimal
performance. They have also faced increased competition from other prod-
ucts and investment advisors. In the midst of this challenging environment,
some funds have reduced their minimum investment requirements and fees.

°Nathan Reiff, “The Biggest Hedge Fund Failures of 2016,” Investopedia (www.investopedia.com),
January 6, 2017.
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4

LOWER FEES MOTIVATE INVESTORSTO M 2'

INDEX FUNDS

In the text, we point out that actively managed funds and
hedge funds often have considerably higher fees than
passive investment products that include index funds and
ETFs. A passive fund generally costs less because you don't
have to pay a group of often expensive fund managers to
try to beat the market—instead, the fund is just simply
replicating the given market using technology. If anything,
increased competition and improving technology have
further accelerated the drop in passive investment fees.
For example, a 2017 Wall Street Journal article utilizing
Morningstar data reports that the average annual cost
per $10,000 invested in an actively managed U.S. stock
fund is $81—which is more than five times higher than
the $14 average cost for passively managed U.S. stock
funds. Moreover, more than 100 passive mutual funds
and exchange traded funds charge less than $10 for every
$10,000 invested.

As you might expect this gap in fees has led many inves-
tors to shift their money toward passive products. A 2016
CNBC report illustrates the relative inflow into passive funds
since 2009:

Further strengthening the case for passive investments is
the historical evidence, which has convincingly shown that
the average actively managed fund typically fails to produce
higher returns than the corresponding index funds. So, inves-
tors in actively managed products are often paying more for
poorer relative performance. Keep in mind, however, that in
any given year, the best-performing actively managed funds
will outperform the corresponding index. The challenge, how-
ever, is to find funds that consistently beat the overall market.

Relatedly, Warren Buffet attracted a lot of attention in 2007
when he made a“million-dollar bet” with Ted Seides, co-manag-
er of the asset-management firm Protégé Partners. Each party
put $500,000 toward charity and the bet concerned which of
two hypothetical investments would generate the highest per-
formance over the following 10 years. Buffet’s investment was
in a low-cost S&P 500 index fund managed by Vanguard. Seides
chose instead to invest in five hedge funds. In March 2017,
Buffett gleefully reported the results to date in his 2016 letter to
shareholders: after 9 years (with 1 year left in the challenge) the
index fund is up 85.4%, which translates into an average annual
compounded return of 7.1%. By contrast, the five hedge funds
were up only 22%, which corresponds to a 2.2% annual return.

Flows by year: active vs. passive ($mn), 2009-YTD 2016 (through 7/2016)
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Sources: Tom Anderson, “Investors Say ‘Forget It' to Active Funds,” CNBC (www.cnbc.com), August 29, 2016; Carol J. Loomis, “Warren Buffett
Scorches the Hedge Funds,” Fortune (www.fortune.com), February 25, 2017; Jason Zweig and Sarah Krouse, “Fees on Mutual Funds and ETFs
Tumble Toward Zero,” The Wall Street Journal (www.wsj.com), January 26, 2016; and Warren Buffett's Annual Letter to Berkshire Hathaway
Shareholders, www.berkshirehathaway.com/letters/2016ltr.pdf, February 25, 2017.

10. Private equity companies are organizations that operate much like hedge
funds, but rather than purchasing some of the stock of a firm, private equi-
ty players buy and then manage entire firms. Most of the money used to
buy the target companies is borrowed. While private equity activity slowed
around the financial crisis, over the past decade a number of high-profile

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Chapter 2 Financial Markets and Institutions

The 10 Largest Hedge Funds (2016) TABLE 2.3
Fund Assets under Management ($ in billions)
Bridgewater Associates 146.3
AQR Capital Management 74.0
Man Group 53.1
Och-Ziff Capital Management 420
Standard Life Investments 384
Winton Capital Management 345
Millennium Management 33.0
Renaissance Technologies 323
BlackRock Alternative Investors 31.0
Two Sigma Investments 31.0

Source: “The $1 Billion Club: Largest Hedge Fund Managers,” ValueWalk (www.valuewalk.com), May 26, 2016.

companies (including H.J. Heinz, Dell Computer, Harrah’s Entertainment,
Albertson’s, Neiman Marcus, and Clear Channel) have been acquired

by private equity firms. More recently, on January 29, 2016, The Carlyle
Group completed its deal to spin off Veritas, a data storage division, from
Symantec for $7.4 billion. Also, on March 3, 2016, JAB Holdings, a privately
held investor group, acquired Keurig Green Mountain for $14.2 billion.
And, on September 7, 2016, with assistance from private equity firm Silver
Lake, Dell acquired EMC for $60 billion, making Dell the world’s larg-

est privately controlled tech company. Other leading private equity firms
include 3G Capital, Kohlberg Kravis Roberts, and The Blackstone Group.

With the exception of hedge funds and private equity companies, financial
institutions are regulated to ensure the safety of these institutions and to pro-
tect investors. Historically, many of these regulations—which have included a
prohibition on nationwide branch banking, restrictions on the types of assets
the institutions could purchase, ceilings on the interest rates they could pay, and
limitations on the types of services they could provide—tended to impede the free
flow of capital and thus hurt the efficiency of the capital markets. Recognizing
this fact, policymakers took several steps during the 1980s and 1990s to deregu-
late financial services companies. For example, the restriction barring nationwide
branching by banks was eliminated in 1999.

Many believed that excessive deregulation and insufficient supervision of the
financial sector were partially responsible for the 2007-2008 financial crisis. With
these concerns in mind, Congress passed the Dodd-Frank Act. The legislation’s
main goals were to create a new agency for consumer protection, work to increase
the transparency of derivative transactions, and force financial institutions to take
steps to limit excessive risk taking and to hold more capital. Since its enactment,
the effectiveness of Dodd-Frank has been vigorously debated. Some have argued
that it has effectively accomplished its main goals—while others (including
President Trump) contend that it has imposed significant compliance costs on the
financial services industry and have called for its repeal.”

“Alan S. Blinder, “Washington Protects Wall Street at Ordinary Citizens’ Expense,” The Wall Street
Journal (www.wsj.com), February 12, 2017; and Dave Michaels, “Trump’s Man for the SEC: Time to
Ease Regulation,” The Wall Street Journal (www.wsj.com), February 19, 2017.
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TABLE 2.4

SelfTest

Largest Banks and Underwriters

Panel A Panel B Panel C

U.S. Bank Holding World Banking Leading Global IPO
Companies?® Companies® Underwriters®

JP Morgan Chase & Co. Industrial & Commercial Morgan Stanley

Bank of America Corp.

Wells Fargo & Co.

Citigroup Inc.

Goldman Sachs Group,
Inc.

Morgan Stanley

U.S. Bancorp

Bank of New York
Mellon Corp.

PNC Financial Services
Group, Inc.

Capital One Financial
Corporation

Bank of China Ltd (China)

China Construction Bank
Corporation (China)

Agricultural Bank of China
Ltd (China)

Bank of China Ltd (China)
BNP Paribas SA (France)

JPMorgan Chase Bank
National Assoc. (USA)

Deutsche Bank AG
(Germany)

Japan Post Bank Co. Ltd
(Japan)

China Development Bank
Corp (China)

Credit Agricole SA (France)

Goldman Sachs

JPMorgan

UBS
BofA Merrill Lynch

Citi

Deutsche Bank

Credit Suisse

Barclays

HSBC Holdings PLC

Notes:

?Ranked by total assets as of September 30, 2016.
Source: National Information Center, www.ffiec.gov/nicpubweb/nicweb/HCSGreaterThan10B.aspx.

PRanked by total assets from balance sheet information available on April 26, 2016.

Source: https://accuity.com/resources/bank-rankings/.

‘Ranked by dollar amount raised through new IPO issues in 2015. For this ranking, the lead underwriter
(manager) is given credit for the entire issue.
Source: Thomson Reuters, “Global Equity Capital Markets Review: Managing Underwriters, Full Year 2015,”

dmi.thomsonreuters.com/Content/Files/4Q2015_Global_Equity_Capital_ Markets_Review.pdf, December 31,
2015, p. 3.

Panel A of Table 2.4 lists the 10 largest U.S. bank holding companies, and Panel
B shows the leading world banking companies. Among the world’s 10 largest, only
one is based in the United States. While U.S. banks have grown dramatically as a
result of recent mergers, they are still small by global standards. Panel C of the table
lists the 10 leading global IPO underwriters in terms of dollar volume of new equi-
ty issues. Six of the top underwriters are also listed as major commercial banks or
are part of bank holding companies shown in Panels A and B, which confirms the
continued blurring of distinctions between different types of financial institutions.

vV

What's the difference between a commercial bank and an investment bank?

List the major types of financial institutions, and briefly describe the primary
function of each.

What are some important differences between mutual funds, Exchange Traded
Funds, and hedge funds? How are they similar?
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SECURITIZATION HAS DRAMATICALLY TRA

THE BANKING INDUSTRY$

At one time, commercial banking was a simpler business than
it is today. A typical bank received money from its depositors
and used it to make loans. In the vast majority of cases, the
banker held the loan on its books until it matured. Because
they originated the loan and continued to hold it on their
books, the banks generally knew the risks involved. However,
because banks often had limited funding, there was a cap
on the number of loans they could hold on their books. And
because most of the loans were made to individuals and busi-
nesses in their local market, banks were less able to spread
their risk.

To address these concerns, financial engineers came up
with the idea of securitizing loans. This is a process whereby
an agent (such as an investment bank) creates an entity that
buys a large number of loans from a wide range of banks and
then issues securities that are backed by the loan payments.
Securitization began in the 1970s when government-backed
entities purchased pools of home mortgages and then issued
securities backed by the cash flows from the diversified
portfolio of mortgages. In many respects, securitization was
a tremendous innovation. Banks no longer had to hold their
mortgages, so they could quickly convert the originated loan
to cash, enabling them to redeploy their capital to make
other loans. At the same time, the newly created securities
gave investors an opportunity to invest in a diversified port-
folio of home mortgages. In addition, these securities traded
on the open market so that investors were able to easily buy
and sell them as their circumstances and views of the mort-
gage markets changed over time.

Over the last few decades, this process has accelerated.
Bankers have securitized different types of loans into all types
of different securities. One notable example is collateralized
debt obligations (CDOs), where an entity issues several classes
of securities backed by a portfolio of loans. For example, an
investment bank purchases $100 million of mortgage loans
from banks and mortgage brokers throughout the country.
The investment bank uses the collateral to create $100 mil-
lion in new securities, which are divided into three classes
(often referred to as tranches). The Class A bonds have the

first claim on the cash flows from the mortgages. Because
they have the first claim, they are the least risky and are rated
AAA by the rating agencies. The Class B bonds get paid after
the Class A bonds are paid, but they too will generally have
a high rating. Finally, the Class C bonds get paid. Because
they are last in line, they will have the highest risk, but they
will also sell for the lowest price. If the underlying mortgages
perform well, the C bonds will realize the highest returns, but
they will suffer the most if the underlying mortgages don't
perform well.

CDOs backed by pools of higher risk (subprime) mort-
gages played a major role in the 2007-2008 financial crisis.
During the housing boom, financial institutions and mort-
gage brokers originated a large number of new mortgages,
and investment bankers hungry for fees were more than
happy to create new CDOs backed by these subprime mort-
gages. The securities created through these CDOs were sold
primarily to other commercial and investment banks and
to other financial institutions, such as hedge funds, mutual
funds, and pension funds. Buoyed by the mistaken belief that
housing prices would never fall, many viewed these securities
as solid investments, and they received additional comfort
from the fact that they were highly rated.

When the housing market collapsed, the value of these
securities plummeted, destroying the balance sheets of many
financial institutions. Making matters worse, it became very
hard to value these securities because they were backed
by such a large, diverse pool of mortgages. Not sure what
they had on their books, many institutions tried to sell these
securities at the same time, and the “rush to the exit” further
depressed prices, causing the cycle to deepen.

Following the crisis, many have looked to reform the
securitization business, and others have criticized the rating
agencies for routinely assigning high credit ratings to what
in hindsight were extremely risky securities. At the same
time, an article in Barron’s highlights the important role that
securitization plays in the capital markets and raises concerns
that the economy won't thrive again until the securitization
business recovers.

Source: David Adler, “A Flat Dow for 10 Years? Why It Could Happen,” Barron's (www.barrons.com), December 28, 2009.

2-4 The Stock Market

As noted earlier, outstanding, previously issued securities are traded in the sec-
ondary markets. Approximately 75% of U.S. stocks are owned by long-term inves-
tors, while only 25% are held by short-term investors." By far, the most active

Refer to Rebecca Darr and Tim Koller, “How to Build an Alliance Against Corporate Short-
Termism,” McKinsey & Company (www.mckinsey.com), January 2017.
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secondary market—and the most important one to financial managers—is the
stock market, where the prices of firms’ stocks are established. Because the primary
goal of financial managers is to maximize their firms’ stock prices, knowledge of
the stock market is important to anyone involved in managing a business.

There are a number of different stock markets. The two leaders are NYSE and
NASDAQ. Stocks are traded using a variety of market procedures, but there are
two basic types: (1) physical location exchanges, which include the NYSE and several
regional stock exchanges, and (2) electronic dealer-based markets, which include the
NASDAQ, the less formal over-the-counter market, and the recently developed
electronic communications networks (ECNs). (See the box titled “The NYSE and
NASDAQ Go Global.”) Because the physical location exchanges are easier to
describe and understand, we discuss them first.

2-4A PHYSICAL LOCATION STOCK EXCHANGES

Physical Location Physical location exchanges are tangible entities. Each of the larger exchanges
Exchanges occupies its own building, allows a limited number of people to trade on its floor,
Formal organizations and has an elected governing body—its board of governors. Members of the

having tangible physical  NYSE formerly had “seats” on the exchange, although everybody stood. Today
Iocat.ions that copduct. the seats have been exchanged for trading licenses, which are auctioned to mem-
auctlon”r.narkfts In desig- o organizations and cost about $50,000 per year. Most of the larger investment
nated (“listed”) securities.
banks operate brokerage departments. They purchase seats on the exchanges and
designate one or more of their officers as members. The exchanges are open on all
normal working days, with the members meeting in a large room equipped with
telephones and other electronic equipment that enable each member to communi-
cate with his or her firm’s offices throughout the country.

Like other markets, security exchanges facilitate communication between buy-
ers and sellers. For example, Goldman Sachs (the second-largest brokerage firm)
might receive an order from a customer who wants to buy shares of GE stock.
Simultaneously, Morgan Stanley (the largest brokerage firm) might receive an
order from a customer wanting to sell shares of GE. Each broker communicates
electronically with the firm’s representative on the NYSE. Other brokers through-
out the country are also communicating with their own exchange members. The
exchange members with sell orders offer the shares for sale, and they are bid for
by the members with buy orders. Thus, the exchanges operate as auction markets.'?

?The NYSE is actually a modified auction market wherein people (through their brokers) bid for
stocks. Originally—in 1792—brokers would literally shout, “I have 100 shares of Erie for sale; how
much am I offered?” and then sell to the highest bidder. If a broker had a buy order, he or she
would shout, “I want to buy 100 shares of Erie; who'll sell at the best price?” The same general
situation still exists, although the exchanges now have members known as specialists who facilitate
the trading process by keeping an inventory of shares of the stocks in which they specialize. If a
buy order comes in at a time when no sell order arrives, the specialist will sell some inventory.
Similarly, if a sell order comes in, the specialist will buy and add to inventory. The specialist sets

a bid price (the price the specialist will pay for the stock) and an ask price (the price at which shares
will be sold out of inventory). The bid and ask prices are set at levels designed to keep the inven-
tory in balance. If many buy orders start coming in because of favorable developments, or many
sell orders come in because of unfavorable events, the specialist will raise or lower prices to keep
supply and demand in balance. Bid prices are somewhat lower than ask prices, with the difference,
or spread, representing the specialist’s profit margin. Special facilities are available to help institu-
tional investors such as mutual or pension funds sell large blocks of stock without depressing their
prices. In essence, brokerage houses that cater to institutional clients will purchase blocks (defined
as 10,000 or more shares) and then resell the stock to other institutions or individuals. Also, when
a firm has a major announcement that is likely to cause its stock price to change sharply, it will ask
the exchange to halt trading in its stock until the announcement has been made and the resulting
information has been digested by investors.
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@) GLOBAL PERSPECTIVES

@mm The NYSE and NASDAQ Go Global

Advances in computers and telecommunications that spurred
consolidation in the financial services industry have also pro-
moted online trading systems that bypass the traditional
exchanges. These systems, which are known as electronic com-
munications networks (ECNs), use electronic technology to bring
buyers and sellers together. The rise of ECNs accelerated the
move toward 24-hour trading. U.S. investors who wanted to
trade after the U.S. markets closed could utilize an ECN, thus
bypassing the NYSE and NASDAQ.

Recognizing the new threat, the NYSE and NASDAQ took
action. First, both exchanges went public, which enabled them
to use their stock as “currency” that could be used to buy ECNs
and other exchanges across the globe. For example, NASDAQ
acquired the Philadelphia Stock Exchange, several ECNs, and 15%
of the London Stock Exchange. NASDAQ has continued acquiring
companies. On February 25, 2016, NASDAQ acquired Marketwired
to strengthen its global corporate services. And, on June 30,
2016, NASDAQ acquired International Securities Exchange (ISE) to
strengthen its equities options business. The NYSE also looked for
acquisition targets, including a merger with the largest European
exchange, Euronext, to form NYSE Euronext and then acquiring
the American Stock Exchange (AMEX).

However, NYSE Euronext itself became a takeover target,
when it was acquired by the Intercontinental Exchange (ICE) on
November 3, 2013. The deal combined ICE’s futures, over-the-
counter, and derivatives trading with the NYSE's stock trading. On
June 24, 2014, ICE spun off Euronext. On January 31, 2017, the
NYSE acquired National Stock Exchange, which gives the NYSE
Group an additional U.S. exchange license. Also, the NYSE has
announced plans to allow trading of all U.S. stocks and exchange
traded funds on its trading floor. Most of the U.S. stock exchanges
already allow trading of any security, no matter where it is listed.
NYSE’s move is seen to be a response to IEX Group Inc., an upstart
trading company wanting to level the playing field between ultra-
fast traders and traditional investors.

These actions illustrate the growing importance of global
trading, especially electronic trading. Indeed, many pundits have
concluded that the floor traders who buy and sell stocks on the
NYSE and other physical exchanges will soon become a thing of
the past. That may or may not be true, but it is clear that stock trad-
ing will continue to undergo dramatic changes in the upcoming
years. To find a wealth of up-to-date information on the NYSE and
NASDAQ, go to Google (or another search engine) and do NYSE
history and NASDAQ history searches.

Sources: John McCrank and Luke Jeffs, “ICE to Buy NYSE Euronext for $8.2 Billion,” www.reuters.com, December 20, 2012; Inti Landauro, “ICE Plans
Euronext IPO," The Wall Street Journal (www.wsj.com), May 27, 2014; Alex Gavrish, “Euronext NV: Recent Spin-Off Warrants Further Monitoring,” ValueWalk
(www.valuewalk.com), August 25, 2014; “Nasdaq Reaches 52-Week High on Compelling Acquisitions,” www.nasdag.com, March 14, 2016; “NYSE Agrees
to Acquire National Stock Exchange,” Business Wire (www.businesswire.com), December 14, 2016; and Alexander Osipovich, “NYSE to Open Floor Trading
to Stocks Listed at Rival Exchanges,’ The Wall Street Journal (www.wsj.com), January 11, 2017.

2-4B OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC) AND THE NASDAQ

STOCK MARKETS

Although the stocks of most large companies trade on the NYSE, a larger number
of stocks trade off the exchange in what was traditionally referred to as the over-
the-counter (OTC) market. An explanation of the term over-the-counter will help
clarify how this term arose. As noted earlier, the exchanges operate as auction
markets—buy and sell orders come in more or less simultaneously, and exchange
members match these orders. When a stock is traded infrequently, perhaps
because the firm is new or small, few buy and sell orders come in, and matching
them within a reasonable amount of time is difficult. To avoid this problem, some
brokerage firms maintain an inventory of such stocks and stand prepared to make
a market for them. These “dealers” buy when individual investors want to sell,
and they sell part of their inventory when investors want to buy. At one time, the
inventory of securities was kept in a safe, and the stocks, when bought and sold,
were literally passed over the counter.

Today these markets are often referred to as dealer markets. A dealer market
includes all facilities that are needed to conduct security transactions, but the trans-
actions are not made on the physical location exchanges. The dealer market system

Over-the-Counter
(OTC) Market

A large collection of
brokers and dealers,
connected electroni-
cally by telephones and
computers, that provides
for trading in unlisted
securities.

Dealer Markets
Include all facilities that
are needed to conduct
security transactions not
conducted on the physi-
cal location exchanges.
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consists of (1) the relatively few dealers who hold inventories of these securities
and who are said to “make a market” in these securities, (2) the thousands of bro-
kers who act as agents in bringing the dealers together with investors, and (3) the
computers, terminals, and electronic networks that provide a communication link
between dealers and brokers. The dealers who make a market in a particular stock
quote the price at which they will pay for the stock (the bid price) and the price at
which they will sell shares (the ask price). Each dealer’s prices, which are adjusted
as supply and demand conditions change, can be seen on computer screens across
the world. The bid-ask spread, which is the difference between bid and ask prices,
represents the dealer’s markup, or profit. The dealer’s risk increases when the
stock is more volatile or when the stock trades infrequently. Generally, we would
expect volatile, infrequently traded stocks to have wider spreads in order to com-
pensate the dealers for assuming the risk of holding them in inventory.

Brokers and dealers who participate in the OTC market are members of a
self-regulatory body known as the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA),
which licenses brokers and oversees trading practices. The computerized network
used by FINRA is known as NASDAQ, which originally stood for “National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations.”

NASDAQ started as a quotation system, but it has grown to become an orga-
nized securities market with its own listing requirements. Over the past decade, the
competition between the NYSE and NASDAQ has become increasingly fierce. As
noted earlier, the NASDAQ has invested in the London Stock Exchange and other
market makers, while the NYSE merged with Euronext (which was later spun off)
and was purchased by Intercontinental Exchange—further adding to the competi-
tion. Because most of the larger companies trade on the NYSE, the market capital-
ization of NYSE-traded stocks is much higher than for stocks traded on NASDAQ.
As of December 31, 2016, the market cap of listed companies on the NYSE was over
$20.2 trillion and those listed companies had over 447 billion shares outstanding."

Interestingly, many high-tech companies such as Microsoft, Google (now
Alphabet Inc.), and Intel have remained on NASDAQ even though they meet
the listing requirements of the NYSE. At the same time, however, other high-tech
companies have left NASDAQ for the NYSE. Despite these defections, NASDAQ's
growth over the past decade has been impressive. In the years ahead, competition
between NASDAQ and NYSE will no doubt remain fierce.

SelfTest
What are the differences between the physical location exchanges and the NASDAQ
O stock market?
What is the bid-ask spread?
Closely Held 2-5 The Market for Common Stock
Corporation

A corporation that is
owned by a few indi-
viduals who are typically
associated with the firm's
management.

Some companies are so small that their common stocks are not actively traded;
they are owned by relatively few people, usually the companies’ managers. These
firms are said to be privately owned, or closely held, corporations; their stock is
called closely held stock. In contrast, the stocks of most large companies are owned
by thousands of investors, most of whom are not active in management. These

PRefer to “NYSE Group Shares Outstanding and Market Capitalization of Companies Listed, 2016,”
www.nyxdata.com/nysedata/asp/factbook/viewer_edition.asp?mode=tables&key=333&category=>5,
February 14, 2017.
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companies are called publicly owned corporations, and their stock is called pub-
licly held stock.

2-5A TYPES OF STOCK MARKET TRANSACTIONS

We can classify stock market transactions into three distinct categories:

I Outstanding shares of established publicly owned companies that are traded: the
secondary market. Allied Food Products, the company we study in Chapters 3
and 4, has 50 million shares of stock outstanding. If the owner of 100 shares
sells his or her stock, the trade is said to have occurred in the secondary market.
Thus, the market for outstanding shares, or used shares, is the secondary mar-
ket. The company receives no new money when sales occur in this market.

2. Additional shares sold by established publicly owned companies: the primary market.
If Allied Food decides to sell (or issue) an additional 1 million shares to raise
new equity capital, this transaction is said to occur in the primary market.**

3. Initial public offerings made by privately held firms: the IPO market. Whenever
stock in a closely held corporation is offered to the public for the first time,
the company is said to be going public. The market for stock that is just
being offered to the public is called the initial public offering (IPO) market.
In the summer of 2004, Google sold shares to the public for the first time
at $85 per share. By March 2017, its parent company’s stock (Alphabet
Inc.) was selling for more than $830. Another noteworthy deal was when
General Motors (GM) went public as part of its reorganization following its
government bailout. Other high-profile recent IPOs include LinkedIn Corp,
Alibaba, Facebook, Twitter, and Snap (the parent company of Snapchat).

The number of new IPOs rises and falls with the stock market. When the market
is strong, many companies go public to bring in new capital and to give their found-
ers an opportunity to cash out some of their shares. As you might expect, not all IPOs
are well received. The most striking example is Facebook, which had the largest and
highest-profile IPO of 2012. Amid much fanfare, the company went public on May
18, 2012, at a price of $38 per share. In the 2 weeks after the IPO, the stock had fallen
to below $28, and just a few months later in September, the price reached a low of
$17.55. By year-end 2012, the stock rebounded to $26.62, which was still 30% below
the initial offering price. So, although Facebook raised a lot of money through its
IPO, its initial investors did not quickly realize the big return that many were looking
to capture. However, it is important to note that despite its rocky start, investors who
continued to hold Facebook stock did quite well. In contrast, the box titled “Initial
Buzz Surrounding IPOs Doesn’t Always Translate into Long-Lasting Success” dem-
onstrates Twitter’s disappointing post-IPO performance, despite a much higher
first-day return. These experiences led many analysts to ask the following question
in early 2017 following Snap’s IPO: “Is Snap the next Facebook or the next Twitter”?'

Even if you are able to identify a “hot” issue, it is often difficult to purchase
shares in the initial offering. These deals are often oversubscribed, which means that
the demand for shares at the offering price exceeds the number of shares issued.
In such instances, investment bankers favor large institutional investors (who are
their best customers), and small investors find it hard, if not impossible, to get in

“Allied has 60 million shares authorized but only 50 million outstanding; thus, it has 10 million
authorized but unissued shares. If it had no authorized but unissued shares, management could
increase the authorized shares by obtaining stockholders’ approval, which would generally be
granted without any arguments.

®Mathew Ingram, “Is Snap the Next Facebook or the Next Twitter?,” Fortune (www.fortune.com),
February 2, 2017.

Publicly Owned
Corporation

A corporation that is
owned by a relatively
large number of individ-
uals who are not actively
involved in the firm’s
management.

Going Public

The act of selling stock to
the public at large by a
closely held corporation or
its principal stockholders.

Initial Public Offering
(IPO) Market

The market for stocks of
companies that are in the
process of going public.

For information on IPOs,
refer to Professor Jay Ritter’s
(University of Florida) web
page site.warrington.ufl
.edu/ritter/ipo-data/.
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INITIAL BUZZ SURROUNDING IPOs DC

sN’T ALWAYS

TRANSLATE INTO LONG-LASTING SUCCESS

A recent article in Fortune cautions IPO investors: “Don’t
be fooled by the drama of first-day performance.” The arti-
cle suggests that there is not always a strong correla-
tion between the market’s initial reaction to an IPO and
the stock’s longer-run performance. As a case in point,
Fortune compares the post-IPO performance of Facebook
and Twitter. As we mention in the text, Facebook’s stock

slid sharply in the aftermath of its IPO. However, since then
Facebook’s stock has impressively rebounded. By contrast,
Twitter’s IPO generated a lot of initial buzz, but since then the
stock has languished. In mid-February 2017, its share price
hovered around $16.40. The chart below illustrates Twitter’s
post-IPO struggles and highlights the major events the com-
pany faced after going public.

Price Twitter Stock Price
12/26/13
80 1 All-time high 7/29/14 World 2/6/15 4th Qtr.
Cup boosts user ~ revenue beats
growth estimates

!

40 -

2/5/14 Qtrly earnings
20 — call reveals concerns
around user growth &
losses

0 T T T T T T T T T ]
11/7/2013 3/7/2014 7/7/2014 11/7/2014 3/7/2015 7/7/2015 11/7/2015 3/7/2016 7/7/2016 11/7/2016 3/7/2017

Source: Erin Griffith, “The Tale of Two IPOs: Facebook and Twitter,” Fortune (www.fortune.com), February 19, 2015; and finance.
yahoo.com for daily historical prices.

on the ground floor. They can buy the stock in the aftermarket, but evidence sug-
gests that when an investor does not get in on the ground floor, over the long run
IPOs often underperform the overall market.’® Other critics point out that when
an IPO’s price dramatically jumps the first day of trading, this implies that the
underwriter set the price too low and failed to maximize the issuer’s potential
proceeds by “leaving money on the table.”"’

Google’s highly publicized IPO attracted attention both because of its size
(Google raised $1.67 billion in stock) and because of the way the sale was con-
ducted. Rather than having the offer price set by its investment bankers, Google
conducted a Dutch auction, where individual investors placed bids for shares
directly. In a Dutch auction, the actual transaction price is set at the highest price
(the clearing price) that causes all of the offered shares to be sold. Investors who
set their bids at or above the clearing price received all of the shares they sub-
scribed to at the offer price, which turned out to be $85. While Google’s IPO was
in many ways precedent setting, few companies going public since then have been
willing or able to use the Dutch auction method to allocate their IPO shares.

It is important to recognize that firms can go public without raising any addi-
tional capital. For example, the Ford Motor Company was once owned exclusively

“See Jay R. Ritter, “The Long-Run Performance of Initial Public Offerings,” Journal of Finance, vol. 46,
no. 1 (March 1991), pp. 3-27. Professor Ritter’s summary of more recent IPO data is provided in

the following article: Miriam Gottfried, “Reaping IPO Riches Isn't a Snap,” The Wall Street Journal,
March 9, 2017, p. B12.

"See, for example, the online column by Professor Hersh Shefrin, “Why Twitter’s IPO Was Really a
Failure,” Forbes (www.forbes.com), November 8, 2013.
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by the Ford family. When Henry Ford died, he left a substantial part of his stock
to the Ford Foundation. When the Foundation later sold some of the stock to the
general public, the Ford Motor Company went public, even though the company
itself raised no capital in the transaction.

SelfTest

O Differentiate between closely held and publicly owned corporations.

Differentiate between primary and secondary markets.
What is an IPO?

What is a Dutch auction, and what company used this procedure for its [IPO?

2-6 Stock Markets and Returns

Anyone who has invested in the stock market knows that there can be (and
generally are) large differences between expected and realized prices and returns.
Figure 2.2 shows how total realized portfolio returns have varied from year to
year. As logic would suggest (and as is demonstrated in Chapter 9), a stock’s
expected return as estimated by investors at the margin is always positive; other-
wise, investors would not buy the stock. However, as Figure 2.2 shows, in some
years, actual returns are negative.

2-6A STOCK MARKET REPORTING

Up until a few years ago, the best source of stock quotations was the business sec-
tion of daily newspapers such as The Wall Street Journal. One problem with news-
papers, however, is that they report yesterday’s prices. Now it is possible to obtain
quotes throughout the day from a wide variety of Internet sources. One of the
best is Yahoo!’s finance.yahoo.com; Figure 2.3 shows a detailed quote for Twitter,

S&P 500 Index, Total Returns: Dividend Yield + Capital Gain or Loss,
1968-2016
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Source: Data taken from various issues of The Wall Street Journal “Investment Scoreboard” section and “S&P 500 Annual Total Return
Historical Data,” ycharts.com/indicators/sandp_500_total_return_annual, February 9, 2017.
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m Stock Quote for Twitter, Inc., February 10, 2017

Mtt'r. Inc. [TW'I'R]

1 Add to watchlist

NYSE Real Time Price. Cummency in USD

16.63 -0.78 (-4.74%

As of 3-17PM EST Market open
Summary TV TS ST ¥ ' 1 al Data '

Previous Close 16.41  Market Cop 11.098 1D 5D 1M 6M YTD 1Y 2¥ 5Y MAX o Interactive chart

Open 1596 Beta 0.9 7500

Bid T 18.12

Ask 0.00x EPS(TTM) 0.8 an
Eamings Feb 8, 2017 - Feb

Day's Range 15.50 - 16.00 Date 13, 2017 il

52Week Range  1373.2525 Oricndd NA (NA) —
Ex-Dividend

Volume 65,297,954 Date NA 000

Avg Volume namas [ T 16.57

Source: Twitter, Inc. (TWTR), finance.yahoo.com.

Inc. (TWTR) for February 10, 2017. As the heading shows, Twitter is traded on the
NYSE under the symbol TWTR. The information right below the company name
and ticker symbol shows the real-time quote at 3:17 p.m. EST of $15.63, which
is down $0.78 (or —4.74%) from the previous day’s close. Twitter stock closed
on Thursday, February 9, 2017, at $16.41 per share and it opened for trading on
Friday, February 10, 2017, at $15.96 per share. As of mid-afternoon February 10,
2017, Twitter’s stock had traded from a low of $15.50 to a high of $16.00 and the
price range during the past 52 weeks was between $13.73 and $25.25.

The two lines above the daily and yearly price range give the bid (buy) and ask
(sell) price range for the stock—the difference between the two represents the deal-
er’s spread or profit. (In this example, there are no bid and ask price data.) As of
mid-afternoon February 10, 65,297,954 shares of stock had traded hands. Twitter’s
average daily trading volume (based on the past 3 months) was 17,878,435 shares,
so trading on this day looks to be well above the average daily trading volume.

The total value of all of Twitter’s stock, called its market cap, was $11.09 bil-
lion. Its beta (a measure of the stock’s volatility relative to the market) is 0.99. So,
Twitter’s stock price essentially mimicks the market. Twitter’s P/E ratio (price per
share divided by the most recent 12 months’ earnings) is —18.12, and its earnings
per share for the most recent 12 months was —$0.86. The firm’s next earnings
announcement is estimated between February 8 and February 13. The 1-year tar-
get estimate represents the median 1-year target price as forecasted by analysts
covering the stock. It is estimated at $16.57. Twitter doesn’t pay a dividend so the
dividend and yield information is shown as N/A (not applicable).

In Figure 2.3, the chart to the right plots the stock price during the day; however,
the links above the chart allow you to pick different time intervals for plotting data.
As you can see, Yahoo! provides a great deal of information in its detailed quote, and
even more detail is available on the screen page below the basic quote information.
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MEASURING THE MARKET

Stock market indexes are designed to show the performance
of the stock market. However, there are many stock indexes,
and it is difficult to determine which index best reflects market
actions. Some are designed to represent the entire stock market,
some track the returns of certain industry sectors, and others
track the returns of small-cap, mid-cap, or large-cap stocks. In
addition, there are indexes for different countries. We discuss
here the three leading U.S. indexes. These indexes are used as
a benchmark for comparing individual stocks with the overall
market, for measuring the trend in stock prices over time, and
for determining how various economic factors affect the market.

Dow Jones Industrial Average

Unveiled in 1896 by Charles H. Dow, the Dow Jones Industrial
Average (DJIA) began with just 10 stocks, was expanded
in 1916 to 20 stocks, and then was increased to 30 stocks
in 1928, when the editors of The Wall Street Journal began
adjusting the index for stock splits and making periodic
substitutions. In 2015, Apple replaced AT&T on the DJIA, rec-
ognizing the importance of computer technology and social
media companies. Today the DJIA still includes 30 companies.
They represent about a fifth of the market value of all U.S.
stocks, and all are leading companies in their industries and
widely held by individual and institutional investors.

S&P 500 Index

Created in 1926, the S&P 500 Index is widely regarded as the
standard for measuring large-cap U.S. stock market perfor-
mance. The stocks in the S&P 500 are selected by the Standard
&Poor’s Index Committee, and they are the leading companies
in the leading industries. It is weighted by each stock’s market

Chapter 2 Financial Markets and Institutions
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value, so the largest companies have the greatest influence.
The S&P 500 is one of the most commonly used benchmarks
for the U.S. stock market. Index funds designed to mirror the
same performance of the index have grown in number and
size over the last decade. The number of index funds has more
than quadrupled in the last decade, and assets in stock index
funds have grown over 85% during the past 5 years.

NASDAQ Composite Index

The NASDAQ Composite Index measures the performance of
all stocks listed on the NASDAQ. Currently, it includes approxi-
mately 2,700 companies, and because many companies in
the technology sector are traded on the computer-based
NASDAQ exchange, this index is generally regarded as an eco-
nomic indicator of the high-tech industry. Apple, Microsoft,
Google (now known as Alphabet Inc.), Facebook, and Intel
are the five largest NASDAQ companies, and they make up a
high percentage of the index’s value-weighted market capi-
talization. For this reason, substantial movements in the same
direction by these five companies can move the entire index.

Recent Performance

The accompanying figure plots the value that an investor
would now have if he or she had invested $1 in each of the
three indexes on January 1, 1995, through January 1, 2017.
The returns on the three indexes are compared with an
investment strategy that invests only in 1-year Treasury bills
(T-bills). During the last 22 years, the average annualized
returns of these indexes ranged from 7.55% for the S&P 500
to 9.57% for the NASDAQ. (The Dow'’s annualized return dur-
ing this same period was 7.76%).

Growth of a $1 Investment Made on January 1, 1995, through January 1, 2017
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SelfTest

2-6B STOCK MARKET RETURNS

In Chapters 8 and 9, we discuss in detail how a stock’s rate of return is calculated,
what the connection is between risk and returns, and what techniques analysts
use to value stocks. However, it is useful at this point to give you an idea of how
stocks have performed in recent years. Figure 2.2 shows how the returns on large
U.S. stocks have varied over the past years, and the box titled “Measuring the
Market” provides information on the major U.S. stock market indices and their
performances since the mid-1990s.

The market trend has been strongly up since 1968, but by no means does it go up
every year. Indeed, as we can see from Figure 2.2, the overall market was down in
10 of the last 47 years, including the three consecutive years of 2000-2002. The stock
prices of individual companies have likewise gone up and down." Of course, even in
bad years, some individual companies do well; so “the name of the game” in security
analysis is to pick the winners. Financial managers attempt to do this, but they don’t
always succeed. In subsequent chapters, we will examine the decisions managers
make to increase the odds that their firms will perform well in the marketplace.

vV

Would you expect a portfolio that consisted of the NYSE stocks to be more or less
risky than a portfolio of NASDAQ stocks?

If we constructed a chart like Figure 2.2 for a typical S&P 500 stock, do you think it
would show more or less volatility? Explain.

2-7 Stock Market Efficiency

To begin this section, consider the following definitions:

*  Market price: The current price of a stock. For example, the Internet showed
that on one day, Twitter’s stock traded at $15.63. The market price had varied
from $15.50 to $16.00 during that same day as buy and sell orders came in.

e Intrinsic value: The price at which the stock would sell if all investors had all
knowable information about a stock. This concept was discussed in Chapter
1, where we saw that a stock’s intrinsic value is based on its expected future
cash flows and its risk. Moreover, the market price tends to fluctuate around
the intrinsic value, and the intrinsic value changes over time as the company
succeeds or fails with new projects, competitors enter or exit the market, and
so forth. We can guess (or estimate) Twitter’s intrinsic value, but different
analysts will reach somewhat different conclusions.

e Equilibrium price: The price that balances buy and sell orders at any given
time. When a stock is in equilibrium, the price remains relatively stable until
new information becomes available and causes the price to change.

*  Efficient market: A market in which prices are close to intrinsic values and
stocks seem to be in equilibrium.

If we constructed a graph like Figure 2.2 for individual stocks rather than for the index, far greater
variability would be shown. Also, if we constructed a graph like Figure 2.2 for bonds, it would
have similar ups and downs, but the bars would be far smaller, indicating that gains and losses on
bonds are generally much smaller than those on stocks. Above-average bond returns occur in years
when interest rates decline, losses occur when interest rates rise sharply, but interest payments tend
to stabilize bonds’ total returns. We discuss bonds in detail in Chapter 7.
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When markets are efficient, investors can buy and sell stocks and be confident
that they are getting good prices. When markets are inefficient, investors may be
afraid to invest and may put their money “under the pillow,” which will lead to a
poor allocation of capital and economic stagnation. From an economic standpoint,
market efficiency is good.

Academics and financial professionals have studied the issue of market effi-
ciency extensively.” As generally happens, some people think that markets are
highly efficient, some think that markets are highly inefficient, and others think
that the issue is too complex for a simple answer. With this point in mind, it is
interesting to note that the 2013 Nobel Prize in Economics was awarded to three
distinguished scholars (Eugene Fama, Lars Hansen, and Robert Shiller) for their
“empirical analysis of asset prices.” Professor Hansen was cited for his work in
developing statistical models for testing the rationality of markets. Also, acknowl-
edging the validity of different views in this area, the Nobel Committee saw fit to
simultaneously recognize Professor Fama (a pioneer in developing efficient mar-
ket theory) and Professor Shiller (a noted skeptic of market efficiency).

Those who believe that markets are efficient note that there are 100,000 or so
fulltime, highly trained professional analysts and traders operating in the market.
Many have PhDs in physics, chemistry, and other technical fields in addition to
advanced degrees in finance. Moreover, there are fewer than 3,000 major stocks; so
if each analyst followed 30 stocks (which is about right, as analysts tend to focus
on a specific industry), on average, 1,000 analysts would be following each stock.
Further, these analysts work for organizations such as Goldman Sachs, JPMorgan
Chase, and Deutsche Bank or for Warren Buffett and other billionaire investors
who have billions of dollars available to take advantage of bargains. Also, the SEC
has disclosure rules that, combined with electronic information networks, means
that new information about a stock is received by all analysts at about the same
time, causing almost instantaneous revaluations. All of these factors help markets
to be efficient and cause stock prices to move toward their intrinsic values.

However, other people point to data that suggest that markets are not very
efficient. For example, on May 6, 2010, the Dow Jones Index fell nearly 1,000 points
only to rebound rapidly by the end of the day.* In 2000, Internet stocks rose to phe-
nomenally high prices, and then fell to zero or close to it the following year. No truly
important news was announced that could have caused either of these changes;
if the market was efficient, it’s hard to see how such drastic changes could have
occurred. Another situation that causes people to question market efficiency is the
apparent ability of some analysts to consistently outperform the market over long
periods. Warren Buffett comes to mind, but there are others. If markets are truly
efficient, then each stock’s price should be close to its intrinsic value. That would
make it hard for any analyst to consistently pick stocks that outperform the market.

The diagram on the next page sums up where most observers seem to be today.
There is an “efficiency continuum,” with the market for some companies’ stocks
being highly efficient and the market for other stocks being highly inefficient. The
key factor is the size of the company—the larger the firm, the more analysts tend to

“The general name for these studies is the efficient markets hypothesis, or EMH. It was, and still is, a
hypothesis that needs to be proved or disproved empirically. In the literature, researchers identified
three levels of efficiency: weak form, which contends that information on past stock price movements
cannot be used to predict future stock prices; semi-strong form, which contends that all publicly avail-
able information is immediately incorporated into stock prices (i.e., that one cannot analyze pub-
lished reports and then beat the market); and strong form, which contends that even company insid-
ers, with inside information, cannot earn abnormally high returns.

YRegulators are investigating the causes of this dramatic decline, and are particularly focusing on
the role played by computerized trading. Refer to Tom Lauricella, Scott Patterson, and Carolyn Cui,
“Computer Trading Is Eyed,” The Wall Street Journal (www.wsj.com), May 8, 2010.
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follow it and thus the faster new information is likely to be reflected in the stock’s
price. Also, different companies communicate better with analysts and investors,
and the better the communications, the more efficient the market for the stock. In
an inefficient market, it might be possible to purchase the company’s stock at a low
price and then be able to turn around and sell it at a higher price making a profit.
This is called arbitrage.

Efficiency Continuum

Highly Inefficient Highly Efficient
| |
I I
Small companies Large companies
not followed by many followed by many
analysts. Not much analysts. Good
contact with investors. communications

with investors.

As an investor, would you prefer to purchase a stock whose price was deter-
mined in an efficient or an inefficient market? If you thought you knew something
that others didn’t know, you might prefer inefficient markets. But if you thought
that those physics PhDs with unlimited buying power and access to company CEOs
might know more than you, you would probably prefer efficient markets, where the
price you paid was likely to be the “right” price. From an economic standpoint, it is
good to have efficient markets in which everyone is willing to participate. So the SEC
and other regulatory agencies should do everything they can to encourage market
efficiency.

Thus far we have been discussing the market for individual stocks. But the
notion of efficiency applies to the pricing of all assets. For example, the dramatic
rise and subsequent collapse of housing prices in many U.S. markets suggests that
there was a lot of inefficiency in these markets. It is also important to realize that
the level of market efficiency also varies over time. In one respect, we might expect
that lower transactions costs and the increasing number of analysts would cause
markets to become increasingly efficient over time. However, the recent housing
bubble and the previous bubble for Internet stocks provides some contrary evi-
dence. Indeed, these recent events have caused many experts to look for alterna-
tive reasons for this apparent irrational behavior. A lot of their research looks for
psychologically based explanations, which we discuss in the next section.

2-7A BEHAVIORAL FINANCE THEORY

The efficient markets hypothesis (EMH) remains one of the cornerstones of modern
finance theory. It implies that, on average, asset prices are about equal to their intrin-
sic values. The logic behind the EMH is straightforward. If a stock’s price is “too low,”
rational traders will quickly take advantage of this opportunity and buy the stock,
pushing prices up to the proper level. Likewise, if prices are “too high,” rational trad-
ers will sell the stock, pushing the price down to its equilibrium level. Proponents of
the EMH argue that these forces keep prices from being systematically wrong.
Although the logic behind the EMH is compelling, many events in the real
world seem inconsistent with the hypothesis, which has spurred a growing field
called behavioral finance. Rather than assuming that investors are rational, behavioral
finance theorists borrow insights from psychology to better understand how irratio-
nal behavior can be sustained over time. Pioneers in this field include psychologists
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Daniel Kahneman, Amos Tversky, and Richard Thaler. Their work has encouraged
a growing number of scholars to work in this promising area of research.”!
Professor Thaler and his colleague Nicholas Barberis argue that behavioral
finance’s criticism of the EMH rests on two key points. First, it is often difficult
or risky for traders to take advantage of mispriced assets. For example, even if
you know that a stock’s price is too low because investors have overreacted to
recent bad news, a trader with limited capital may be reluctant to purchase the
stock for fear that the same forces that pushed the price down may work to keep
it artificially low for a long time. Similarly, during the recent stock market bubble,
many traders who believed (correctly) that stock prices were too high lost a great
deal of money selling stocks short in the early stages of the bubble, because prices
went even higher before they eventually collapsed. Thus, mispricings may persist.
The second point deals with why mispricings can occur in the first place. Here
insights from psychology come into play. For example, Kahneman and Tversky
suggested that individuals view potential losses and gains differently. If you ask
average individuals whether they would rather have $500 with certainty or flip
a fair coin and receive $1,000 if a head comes up and nothing if a tail comes up,
most would prefer the certain $500, which suggests an aversion to risk. However,
if you ask people whether they would rather pay $500 with certainty or flip a coin
and pay $1,000 if it’s a head and nothing if it’s a tail, most would indicate that
they prefer to flip the coin. Other studies suggest that people’s willingness to take
a gamble depends on recent performance. Gamblers who are ahead tend to take
on more risk, whereas those who are behind tend to become more conservative.
These experiments suggest that investors and managers behave differently in
down markets than they do in up markets, which might explain why those who
made money early in the stock market bubble continued to invest their money in
the market even as prices went ever higher. Other evidence suggests that individu-
als tend to overestimate their true abilities. For example, a large majority of people
(upward of 90% in some studies) believe that they have above-average driving abil-
ity and above-average ability to get along with others. Barberis and Thaler point out:

Owerconfidence may in part stem from two other biases, self-attribution bias and
hindsight bias. Self-attribution bias refers to people’s tendency to ascribe any
success they have in some activity to their own talents, while blaming failure on
bad luck rather than on their ineptitude. Doing this repeatedly will lead people to
the pleasing, but erroneous, conclusion that they are very talented. For example,
investors might become overconfident after several quarters of investing success
[Gervais and Odean (2001)]. Hindsight bias is the tendency of people to believe,
after an event has occurred, that they predicted it before it happened. If people
think they predicted the past better than they actually did, they may also believe
that they can predict the future better than they actually can.?

“'Five noteworthy sources for students interested in behavioral finance are George Akerlof and
Robert Shiller, Animal Spirits: How Human Psychology Drives the Econonty, and Why It Matters for Global
Capitalism (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2009); Richard Thaler and Cass Sunstein, Nudge:
Improving Decisions about Health, Wealth, and Happiness (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2008);
Richard H. Thaler, Editor, Advances in Behavioral Finance (New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1993);
Hersh Shefrin, “Behavioral Corporate Finance,” Journal of Applied Corporate Finance, vol. 14, no. 3 (Fall
2001), pp. 113-125; and Nicholas Barberis and Richard Thaler, “A Survey of Behavioral Finance,”
Chapter 18 in Handbook of the Economics of Finance, edited by George Constantinides, Milt Harris, and
René Stulz (New York: Elsevier/North-Holland, 2003). Students interested in learning more about
the efficient markets hypothesis should consult Burton G. Malkiel, A Random Walk Down Wall Street:
The Time-Tested Strategy for Successful Investing, 9th edition (New York: WW. Norton, 2007).

“Nicholas Barberis and Richard Thaler, “A Survey of Behavioral Finance,” Chapter 18 in Handbook

of the Economics of Finance, edited by George Constantinides, Milt Harris, and René Stulz (New
York: Elsevier/North-Holland, 2003).

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



56

Part 1 Introduction to Financial Management

SelfTest

Behavioral finance has been studied in both the corporate finance and invest-
ments areas. For example, Mark Grinblatt and Matti Keloharju conducted a recent
study demonstrating that investors who are characterized as being overconfident
and prone to “seeking sensations” trade more frequently.® Likewise, a study by
Ulrike Malmendier of Stanford and Geoffrey Tate of Wharton found that overcon-
fidence leads managers to overestimate their ability and thus the profitability of
their projects.” This may explain why so many corporate projects fail to live up to
their stated expectations.

2-7B CONCLUSIONS ABOUT MARKET EFFICIENCY

As noted previously, if the stock market is efficient, it is a waste of time for most
people to seek bargains by analyzing published data on stocks. That follows
because if stock prices already reflect all publicly available information, they
will be fairly priced, and a person can beat the market only with luck or inside
information. So rather than spending time and money trying to find undervalued
stocks, it would be better to buy an index fund designed to match the overall
market as reflected in an index such as the S&P 500. However, if we worked for
an institution with billions of dollars, we would try to find undervalued stocks
or companies because even a small undervaluation would amount to a great deal
of money when investing millions rather than thousands. Also, markets are more
efficient for individual stocks than for entire companies; so for investors with
enough capital, it does make sense to seek out badly managed companies that can
be acquired and improved. Note, though, that a number of private equity players
are doing exactly that; so the market for entire companies may soon be as efficient
as that for individual stocks.

However, even if markets are efficient and all stocks and companies are fairly
priced, an investor should still be careful when selecting stocks for his or her port-
folio. Most importantly, the portfolio should be diversified, with a mix of stocks
from various industries along with some bonds and other fixed-income securities.
We will discuss diversification in greater detail in Chapter 8, but it is an important
consideration for most individual investors.

vV

What does it mean for a market to be “efficient”?
Is the market for all stocks equally efficient? Explain.
Why is it good for the economy that markets be efficient?

Is it possible that the market for individual stocks could be highly efficient, but the
market for whole companies could be less efficient? Explain.

What is arbitrage?

What is behavioral finance? What are the implications of behavioral finance for
market efficiency?

PMark Grinblatt and Matti Keloharju: “Sensation Seeking, Overconfidence, and Trading Activity,”
The Journal of Finance, vol. LXIV, no. 2 (April 2009), pp. 549-578.

#Ulrike Malmendier and Geoffrey Tate, “CEO Overconfidence and Corporate Investment,”
Stanford Graduate School of Business Research Paper #1799, June 2004.
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’}V
b TYING IT ALLTOGETHER

In this chapter, we provided a brief overview of how capital is allocated and discussed
the financial markets, instruments, and institutions used in the allocation process. We
discussed physical location exchanges and electronic markets for common stocks,
stock market reporting, and stock indexes. We demonstrated that security prices are
volatile—investors expect to make money, which they generally do over time—but
losses can be large in any given year. Finally, we discussed the efficiency of the stock
market and developments in behavioral finance. After reading this chapter, you
should have a general understanding of the financial environment in which busi-
nesses and individuals operate, realize that actual returns are often different from
expected returns, and be able to read stock market quotations from business news-
papers or various Internet sites. You should also recognize that the theory of financial
markets is a “work in progress,” and much work remains to be done.

Self-Test Questions and Problems

(Solutions Appear in Appendix A)

0 ST-1 KEYTERMS Define each of the following terms:

Spot markets; futures markets
. Money markets; capital markets
Primary markets; secondary markets
. Private markets; public markets
Derivatives
Investment banks (IBs); commercial banks; financial services corporations
. Mutual funds; money market funds
. Exchange traded funds; hedge funds; private equity companies
Physical location exchanges; over-the-counter (OTC) market; dealer market
j- Closely held corporation; publicly owned corporation
k. Going public; initial public offering (IPO) market
1. Efficient markets hypothesis (EMH); arbitrage
m. Behavioral finance

SR 0 a0 T

-

Questions

2-1 How does a cost-efficient capital market help reduce the prices of goods and services?

2-2  Describe the different ways in which capital can be transferred from suppliers of capital to
those who are demanding capital.

2-3 Is an initial public offering an example of a primary or a secondary market transaction?
Explain.
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.
*

2-4  Indicate whether the following instruments are examples of money market or capital mar-
ket securities.

o an T

U.S. Treasury bills

. Long-term corporate bonds

Common stocks

. Preferred stocks

Dealer commercial paper

2-5 What would happen to the U.S. standard of living if people lost faith in the safety of the
financial institutions? Explain.

2-6  What types of changes have financial markets experienced during the last two decades?
Have they been perceived as positive or negative changes? Explain.

2-7 Differentiate between dealer markets and stock markets that have a physical location.

2-8 Identify and briefly compare the two leading stock exchanges in the United States today.

2-9  Briefly explain what is meant by the term efficiency continuum.

2-10  Explain whether the following statements are true or false.

a.

Derivative transactions are designed to increase risk and are used almost exclusively
by speculators who are looking to capture high returns.

. Hedge funds typically have large minimum investments and are marketed to institu-

tions and individuals with high net worths.
Hedge funds have traditionally been highly regulated.

. The New York Stock Exchange is an example of a stock exchange that has a physical

location.
A larger bid-ask spread means that the dealer will realize a lower profit.

INTEGRATED CASE

SMYTH BARRY & COMPANY

2-1 FINANCIAL MARKETS AND INSTITUTIONS Assume that you recently graduated with a degree in
finance and have just reported to work as an investment adviser at the brokerage firm of Smyth Barry &
Co. Your first assignment is to explain the nature of the U.S. financial markets to Michelle Varga, a profes-
sional tennis player who recently came to the United States from Mexico. Varga is a highly ranked tennis
player who expects to invest substantial amounts of money through Smyth Barry. She is very bright;
therefore, she would like to understand in general terms what will happen to her money. Your boss has
developed the following questions that you must use to explain the U.S. financial system to Varga.

a.

b.

What are the three primary ways in which capital is transferred between savers and borrowers?
Describe each one.

What is a market? Differentiate between the following types of markets: physical asset markets
versus financial asset markets, spot markets versus futures markets, money markets versus capital
markets, primary markets versus secondary markets, and public markets versus private markets.

Why are financial markets essential for a healthy economy and economic growth?

What are derivatives? How can derivatives be used to reduce risk? Can derivatives be used to
increase risk? Explain.

Briefly describe each of the following financial institutions: investment banks, commercial banks,
financial services corporations, pension funds, mutual funds, exchange traded funds, hedge funds,
and private equity companies.

What are the two leading stock markets? Describe the two basic types of stock markets.
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g. If Apple decided to issue additional common stock, and Varga purchased 100 shares of this stock
from Smyth Barry, the underwriter, would this transaction be a primary or a secondary market
transaction? Would it make a difference if Varga purchased previously outstanding Apple stock in
the dealer market? Explain.

h. What is an initial public offering (IPO)?

i.  What does it mean for a market to be efficient? Explain why some stock prices may be more efficient
than others.

j.  After your consultation with Michelle, she wants to discuss these two possible stock purchases:

1. While in the waiting room of your office, she overheard an analyst on a financial TV network say
that a particular medical research company just received FDA approval for one of its products. On
the basis of this “hot” information, Michelle wants to buy many shares of that company’s stock.
Assuming the stock market is highly efficient, what advice would you give her?

2. She has read a number of newspaper articles about a huge IPO being carried out by a leading
technology company. She wants to purchase as many shares in the IPO as possible and would
even be willing to buy the shares in the open market immediately after the issue. What advice do
you have for her?

k.  How does behavioral finance explain the real-world inconsistencies of the efficient markets hypoth-
esis (EMH)?
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SURVEILLANCE N ugs

Unlocking the Valuable Information in Financial Statements

In Chapter 1, we said that managers should
make decisions that enhance long-term share-
holder value, and they should be less concerned
about short-term accounting measures such as
earnings per share. With that important point in
mind, you might reasonably wonder why are we
now going to talk about accounting and finan-
cial statements. The simple answer is financial
statements convey a lot of useful information
that helps corporate managers assess the com-
pany’s strengths and weaknesses and gauge
the expected impact of various proposals. Good
managers must have a solid understanding of
the key financial statements. Outsiders also rely
heavily on financial statements when deciding
whether they want to buy the company’s stock,
lend money to the company, or enter into a long-
term business relationship with the company.

At first glance, financial statements can be
overwhelming—but if we know what we are

looking for, we can quickly learn a great deal
about a company after a quick review of its
financial statements. Looking at the balance
sheet we can see how large a company is, the
types of assets it holds, and how it finances
those assets. Looking at the income statement,
we can see if the company’s sales increased or
declined and whether the company made a
profit. Glancing at the statement of cash flows,
we can see if the company made any new
investments, if it raised funds through financing,
repurchased debt or equity, or paid dividends.
For example, in early 2017, Dunkin’ Brands
Group released its fourth quarter financial state-
ments for 2016. The news was good. The company
announced higher than expected earnings per
share, and the stock market responded positively.
Its reported sales for the quarter were $215.7 mil-
lion and earnings per share was 64 cents,
which was higher than the average of 61 cents.

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



The company also announced a 7.5% increase in its dividend.
In a statement, the company also mentioned that same-store
quarterly sales were up 1.9% for its Dunkin’ Donuts’ stores,
but were down 0.9% for its Baskin-Robbins stores. Reviewing
the company’s 2016 annual report at the end of its fiscal year
(December 31, 2016), Dunkin'Brands showed total assets of $3.2
billion and total liabilities of $3.4 billion on its balance sheet—
indicating that the book value of the company’s equity is nega-
tive. Finally, looking at the statement of cash flows, we see that
Dunkin’generated $276 million from its operating activities, and
$1 million from its investing activities. However, the company
spent $176 million from its financing activities—the bulk of this
money was used to pay dividends and repurchase some shares
of common stock. It follows that the company’s overall cash posi-
tion increased by $101 million during 2016.

Chapter 3 Financial Statements, Cash Flow, and Taxes 63

While we can learn a lot from a quick tour of the financial
statements, a good financial analyst does not just accept
these numbers at face value. The analyst digs deeper to
see what's really driving the numbers and uses his or her
intuition and knowledge of the industry to help assess the
company's future direction. Keep in mind that just because
a company reports great numbers doesn't mean that you
should purchase the stock. In the case of Dunkin’ Brands,
its stock price did rise after it announced its better-than-
expected financial numbers for the fourth quarter. However,
as is always the case, analysts have mixed feelings about the
stock’s future direction. It's these types of disagreements
that make finance interesting, and as always, time will tell
whether the optimists (the bulls) or the pessimists (the
bears) are correct.

Source: Sarah Whitten, “Dunkin’ Brands’ Shares Up on Earnings Beat as Franchise Fees Boost Results,” CNBC (www.cnbc.com), February 9,

2017.

N

b PUTTING THINGS IN PERSPECTIVE

A manager’s primary goal is to maximize shareholder value, which is based on
the firm’s future cash flows. But how do managers decide which actions are most
likely to increase those flows, and how do investors estimate future cash flows? The
answers to both questions lie in a study of financial statements that publicly traded
firms must provide to investors. Here investors include both institutions (banks,
insurance companies, pension funds, and the like) and individuals like you.

Much of the material in this chapter deals with concepts you covered in a basic
accounting course. However, the information is important enough to warrant a review.
Also, in accounting you probably focused on how accounting statements are made;
the focus here is on how investors and managers interpret and use them. Accounting is
the basic language of business, so everyone engaged in business needs a good work-
ing knowledge of it. It is used to “keep score”; if investors and managers do not know
the score, they won't know whether their actions are appropriate. If you took midterm
exams but were not told your scores, you would have a difficult time knowing whether
you needed to improve. The same idea holds in business. If a firm’s managers—whether
they work in marketing, human resources, production, or finance—do not understand
financial statements, they will not be able to judge the effects of their actions, which
will make it hard for the firm to survive, much less to have a maximum value.

When you finish this chapter you should be able to do the following:

- List each of the key financial statements and identify the kinds of information

they provide to corporate managers and investors.

- Estimate a firm’s free cash flow and explain why free cash flow has such an

important effect on firm value.

- Discuss the major features of the federal income tax system.
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3-1 Financial Statements and Reports

Annual Report The annual report is the most important report that corporations issue to stock-
Areportissued annually  holders, and it contains two types of information.! First, there is a verbal section,
by a corporation to its often presented as a letter from the chairperson, which describes the firm’s operat-

stockholders. It contains  jng results during the past year and discusses new developments that will affect

basic financial state- future operations. Second, the report provides these four basic financial statements:
ments as well as man-

agement’s analysis of the  I.  The balance sheet, which shows what assets the company owns and who has
firm’s past operations claims on those assets as of a given date—for example, December 31, 2018.
and future prospects. 2. The income statement, which shows the firm’s sales and costs (and thus prof-

its) during some past period—for example, 2018.

3. The statement of cash flows, which shows how much cash the firm began the
year with, how much cash it ended up with, and what it did to increase or
decrease its cash.

4. The statement of stockholders” equity, which shows the amount of equity
the stockholders had at the start of the year, the items that increased or
decreased equity, and the equity at the end of the year.

These statements are related to one another, and, taken together, they provide an
accounting picture of the firm’s operations and financial position.

The quantitative and verbal materials are equally important. The firm’s financial
statements report what has actually happened to its assets, earnings, and dividends
over the past few years, whereas management’s verbal statements attempt to explain
why things turned out the way they did and what might happen in the future.

For discussion purposes, we use data for Allied Food Products, a processor and
distributor of a wide variety of food products, to illustrate the basic financial state-
ments. Allied was formed in 1985, when several regional firms merged; it has grown
steadily while earning a reputation as one of the best firms in its industry. Allied’s
earnings dropped from $121.8 million in 2017 to $117.5 million in 2018. Management
reported that the drop resulted from losses associated with a drought as well as
increased costs due to a 3-month strike. However, management then went on to
describe a more optimistic picture for the future, stating that full operations had been
resumed, that several unprofitable businesses had been eliminated, and that 2019
profits were expected to rise sharply. Of course, an increase in profitability may not
occur, and analysts should compare management’s past statements with subsequent
results. In any event, the information contained in the annual report can be used to help fore-
cast future earnings and dividends. Therefore, investors are very interested in this report.

We should note that Allied’s financial statements are relatively simple and
straightforward; we also omitted some details often shown in the statements.
Allied finances with only debt and common stock—it has no preferred stock, con-
vertibles, or complex derivative securities. Also, the firm has made no acquisitions
that resulted in goodwill that must be carried on the balance sheet. We deliberately
chose such a company because this is an introductory text; as such, we want to
explain the basics of financial analysis, not wander into arcane accounting matters
that are best left to accounting and security analysis courses. We do point out some
of the pitfalls that can be encountered when trying to interpret accounting state-
ments, but we leave it to advanced courses to cover the intricacies of accounting.

'Firms also provide quarterly reports, but these are much less comprehensive than the annual
report. In addition, larger firms file even more detailed statements with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC), giving breakdowns for each major division or subsidiary. These
reports, called 10-K reports, are made available to stockholders upon request to a company’s cor-
porate secretary. In this chapter, we focus on annual data—balance sheets at the ends of years and
income statements for entire years rather than for shorter time periods.
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@) GLOBAL PERSPECTIVES

mmm Global Accounting Standards: Will It Ever Happen?

For the past decade, global accounting standards to improve
financial reporting to investors and users of that information
seemed all but certain. In 2005, the EU required the adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and in 2007,
the SEC eliminated the requirement for companies reporting
under IFRS to reconcile their financial statements to U.S. Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). To date, 120 countries
have adopted IFRS. However, on July 13, 2012, the SEC staff issued
a report that failed to recommend IFRS for U.S. adoption. The ulti-
mate decision will be up to the SEC. On December 6, 2014, at an
AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public Accountants) national
conference, SEC chief accountant, James Schnurr, stated that he
was open to dialogue about the best way to achieve high-quality
financial information and comparability, but there is currently no
sign that the United States will be adopting IFRS anytime soon.
The effort to internationalize accounting standards began in
1973 with the formation of the International Accounting Standards
Committee. However, in 1998, it became apparent that a full-time
rule-making body with global representation was necessary; so
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) was estab-
lished. The IASB was charged with the responsibility for creat-
ing a set of IFRS. The “convergence” process began in earnest in
September 2002 with the “Norwalk Agreement,” in which the

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and IASB undertook
a short-term project to remove individual differences between the
FASB's U.S. GAAP and IFRS and agreed to coordinate their activities.
The process was meant to narrow gaps between the two stan-
dards, with the intention of making the transition for companies
simpler and less expensive.

Obviously, the globalization of accounting standards is a
huge endeavor—one that involves compromises between the
IASB and FASB. However, in recent years the momentum behind
this goal has diminished. Despite the best of intentions, progress
toward consolidation was slowed by the 2007-2008 financial cri-
sis and the resulting global recession. In addition, it has become
apparent that the cost to companies, both large and small, for
switching from GAAP to IFRS will be significant. Finally, the SEC
has been given the task of implementing the Dodd-Frank finan-
cial reform law—limiting its ability to focus on adopting global
accounting standards.

The United States is an important economy, and without its
participation it will be difficult to truly have global accounting
standards. In the meantime, it is important for companies and ana-
lysts that evaluate businesses in different countries to have a full
understanding of the key differences between the various global
accounting standards.

Sources: Lee Berton, “All Accountants Soon May Speak the Same Language,” The Wall Street Journal, August 29, 1995, p. A15; James Turley (CEO, Ernst

& Young), “Mind the GAAP" The Wall Street Journal, November 9, 2007, p. A18; David M. Katz “The Path to Global Standards?” CFO.com, January 28,
2011;“Global Accounting Standards: Closing the GAAP, The Economist (economist.com), vol. 404, July 21, 2012; Joe Adler, “Is Effort to Unify Accounting
Regimes Falling Apart?” American Banker, vol. 177, no. 145, July 30, 2012; Kathleen Hoffelder, “SEC Report Backs Away from Convergence,” CFO Magazine
(cfo.com/magazine), September 1, 2012; Ken Tysiac, “Still in Flux: Future of IFRS in U.S. Remains Unclear after SEC Report,” Journal of Accountancy
(journalofaccountancy.com), September 2012; and Tammy Whitehouse, “Ten Years on, Convergence Movement Starting to Wane,” Compliance Week

(complianceweek.com), October 2, 2012.

SelfTest

v

What is the annual report, and what two types of information does it provide?

What four financial statements are typically included in the annual report?

Why is the annual report of great interest to investors?

3-2 The Balance Sheet

The balance sheet is a “snapshot” of a firm’s position at a specific point in time.
Figure 3.1 shows the layout of a typical balance sheet. The left side of the state-
ment shows the assets that the company owns, and the right side shows the
firm’s liabilities and stockholders” equity, which are claims against the firm’s assets.

Balance Sheet

A statement of a firm's
financial position at a
specific point in time.

As Figure 3.1 shows, assets are divided into two major categories: current assets
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Current Assets Current Liabilities
Cash and equivalents Accrued wages and taxes
Accounts receivable Accounts payable
Inventory Notes payable

Long-Term (Fixed)
Assets Long-Term

Net plant and equipment Debt

Other long-term assets

Stockholders’ Equity

Common stock + Retained earnings
must equal
Total assets — Total liabilities

Total Liabilities and

Total Assets Equity

Note: This is the typical layout of a balance sheet for one year. When balance sheets for two or more years
are shown, assets are listed in the top section, and liabilities and equity in the bottom section. See Table 3.1
for an illustration.

and fixed, or long-term, assets. Current assets consist of assets that should be
converted to cash within one year, and they include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, and inventory? Long-term assets are assets expected to be
used for more than one year; they include plant and equipment in addition to intel-
lectual property such as patents and copyrights. Plant and equipment is generally
reported net of accumulated depreciation. Allied’s long-term assets consist entirely
of net plant and equipment, and we often refer to them as “net fixed assets.”

The claims against assets are of two basic types—Iliabilities (or money the
company owes to others) and stockholders” equity. Current liabilities consist of
that stockholders paid the claims that must be paid off within one year, including accounts payable, accruals
company when shares (total of accrued wages and accrued taxes), and notes payable to banks and other
were purchased and the short-term lenders that are due within one year. Long-term debt includes bonds

Stockholders’ Equity
It represents the amount

amount of earnings the that mature in more than a year.
company has retained Stockholders’ equity can be thought of in two ways. First, it is the amount
since its origination. that stockholders paid to the company when they bought shares the company

2Allied and most other companies hold some currency in addition to a bank checking account.
They may also hold short-term interest-bearing securities that can be sold and thus converted to
cash immediately with a simple telephone call. These securities are called “cash equivalents,” and
they are generally included with checking account balances for financial reporting purposes. If

a company owns stocks or other marketable securities that it regards as short-term investments,
these items will be shown separately on the balance sheet. Allied does not hold any marketable
securities other than cash equivalents.
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sold to raise capital, in addition to all of the earnings the company has retained
over the years:?

Stockholders’ equity = Paid-in capital + Retained earnings

The retained earnings are not just the earnings retained in the latest year—
they are the cumulative total of all of the earnings the company has earned and
retained during its life.

Stockholders” equity can also be thought of as a residual:

Stockholders’ equity = Total assets — Total liabilities

If Allied had invested surplus funds in bonds backed by subprime mortgages
and the bonds’ value fell below their purchase price, the true value of the
firm’s assets would have declined. The amount of its liabilities would not
have changed—the firm would still owe the amount it had promised to pay its
creditors. Therefore, the reported value of the common equity must decline.
The accountants would make a series of entries, and the result would be a
reduction in retained earnings—and thus in common equity. In the end, assets
would equal liabilities and equity, and the balance sheet would balance. This
example shows why common stock is more risky than bonds—any mistake
that management makes has a big impact on the stockholders. Of course, gains
from good decisions also go to the stockholders; so with risk come possible
rewards.

Assets on the balance sheet are listed by the length of time before they will be
converted to cash (inventories and accounts receivable) or used by the firm (fixed
assets). Similarly, claims are listed in the order in which they must be paid: Accounts
payable must generally be paid within a few days, accruals must also be paid
promptly, notes payable to banks must be paid within 1 year, and so forth, down
to the stockholders’ equity accounts, which represent ownership and need never be
“paid off.”

3-2A ALLIED’S BALANCE SHEET

Table 3.1 shows Allied’s year-end balance sheets for 2018 and 2017. From the 2018
statement, we see that Allied had $2 billion of assets—half current and half long
term. These assets were financed with $310 million of current liabilities, $750 million
of long-term debt, and $940 million of common equity. Comparing the balance sheets
for 2018 and 2017, we see that Allied’s assets grew by $320 million and its liabilities
and equity necessarily grew by that same amount. Assets must, of course, equal
liabilities and equity; otherwise, the balance sheet does not balance.
Several additional points about the balance sheet should be noted:

I Cash versus other assets. Although assets are reported in dollar terms, only the
cash and equivalents account represents actual spendable money. Accounts
receivable represent credit sales that have not yet been collected. Inventories
show the cost of raw materials, work in process, and finished goods. Net
fixed assets represent the cost of the buildings and equipment used in opera-
tions minus the depreciation that has been taken on these assets. At the end of
2018, Allied has $10 million of cash; hence, it could write checks totaling that
amount. The noncash assets should generate cash over time, but they do not

*On Allied’s balance sheet, we simply show a common stock line representing the “paid-in” capital
of stockholders when they purchased common shares of stock.

Retained Earnings
They represent the
cumulative total of all
earnings kept by the
company during its life.

Students can download
the Excel chapter
models from the
textbook’s student
companion site on
cengage.com. Once
downloaded onto your
computer, retrieve the
Chapter 3 Excel model
and follow along as you
read this chapter.
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TABLE 3.1 Allied Food Products: December 31 Balance Sheets (Millions of Dollars)
2018 2017

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and equivalents $ 10 $ 80
Accounts receivable 375 315
Inventories 615 415

Total current assets $1,000 $ 810
Net fixed assets:

Net plant and equipment (cost minus depreciation) 1,000 870
Other assets expected to last more than a year 0 o
Total assets $2,000 $1,680
Liabilities and Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 60 $ 30
Accruals 140 130
Notes payable __110 60

Total current liabilities $ 310 $ 220
Long-term bonds 750 580
Total liabilities $1,060 $ 800

Common equity:

Common stock (50,000,000 shares) $ 130 $ 130
Retained earnings 810 750

Total common equity $ 940 $ 880

Total liabilities and equity $2,000 $1,680

Notes:

1. Inventories can be valued by several different methods, and the method chosen can affect both the
balance sheet value and the cost of goods sold, and thus net income, as reported on the income state-
ment. Similarly, companies can use different depreciation methods. The methods used must be report-
ed in the notes to the financial statements, and security analysts can make adjustments when they
compare companies if they think the differences are material.

2. Book value per share: Total common equity/Shares outstanding = $940/50 = $18.80.

3. Arelatively few firms use preferred stock, which we discuss in Chapter 9. Preferred stock can take several
different forms, but it is generally like debt because it pays a fixed amount each year. However, it is like
common stock because a failure to pay the preferred dividend does not expose the firm to bankruptcy. If
a firm does use preferred stock, it is shown on the balance sheet between total debt and common stock.
There is no set rule on how preferred stock should be treated when financial ratios are calculated—it
could be considered as debt or as equity. Bondholders often think of it as equity, while stockholders think
of it as debt because it is a fixed charge. In truth, preferred stock is a hybrid, somewhere between debt and
common equity.

represent cash in hand. And the cash they would bring in if they were sold
today could be higher or lower than the values reported on the balance sheet.

Working Capital 2. Working capital. Current assets are often called working capital because
Current assets. these assets “turn over”; that is, they are used and then replaced through-
out the year. When Allied buys inventory items on credit, its suppliers,
in effect, lend it the money used to finance the inventory items. Allied
could have borrowed from its bank or sold stock to obtain the money,
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but it received the funds from its suppliers. These loans are shown as

accounts payable, and they typically are “free” in the sense that they do

not bear interest. Similarly, Allied pays its workers every two weeks and

pays taxes quarterly; so Allied’s labor force and taxing authorities provide

it with loans equal to its accrued wages and taxes. In addition to these

“free” sources of short-term credit, Allied borrows from its bank on a

short-term basis. These bank loans are shown as notes payable. Although

accounts payable and accruals do not bear interest, Allied pays interest

on funds obtained from the bank. The total of accounts payable, accru-

als, and notes payable represent current liabilities on its balance sheet. If

we subtract current liabilities from current assets, the difference is called

net working capital: Net Working Capital
Current assets minus

current liabilities.
Net working capital = Current assets — Current liabilities

= $1,000 — $310 = $690 million

Current liabilities include accounts payable, accruals, and notes payable to
the bank. Financial analysts often make an important distinction between net
working capital (NWC) and net operating working capital (NOWC). NOWC Net Operating
differs from NWC in two important ways. First, NOWC makes a distinction Working Capital
between cash that is used for operating purposes and “excess” cash that is (NOWC)
being held for other purposes. Thus, when calculating NOWC, analysts make Operating current assets
an estimate of excess cash and subtract this from the company’s current assets ~MNUs Operating current
to get the company’s operating current assets. Second, when looking at a liabilities.
company’s current liabilities, analysts distinguish between its “free” liabilities
(accruals and accounts payable) and its interest-bearing notes payable. These
interest-bearing liabilities are typically treated as a financing cost, rather than
an operating cost, which explains why they are not included as part of the
company’s operating current liabilities. Given these two adjustments, NOWC
is calculated as follows:

Net operating _ Operating current _ Operating
working capital (NOWC) assets current liabilities

_ (Current -~ Excess) _ ( Current Notes >

3.1

assets Cash liabilities  payable

= ($1,000 — $0) — ($310 — $110) = $800 million

Note that since Allied’s cash holdings in 2018 are fairly small ($10 million),
we are assuming that all of its cash is being held for operating purposes and that
it has no excess cash. If we had instead assumed that all of Allied’s $10 million
in cash is held for non-operating purposes, then this $10 million in excess cash
would be subtracted from its current assets, and its NOWC would be calculated
as $790 million instead of the $800 million calculated earlier. Although the dif-
ference for Allied is fairly small, assumptions about the level of excess cash
become much more important when analyzing companies with very large cash
holdings. For example, on December 31, 2016, Microsoft had more than $100
billion in cash and short-term investments. In this case, it matters considerably
whether the cash is treated as operating cash or excess cash. To keep things
simple, when relevant, we will indicate what portion of the cash is assumed to
be excess cash.
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QA
QUESTION:

Refer to Allied’s balance sheets shown in Table 3.1 to answer the following questions:
a. What was Allied’s net working capital on December 31, 2017?

b. What was Allied’s net operating working capital on December 31, 2017? Once again,
assume Allied has no excess cash in 2017.

ANSWER:

a. Networking capital,,, = Current assets, = — Current liabilities,

Net working capital = $810 — $220 = $590 million

2017

b. Netoperating (Current Excess) _ ( Current Notes )

working capital assets,  cash liabilities, payable

2017 2017 2017 2017 2017

Net operating

. . = ($810 — $0) — (5220 — $60)
working capital

2017
Net operating

. . = $810 — $160 = $650 million
working capital

2017

3. Total debt versus total liabilities. A company’s total debt includes both its short-
term and long-term interest-bearing liabilities. Total liabilities equal total
debt plus the company’s “free” (non-interest bearing) liabilities. Allied’s
short-term debt is shown as notes payable on its balance sheet:*

Total debt = Short-term debt + Long-term debt
= $110 + $750 = $860 million

Total liabilities = Total debt + (Accounts payable + Accruals)
= $860 + ($60 + $140) = $1,060 million = $1.06 billion

QA ]

QUESTION:

Refer to Allied’s balance sheets shown in Table 3.1. What was Allied’s total debt on
December 31, 2017?

ANSWER:

Total debt, ,, = Short-term debt, , + Long-term debt,

Total debt, = $60 + $580 = $640 million

*Companies also include the portion of their long-term bonds that is currently due as part of
short-term debt.
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4.  Other sources of funds. Most companies (including Allied) finance their assets
with a combination of short-term debt, long-term debt, and common equity.
Some companies also use “hybrid” securities such as preferred stock, con-
vertible bonds, and long-term leases. Preferred stock is a hybrid between
common stock and debt, while convertible bonds are debt securities that give
the bondholder an option to exchange their bonds for shares of common
stock. In the event of bankruptcy, debt is paid off first, and then preferred
stock. Common stock is last, receiving a payment only when something
remains after the debt and preferred stock are paid off.”

5. Depreciation. Most companies prepare two sets of financial statements—one is
based on Internal Revenue Service (IRS) rules and is used to calculate taxes;
the other is based on GAAP and is used for reporting to investors. Firms
often use accelerated depreciation for tax purposes but straight-line deprecia-
tion for stockholder reporting. Allied uses accelerated depreciation for both.°

6. Market values versus book values. Companies generally use GAAP to deter-
mine the values reported on their balance sheets. In most cases, these
accounting numbers (or “book values”) are different from what the assets
would sell for if they were offered for sale (or “market values”). For exam-
ple, Allied purchased its headquarters in Chicago in 1991. Under GAAP,
the company must report the value of this asset at its historical cost (what
it originally paid for the building in 1991) less accumulated depreciation.
Given that Chicago real estate prices have increased over the last 26 years
(even considering the impact of the recent recession on real estate values),
the market value of the building is higher than its book value. Other assets’
market values also differ from their book values.

We can also see from Table 3.1 that the book value of Allied’s common
equity at the end of 2018 was $940 million. Because 50 million shares were
outstanding, the book value per share was $940/50 = $18.80. However, the
market value of the common stock was $23.06. As is true for most companies
in 2018, shareholders are willing to pay more than book value for Allied’s
stock. This occurs in part because the values of assets have increased due to
inflation and in part because shareholders expect earnings to grow. Allied,
like most other companies, has learned how to make investments that will
increase future profits.

Apple provides an example of a company with very strong future prospects,
and as a result, in early 2017 its market value was more than five times its book
value. On the other hand, if a company has problems, its market value can fall
below its book value. For example, Genworth Financial, an insurance company
that has been struggling in recent years, saw its stock trading around $4 a
share at a time early in 2017 when its book value per share approximated $26.

“These other forms of financing are discussed in greater detail in Chapter 20.

*Depreciation over an asset’s life is equal to the asset’s cost, but accelerated depreciation results in
higher initial depreciation charges—and thus lower taxable income—than straight line. Due to the
time value of money, it is better to delay taxes; so most companies use accelerated depreciation for
tax purposes. Either accelerated or straight line can be used for stockholder reporting. Allied is
a relatively conservative company; hence, it uses accelerated depreciation for stockholder report-
ing. Had Allied elected to use straight line for stockholder reporting, its 2018 depreciation expense
would have been $25 million lower, the $1 billion shown for “net plant” on its balance sheet would
have been $25 million higher, and its reported income would also have been higher.

Depreciation is also important in capital budgeting, where we make decisions regarding new
investments in fixed assets. We will have more to say about depreciation in Chapter 12, when we
discuss capital budgeting.
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THE BALANCE SHEET OF ANA

AMERICAN HOUSEHOLD

Balance sheets are not unique to corporations. Every entity—
including state and local governments, nonprofit agencies,
and individual households—has a balance sheet.

We can learn a lot about a household’s financial well-being
by looking at its balance sheet. Although obviously every
household is different, economists can use available data to
estimate the balance sheet of an average American household.

For example, in 2009, James Kwak posted his calculations
of the average household balance sheet on his popular website
The Baseline Scenario (baselinescenario.com), which provides
interesting commentary on a variety of current economic and
financial issues. The underlying data for his calculations came
from the Federal Reserve Board’s Survey of Consumer Finances.

A summary of Kwak’s calculations for 2004, 2007, and
2009 is shown below. Although his calculations were only
meant to give a broad picture of recent trends, they produce
some interesting findings:

« The largest asset of the average household is its primary
residence.

+  The average American household does not have a large
amount of savings in place for retirement.

«  Perhaps somewhat surprisingly, average household debt
levels have not increased dramatically in recent years.

«  Average household net worth increased slightly from
2004 to 2007, but declined sharply from 2007 to 2009.
The decline in net worth was due to two reasons: The
sharp decline in the housing market reduced the value
of the average home and the sharp decline in the stock
market reduced the value of the average amount of
retirement savings.

Likewise, a Federal Reserve study (2010 Survey of Consumer
Finances) highlighted the deterioration in household finances due
to the financial crisis and resulting recession. The average family’s
pre-tax income fell 5.6%, and the average family’s net worth
dropped nearly 40% during the period 2007-2010. Indeed, at
the end of 2010, the average family’s net worth stood at the same
level that was observed in 1992—so in effect, the recent decline
wiped out about 18 years' worth of savings and investment.

Although not broken down on a per-household level,
updated information on aggregate household finances
is on the Federal Reserve website. For example, numbers
released in December 2016 indicate that aggregate house-
hold balance sheets have strengthened somewhat since
2010. Indeed, household net worth from 2010 through
2016 increased by almost 46%. These improvements reflect
that many households have made progress in reducing
their debt level. Household levels of net worth have also
improved because of the surge in home prices and the
large run-up in the stock market during this time period.”

At the same time, it is very important to realize that
these aggregate improvements in net worth have not been
shared equally across households. Indeed, many are con-
cerned that the gains over the past few decades have accrued
largely to those who are already quite wealthy. According to
a report from the Organization for Economic Cooperation
and Development, the richest 10% of American households
earn 28% of overall income; however, the 10% wealthiest
U.S. households have 76% of all the wealth in America. Thus,
when evaluating the current state of American households,
it is important to consider both the level of overall wealth
as well as the distribution of household income and wealth.

2004 2007 2009

Income $ 47,500 $ 47,300 $ 47,300
Assets

Bank accounts 3,300 2,700 2,700
Retirement savings 19,000 23,900 17,900
Vehicles 14,400 14,600 14,600
Primary residence 148,300 150,000 125,400
Total assets $185,000 $191,200 $ 160,600
Liabilities

Mortgage on primary residence S 84,800 $ 88,700 S 88,700
Installment loans 11,800 12,800 12,800
Credit cards 2,400 2,400 2,400
Total liabilities $ 99,000 $103,900 $103,900
Net worth $ 86,000 $ 87,300 $ 56,700

Note: See Kwak’s posting on The Baseline Scenario for more details about the methods that he used in his calculations.

Sources: James Kwak, “Tracking the Household Balance Sheet,” The Baseline Scenario (baselinescenario.com), February 15, 2009; William R. Emmons
and Bryan J. Noeth, “Unsteady Progress: Income Trends in the Federal Reserve’s Survey of Consumer Finances,” Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, In
the Balance, no. 2, 2012 (www.stlouisfed.org); Charles Riley, “Family Net Worth Plummets Nearly 40%,” CNN Money (money.cnn.com), June 12, 2012;
“Financial Accounts of the United States, Third Quarter, 2016," Federal Reserve Statistical Release, December 8, 2016; and Christopher Ingraham, “If
You Thought Income Inequality Was Bad, Get a Load of Wealth Inequality,’ The Washington Post (www.washingtonpost.com), May 21, 2015.

’Refer to “Recent Developments in Household Net Worth and Domestic Nonfinancial Debt,”
Financial Accounts of the United States, Third Quarter, 2016, Federal Reserve Statistical Release
(www.federalreserve.gov/releases/z1/current/z1.pdf), December 8, 2016.

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Chapter 3 Financial Statements, Cash Flow, and Taxes

7. Time dimension. The balance sheet is a snapshot of the firm’s financial posi-
tion at a point in time—for example, on December 31, 2018. Thus, we see that
on December 31, 2017, Allied had $80 million of cash, but that balance fell to
$10 million by year-end 2018. The balance sheet changes every day as inven-
tories rise and fall, as bank loans are increased or decreased, and so forth. A
company such as Allied, whose business is seasonal, experiences especially
large balance sheet changes during the year. Its inventories are low just
before the harvest season but high just after the fall crops have been harvest-
ed and processed. Similarly, most retailers have large inventories just before
Christmas but low inventories (and high accounts receivable) just after
Christmas. We will examine the effects of these changes in Chapter 4, when
we compare companies’ financial statements and evaluate their performance.

SelfTest

0 What is the balance sheet, and what information does it provide?

How is the order in which items are shown on the balance sheet determined?

Explain in words the difference between net working capital and net operating

working capital.

Explain in words the difference between total debt and total liabilities.

What items on Allied’s December 31 balance sheet would probably be different from
its June 30 values? Would these differences be as large if Allied were a grocery chain

rather than a food processor? Explain.

3-3 The Income Statement

Table 3.2 shows Allied’s 2017 and 2018 income statements. Net sales are shown at
the top of the statement; then operating costs, interest, and taxes are subtracted to
obtain the net income available to common shareholders. We also show earnings
and dividends per share, in addition to some other data, at the bottom of Table 3.2.
Earnings per share (EPS) is often called “the bottom line,” denoting that of all
items on the income statement, EPS is the one that is most important to stockhold-
ers. Allied earned $2.35 per share in 2018, down from $2.44 in 2017. In spite of the
decline in earnings, the firm still increased the dividend from $1.06 to $1.15.

A typical stockholder focuses on the reported EPS, but professional security
analysts and managers differentiate between operating and non-operating income.
Operating income is derived from the firm’s regular core business—in Allied’s
case, from producing and selling food products. Moreover, it is calculated before
deducting interest expenses and taxes, which are considered to be non-operating
costs. Operating income is also called EBIT, or earnings before interest and taxes.
Here is its equation:

Operating income (or EBIT) = Sales revenues — Operating costs 3.2
= $3,000.0 — $2,716.2
= $283.8 million

This figure must, of course, match the one reported on the income statement.
Different firms have different amounts of debt, different tax carrybacks and
carryforwards, and different amounts of non-operating assets such as marketable
securities. These differences can cause two companies with identical operations to
report significantly different net incomes. For example, suppose two companies

Income Statements
Reports summarizing a
firm’s revenues, expenses,
and profits during a
reporting period, gener-
ally a quarter or a year.

Operating Income
Earnings from opera-
tions before interest
and taxes (i.e., EBIT).
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TABLE 3.2

Allied Food Products: Income Statements for Years Ending December 31
(Millions of Dollars, Except for Per-Share Data)

2018 2017
Net sales $3,000.0 $2,850.0
Operating costs except depreciation and amortization 2,616.2 2,497.0
Depreciation and amortization 100.0 90.0
Total operating costs $2,716.2 $2,587.0
Operating income, or earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) $ 2838 $ 263.0
Less interest 88.0 60.0
Earnings before taxes (EBT) $ 1958 $ 203.0
Taxes (40%) 78.3 81.2
Net income $ 1175 $ 1218
Here are some related items:
Total dividends $ 575 $ 530
Addition to retained earnings = Net income — Total dividends $ 60.0 $ 688
Per-share data:
Common stock price $ 23.06 $ 26.00
Earnings per share (EPS)? $ 235 $ 244
Dividends per share (DPS)? $ 1.15 S 1.06
Book value per share (BVPS)? $ 18.80 $ 17.60

Note:
2Allied has 50 million shares of common stock outstanding. Note that EPS is based on net income available
to common stockholders. Calculations of EPS, DPS, and BVPS for 2018 are as follows:

Net income ~$117,500,000
Common shares outstanding 50,000,000

Earnings per share = EPS = =$2.35

Dividends paid to common stockholders _ $57,500,000
Common shares outstanding "~ 50,000,000

Dividends per share = DPS = =3$1.15

Total common equity $940,000,000
Common shares outstanding B 50,000,000

Book value per share = BVPS = =$18.80

When a firm has options or convertibles outstanding or it recently has issued new common stock, a more
comprehensive EPS, “diluted EPS,"is calculated. Its calculation is a bit more complicated, but you may refer
to any financial accounting text for a discussion.

have identical sales, operating costs, and assets. However, one company uses
some debt, and the other uses only common equity. Despite their identical operat-
ing performances, the company with no debt (and therefore no interest expense)
would report a higher net income because no interest was deducted from its oper-
ating income. Consequently, if you want to compare two companies’ operating
performances, it is best to focus on their operating income.®

$0perating income is important for several reasons. Managers are generally compensated based on
the performance of the units they manage. A division manager can control his or her division’s per-
formance, but not the firm’s capital structure policy or other corporate decisions. Second, if one firm
is considering acquiring another, it will be interested in the value of the target firm’s operations; that
value is determined by the target firm’s operating income. Third, operating income is normally more
stable than total income, as total income can be heavily influenced by write-offs of bonds backed by
subprime mortgages and the like. Therefore, analysts focus on operating income when they estimate
firms” long-run stock values.
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From Allied’s income statement, we see that its operating income increased
from $263.0 million in 2017 to $283.8 million in 2018, or by $20.8 million. However,
its 2018 net income declined. This decline occurred because it increased its debt in
2018, and the $28 million increase in interest lowered its net income.

Taking a closer look at the income statement, we see that depreciation and
amortization are important components of operating costs. Recall from account-
ing that depreciation is an annual charge against income that reflects the esti-
mated dollar cost of the capital equipment and other tangible assets that were
depleted in the production process. Amortization amounts to the same thing
except that it represents the decline in value of intangible assets such as patents,
copyrights, trademarks, and goodwill. Because depreciation and amortization are
so similar, they are generally lumped together for purposes of financial analysis
on the income statement and for other purposes. They both write off, or allocate,
the costs of assets over their useful lives.

Even though depreciation and amortization are reported as costs on the
income statements, they are not cash expenses—cash was spent in the past, when
the assets being written off were acquired, but no cash is paid out to cover depre-
ciation and amortization. Therefore, managers, security analysts, and bank loan
officers who are concerned with the amount of cash a company is generating
often calculate EBITDA, an acronym for earnings before interest, taxes, deprecia-
tion, and amortization. Allied has no amortization charges, so Allied’s deprecia-
tion and amortization expense consists entirely of depreciation. In 2018, Allied’s
EBITDA was $383.8 million.

Although the balance sheet represents a snapshot in time, the income state-
ment reports on operations over a period of time. For example, during 2018, Allied
had sales of $3 billion and its net income was $117.5 million. Income statements
are prepared monthly, quarterly, and annually. The quarterly and annual state-
ments are reported to investors, while the monthly statements are used internally
by managers for planning and control purposes.

Finally, note that the income statement is tied to the balance sheet through
the retained earnings account on the balance sheet. Net income as reported on the
income statement less dividends paid is the retained earnings for the year (e.g.,
2018). Those retained earnings are added to the cumulative retained earnings
from prior years to obtain the year-end 2018 balance for retained earnings. The
retained earnings for the year are also reported in the statement of stockholders’
equity. All four of the statements provided in the annual report are interrelated.

SelfTest

Depreciation

The charge to reflect the
cost of assets depleted in
the production process.
Depreciation is not a
cash outlay.

Amortization

A noncash charge similar
to depreciation except
that it represents a
decline in value of intan-
gible assets.

EBITDA

An acronym for earnings
before interest, taxes,
depreciation, and
amortization.

income?

What is EBITDA?

vV

Why is earnings per share called “the bottom line”? What is EBIT, or operating

Which is more like a snapshot of the firm's operations—the balance sheet or the

income statement? Explain your answer.

3-4 Statement of Cash Flows

Net income as reported on the income statement is not cash, and in finance, “cash
is king.” Management'’s goal is to maximize the price of the firm’s stock, and the
value of any asset, including a share of stock, is based on the cash flows the asset
is expected to produce. Therefore, managers strive to maximize the cash flows
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TABLE 3.3 Allied Food Products: Statement of Cash Flows for 2018 (Millions of Dollars)
2018

a. |. Operating Activities
b. Net income $ 1175
[ Depreciation and amortization 100.0
d. Increase in inventories (200.0)
e. Increase in accounts receivable (60.0)
f. Increase in accounts payable 30.0
g. Increase in accrued wages and taxes 10.0
h. Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ($ 25)
i. Il Investing Activities
j. Additions to property, plant, and equipment ($230.0)
k. Net cash used in investing activities ($230.0)
I lll. Financing Activities
m. Increase in notes payable $ 500
n. Increase in bonds 170.0
0. Payment of dividends to stockholders (57.5)
p. Net cash provided by financing activities m
q. IV. Summary
r. Net decrease in cash (Net sum of |, Il, and 1lI) ($ 70.0)
s. Cash and equivalents at the beginning of the year 80.0
t. Cash and equivalents at the end of the year $ 100

Note: Here and throughout the book parentheses are sometimes used to denote negative numbers.

Statement of Cash available to investors. The statement of cash flows, as shown in Table 3.3, is the
Flows accounting report that shows how much cash the firm is generating. The state-
Areport that shows how  ment is divided into four sections, and we explain it on a line-by-line basis.’
items that affect the bal- Here is a line-by-line explanation of the statement shown in Table 3.3:

ance sheet and income

statement affect the a. Operating activities. This section deals with items that occur as part of normal
firm’s cash flows. ongoing operations.

b. Net income. The first operating activity is net income, which is the first
source of cash. If all sales were for cash, if all costs required immediate cash
payments, and if the firm were in a static situation, net income would equal
cash from operations. However, these conditions don’t hold, so net income
is not equal to cash from operations. Adjustments shown in the remainder of
the statement must be made.

c. Depreciation and amortization. The first adjustment relates to depreciation
and amortization. Allied’s accountants subtracted depreciation (it has no
amortization expense), which is a noncash charge, when they calculated net
income. Therefore, depreciation must be added back to net income when
cash flow is determined.

d. Increase in inventories. To make or buy inventory items, the firm must
use cash. It may receive some of this cash as loans from its suppliers and

Allied’s statement of cash flows is relatively simple because it is a relatively uncomplicated com-
pany. Many cash flow statements are more complex, but if you understand Table 3.3, you should be
able to follow more complex statements.
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workers (payables and accruals), but ultimately, any increase in inventories
requires cash. Allied increased its inventories by $200 million in 2018. That
amount is shown in parentheses on line d because it is negative (i.e., a use
of cash). If Allied had reduced its inventories, it would have generated
positive cash.

e. Increase in accounts receivable. If Allied chooses to sell on credit when it
makes a sale, it will not immediately get the cash that it would have
received had it not extended credit. To stay in business, it must replace
the inventory that it sold on credit, but it won’t yet have received cash
from the credit sale. So if the firm’s accounts receivable increase, this will
amount to a use of cash. Allied’s receivables rose by $60 million in 2018,
and that use of cash is shown as a negative number on line e. If Allied
had reduced its receivables, this would be shown as a positive cash flow.
(Once cash is received for the sale, the accompanying accounts receivable
will be eliminated.)

f.  Increase in accounts payable. Accounts payable represent a loan from suppli-
ers. Allied bought goods on credit, and its payables increased by $30 million
this year. That is treated as a $30 million increase in cash on line f. If Allied
had reduced its payables, that would have required, or used, cash. Note
that as Allied grows, it will purchase more inventories. That will give rise
to additional payables, which will reduce the amount of new outside funds
required to finance inventory growth.

g. Increase in accrued wages and taxes. The same logic applies to accruals as
to accounts payable. Allied’s accruals increased by $10 million this year,
which means that in 2018, it borrowed an additional $10 million from
its workers and taxing authorities. So this represents a $10 million cash
inflow.

h. Net cash provided by operating activities. All of the previous items are part of
normal operations—they arise as a result of doing business. When we sum
them, we obtain the net cash flow from operations. Allied had positive flows
from net income, depreciation, and increases in payables and accruals, but it
used cash to increase inventories and to carry receivables. The net result was
that operations led to a $2.5 million net cash outflow.

i.  Investing activities. All activities involving long-term assets are covered in
this section. It also includes the purchase and sale of short-term investments,
other than trading securities, and lending and collecting on notes receiv-
ables. Allied had only one investment activity—the acquisition of some fixed
assets, as shown on line j. If Allied had sold some fixed assets, its accoun-
tants would have reported it in this section as a positive amount (i.e., as a
cash inflow).

j.  Additions to property, plant, and equipment. Allied spent $230 million on fixed
assets during the current year. This is an outflow; therefore, it is shown in
parentheses. If Allied had sold some of its fixed assets, this would have been
a cash inflow."

k. Net cash used in investing activities. Because Allied had only one investment
activity, the total on this line is the same as that on the previous line.

I Financing activities. Allied’s financing activities are shown in this section.

“The number on line j is “gross” investment, or total expenditures. It is also equal to the change
in net plant and equipment (from the balance sheet) plus depreciation, as shown on line c:
Gross investment = Net investment + Depreciation = $130 + $100 = $230.
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m. Increase in notes payable. Allied borrowed an additional $50 million from its
bank this year, which was a cash inflow. When Allied repays the loan, this
will be an outflow.

n. Increase in bonds (long-term debt). Allied borrowed an additional $170 million
from long-term investors this year, issuing bonds in exchange for cash. This
is shown as an inflow. When the bonds are repaid by the firm some years
hence, this will be an outflow.

o. Payment of dividends to stockholders. Dividends are paid in cash, and the
$57.5 million that Allied paid to stockholders is shown as a negative amount.

p. Net cash provided by financing activities. The sum of the three financing entries,
which is a positive $162.5 million, is shown here. These funds were used to
help pay for the $230 million of new plant and equipment and to help cover
the deficit resulting from operations.

q. Summary. This section summarizes the change in cash and cash equivalents
over the year.

r. Net decrease in cash. The net sum of the operating activities, investing activi-
ties, and financing activities is shown here. These activities resulted in a
$70 million net decrease in cash during 2018, mainly due to expenditures on
new fixed assets.

s. Cash and equivalents at the beginning of the year. Allied began the year with
$80 million of cash, which is shown here.

t.  Cash and equivalents at the end of the year. Allied ended the year with $10 million
of cash, the $80 million it started with minus the $70 million net decrease that
occurred during the year. Clearly, Allied’s cash position is weaker than it was
at the beginning of the year.

Allied’s statement of cash flows should be of concern to its managers and
investors. The company was able to cover the small operating deficit and the
large investment in fixed assets by borrowing and reducing its beginning bal-
ances of cash and equivalents. However, the firm can’t continue to do this indefi-
nitely. In the long run, Section I needs to show positive operating cash flows. In
addition, we would expect Section II to show expenditures on fixed assets that
are about equal to (1) its depreciation charges (to replace worn out fixed assets),
along with (2) some additional expenditures to provide for growth. Section III
would normally show some net borrowing in addition to a “reasonable” amount
of dividends." Finally, Section IV should show a reasonably stable year-to-year
cash balance. These conditions don’t hold for Allied, so some actions should be
taken to correct the situation. We will consider corrective actions in Chapter 4,
when we analyze the firm’s financial statements.

SelfTest

What is the statement of cash flows, and what are some questions it answers?
O Identify and briefly explain the four sections shown in the statement of cash flows.

If during the year a company has high cash flows from its operations, does this mean
that cash on its balance sheet will be higher at the end of the year than it was at the
beginning of the year? Explain.

The average company pays out about one-third of its earnings as dividends, but there is a great
deal of variation between companies, depending on each company’s needs for retained earnings to
support growth. We cover dividends in detail in Chapter 15.
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3-5 Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

Changes in stockholders’” equity during the accounting period are reported in the

statement of stockholders’ equity. Table 3.4 shows that Allied earned $117.5 million =~ Statement of

during 2018, paid out $57.5 million in common dividends, and plowed $60 million Stockholders’ Equity

back into the business. Thus, the balance sheet item “Retained earnings” increased A statement that shows

from $750 million at year-end 2017 to $810 million at year-end 2018.12 by how much a firm's
Note that “retained earnings” represents a claim against assets, not assets per er?unty chan dgE(:‘duI:I'ng

se. Stockholders allow management to retain earnings and reinvest them in the zhzr)\lgzrc?cncurvrveg this

business, use retained earnings for additions to plant and equipment, add to '

inventories, and the like. Companies do not just pile up cash in a bank account.

Thus, retained earnings as reported on the balance sheet do not represent cash and are not

“available” for dividends or anything else."”®

SelfTest

0 What information does the statement of stockholders’ equity provide?

Why do changes in retained earnings occur?

Explain why the following statement is true: The retained earnings account reported
on the balance sheet does not represent cash and is not “available” for dividend pay-
ments or anything else.

Allied Food Products: Statement of Stockholders’ Equity, December 31,2018 TABLE 3.4
(Millions of Dollars)
COMMON STOCK
Total
Shares Retained Stockholders’
(000) Amount Earnings Equity
Balances, December 31, 2017 50,000 $130.0 $750.0 $880.0
2018 Net income 117.5
Cash dividends (57.5)
Addition to retained earnings 60.0
Balances, December 31,2018 50,000 $130.0 $810.0 $940.0

2If they had been applicable, columns would have been used to show Additional Paid-in Capital
and Treasury Stock. Also, additional rows would have contained information on such things as
new issues of stock, treasury stock acquired or reissued, stock options exercised, and unrealized
foreign exchange gains or losses.

B3Cash (as of the balance sheet date) is found in the cash account, an asset account. A positive num-
ber in the retained earnings account indicates only that the firm has in the past earned income and
has not paid it all out as dividends. Even though a company reports record earnings and shows an
increase in retained earnings, it still may be short of cash if it is using its available cash to purchase
current and fixed assets to support growth. The same situation holds for individuals. You might
own a new BMW (no loan), many clothes, and an expensive stereo (hence, have a high net worth),
but if you had only $0.23 in your pocket plus $5.00 in your checking account, you would still be
short of cash.
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3-6 Uses and Limitations of Financial
Statements

As we mentioned in the opening vignette to this chapter, financial statements pro-
vide a great deal of useful information. You can inspect the statements and answer
a number of important questions such as these: How large is the company? Is it
growing? Is it making or losing money? Is it generating cash through its opera-
tions, or are operations actually losing cash?

At the same time, investors need to be cautious when they review financial
statements. Although companies are required to follow GAAP, managers still
have a lot of discretion in deciding how and when to report certain transactions.

Consequently, two firms in exactly the same situation may report financial
statements that convey different impressions about their financial strength. Some
variations may stem from legitimate differences of opinion about the correct way
to record transactions. In other cases, managers may choose to report numbers in
a manner that helps them present either higher or more stable earnings over time.
As long as they follow GAAP, such actions are legal, but these differences make it
difficult for investors to compare companies and gauge their true performances.
In particular, watch out if senior managers receive bonuses or other compensation
based on earnings in the short run—they may try to boost short-term reported
income to boost their bonuses.

Unfortunately, there have also been cases where managers disregarded GAAP
and reported fraudulent statements. One blatant example of cheating involved
WorldCom, which reported asset values that exceeded their true value by about
$11 billion. This led to an understatement of costs and a corresponding overstate-
ment of profits. Enron is another high-profile example. It overstated the value of
certain assets, reported those artificial value increases as profits, and transferred
the assets to subsidiary companies to hide the true facts. Enron’s and WorldCom's
investors eventually learned what was happening, and the companies were forced
into bankruptcy. Many of their top executives went to jail, the accounting firm
that audited their books was forced out of business, and investors lost billions of
dollars.

After the Enron and WorldCom fiascos, Congress in 2002 passed the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX), which required companies to improve their internal
auditing standards and required the CEO and CFO to certify that the financial
statements were properly prepared. The SOX bill also created a new watchdog
organization to help make sure that the outside accounting firms were doing
their jobs.

More recently, a serious debate has arisen regarding the appropriate account-
ing for complicated investments held by financial institutions. In the recent finan-
cial crisis, many of these investments (particularly those related to subprime mort-
gages) turned out to be worth a lot less than their stated book value. Currently,
regulators and other policy makers are struggling to come up with the best way
to account for and regulate many of these “toxic assets.”!*

Finally, keep in mind that even if investors receive accurate accounting data,
it is cash flows, not accounting income, that matters most. Similarly, as we shall
see in Chapters 11 through 13, when managers make capital budgeting decisions
on which projects to accept, their focus should be on cash flow.

*On May 12, 2011, the FASB and IASB jointly issued new guidance regarding how fair value mea-
surement should be applied where its use is already required. It does not extend the use of fair
value accounting.
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SelfTest
Can investors be confident that if the financial statements of different companies
O are accurate and are prepared in accordance with GAAP, the data reported by one
company will be comparable to the data provided by another?

Why might different companies account for similar transactions in different ways?

3-7 Free Cash Flow

Thus far, we have focused on financial statements as they are prepared by accoun-

tants. However, accounting statements are designed primarily for use by credi-

tors and tax collectors, not for managers and stock analysts. Therefore, corporate

decision makers and security analysts often modify accounting data to meet their

needs. The most important modification is the concept of free cash flow (FCF), Free Cash Flow (FCF)
defined as “the amount of cash that could be withdrawn without harming a firm’s ~ The amount of cash that
ability to operate and to produce future cash flows.” Here is the equation used to ~ could be withdrawn

calculate free cash flow: without harming a firm’s
ability to operate and
L. . . to produce future cash
FCF = |EBIT(1 — T) + Depreciation | Caplfcal " ANet.operat!ng 33 flows.
and amortization expenditures  working capital

The first term represents the amount of cash that the firm generates from its
current operations. EBIT (1 — T) is often referred to as NOPAT, or net operat- Net Operating Profit
ing profit after taxes. Depreciation and amortization are added back because After Taxes (NOPAT)
these are noncash expenses that reduce EBIT but do not reduce the amount of ~The profita company
cash the company has available to pay its investors. The second bracketed term ~Would generate if it had
indicates the amount of cash that the company is investing in its fixed assets "° debt and held only
(capital expenditures) and operating working capital in order to sustain ongoing operating assets.
operations. A positive level of FCF indicates that the firm is generating more than
enough cash to finance current investments in fixed assets and working capital.
By contrast, negative free cash flow means that the company does not have suf-
ficient internal funds to finance investments in fixed assets and working capital,
and that it will have to raise new money in the capital markets in order to pay
for these investments.

Consider the case of Home Depot. The first bracketed term in Equation 3.3 repre-
sents the amount of cash that Home Depot is generating from its existing stores.
The second bracketed term represents the amount of cash that the company is
spending this period to construct new stores. When Home Depot opens a new
store, it needs cash to purchase the land and construct the building—these are
capital expenditures, and they lead to a corresponding increase in the firm’s fixed
assets on the balance sheet. However, when it opens a new store, the company
also needs to increase its net operating working capital. In particular, the com-
pany needs to stock the store with new inventory. Part of this inventory may be
financed through accounts payable—for example, a supplier might ship Home
Depot some flashlights today and allow Home Depot to pay for them later. In
this case, there would be no increase in net operating working capital because
the increase in current assets exactly equals the increase in current liabilities.
Other portions of their inventory may not have offsetting accounts payable, so
there will be an increase in net operating working capital, and the company must
come up with the cash today in order to pay for this increase. Putting everything
together, the company as a whole is generating positive free cash flow if the

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203

Copyright 2019 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.

81



82

Part 2 Fundamental Concepts in Financial Management

money generated from operating existing stores exceeds the money required to
build new stores.

Looking at Allied’s key financial statements, we can collect the pieces that
we need to calculate its free cash flow. First, we can obtain Allied’s EBIT and
depreciation and amortization expense from the income statement. Looking at
Table 3.2, we see that Allied’s 2018 operating income (EBIT) was $283.8 million.
Because Allied’s tax rate is 40%, it follows that its NOPAT = EBIT(1 — T) =
$283.8(1 — 0.4) = $170.3 million. We also see that Allied’s depreciation and amor-
tization expense in 2018 was $100 million.

Allied’s capital expenditures (the cash used to purchase new fixed assets)
can be found under the investment activities on the Statement of Cash Flows.
Looking at Table 3.3, we see that Allied’s capital expenditures in 2018 totaled
$230 million." Finally, we need to calculate the change in net operating working
capital (ANOWC). Recall that NOWC is operating current assets (where oper-
ating current assets equal current assets minus excess cash) minus operating
current liabilities (where operating current liabilities are calculated as current
liabilities minus notes payable). We showed earlier that Allied’s NOWC for
2018 was

NOWC,, . = ($1,000 — $0) — ($310 — $110) = $800 million
Likewise, assuming once again that Allied had no excess cash in 2017, its NOWC
for 2017 can be calculated as
NOWC,,,, = ($810 — $0) — ($220 — $60) = $650 million

Thus, Allied’s change in net operating working capital (ANOWC) = $150 million
($800 million — $650 million). Putting everything together, we can now calculate
Allied’s 2018 free cash flow:

FCF = [EBIT(1 -7+

Depreciation Capital ANet operating
. — . + . .
and amortization expenditures  working capital

FCF,, . = [$170.3 + $100] — [$230 + $150]

2018

= —$109.7 million

Allied’s FCF is negative, which is not good. Note, though, that the negative
FCF is largely attributable to the $230 million expenditure for a new processing
plant. This plant is large enough to meet production for several years, so another
new plant will not be needed until 2022. Therefore, Allied’s FCF for 2019 and the
next few years should increase, which means that Allied’s financial situation is not
as bad as the negative FCF might suggest.

Most rapidly growing companies have negative FCFs—the fixed assets and
working capital needed to support a firm’s rapid growth generally exceed cash
flows from its existing operations. This is not bad, provided a firm’s new invest-
ments are eventually profitable and contribute to its FCF.

5Alternatively, we can calculate Allied’s capital expenditures by looking at changes in net fixed
assets on the balance sheet between 2017 and 2018 and then adding back depreciation and
amortization for 2018. In this example, Allied’s net fixed assets increased $130 million (from
$870 million in 2017 to $1 billion in 2018), and its depreciation and amortization totaled $100
million in 2018. Consequently, gross capital expenditures were $130 million + $100 million =
$230 million.
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O7TQ

A company has EBIT of $30 million, depreciation of $5 million, and a 40% tax rate. It needs
to spend $10 million on new fixed assets and $15 million to increase its operating current
assets. It expects its accounts payable to increase by $2 million, its accruals to increase by
$3 million, and its notes payable to increase by $8 million. The firm’s current liabilities consist
of only accounts payable, accruals, and notes payable. What is its free cash flow?

QUESTION:

ANSWER:

First, you need to determine the ANet operating working capital (ANOWC):

ANOWC = AOperating current assets — AOperating current liabilities
ANOWC = AOperating current assets — (ACurrent liabilities — ANotes payable)

ANOWC = $15 — (513 — $8)
ANOWC = $15 — $5 = $10 million

Now, you can solve for free cash flow (FCF):

FCF = [EBIT(1 — T) + Depreciation and amortization] — [Capital expenditures + ANOWC]

FCF = [$30(1 — 0.4) + $5] — [$10 + $10]
FCF = [$18 + $5] — $20
FCF = $3 million

FREE CASH FLOW IS IMPORTANT FOR B

BOTH SMALL AND LARGE:

Free cash flow is important to large companies like Allied Foods.
Security analysts use FCF to help estimate the value of the stock,
and Allied’s managers use it to assess the value of proposed cap-
ital budgeting projects and potential merger candidates. Note,
though, that the concept is also relevant for small businesses.

Assume that your aunt and uncle own a small pizza shop
and that their accountant prepares their financial statements.
The income statement shows their annual accounting profits.
Although they are certainly interested in this number, what
they probably care more about is how much money they can
take out of the business each year to maintain their standard
of living. Let’s assume that the shop’s net income for 2018 was
$75,000. However, your aunt and uncle had to spend $50,000
to refurbish the kitchen and restrooms.

So although the business is generating a great deal
of “profit,” your aunt and uncle can’t take much money out
because they have to put money back into the pizza shop.
Stated another way, their free cash flow is much less than
their net income. The required investments could be so large
that they even exceed the money made from selling pizza.
In this case, your aunt and uncle’s free cash flow would be
negative. If so, this means they must find funds from other
sources just to maintain their pizza business.

As astute business owners, your aunt and uncle recog-
nize that their restaurant investments, such as updating the
kitchen and restrooms, are nonrecurring, and if nothing else
happens unexpectedly, your aunt and uncle should be able to
take more cash out of the business in future years, when their
free cash flow increases. But some businesses never seem to
produce cash for their owners—they consistently generate
positive net income, but this net income is swamped by the
amount of cash that has to be plowed back into the business.

Thus, when it comes to valuing the pizza shop (or any
business small or large), what really matters is the amount of
free cash flow that the business generates over time. Looking
ahead, your aunt and uncle face competition from national
chains that are moving into the area. To meet the competi-
tion, your aunt and uncle will have to modernize the dining
room. This will again drain cash from the business and reduce
its free cash flow, although the hope is that it will enable them
to increase sales and free cash flow in the years ahead. As we
will see in Chapters 11 through 13, which cover capital bud-
geting, evaluating projects require us to estimate whether the
future increases in free cash flow are sufficient to more than
offset the initial project cost. Therefore, the free cash flow cal-
culation is critical to a firm’s capital budgeting analysis.
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SelfTest

Many analysts regard FCF as being the single most important number that
can be developed from accounting statements, even more important than net
income. After all, FCF shows how much cash the firm can distribute to its inves-
tors. We discuss FCF again in Chapter 9, which covers stock valuation, and in
Chapters 11 through 13, which cover capital budgeting.

vV

Market Value Added
(MVA)

The excess of the market
value of equity over its
book value.

What is free cash flow (FCF)?

Why is FCF an important determinant of a firm'’s value?

3-8 MVA and EVA

Items reported on the financial statements reflect historical, in-the-past, values, not
current market values, and there are often substantial differences between the two.
Changes in interest rates and inflation affect the market value of the company’s
assets and liabilities but often have no effect on the corresponding book values
shown in the financial statements. Perhaps, more importantly, the market’s assess-
ment of value takes into account its ongoing assessment of current operations as
well as future opportunities. For example, it cost Microsoft very little to develop
its first operating system, but that system turned out to be worth many billions
that were not shown on its balance sheet. For a given level of debt, these increases
in asset value also lead to a corresponding increase in the market value of equity.

To illustrate, consider the following situation. A firm was started with $1 million
of assets at book value (historical cost), $500,000 of which was provided by bond-
holders, and $500,000 by stockholders (50,000 shares purchased at $10 per share).
However, this firm became very successful; the market value of the firm’s equity is
now worth $19.5 million, and its current stock price is $19,500,000/50,000 = $390 per
share. Clearly the firm’s managers have done a marvelous job for the stockholders.

The accounting statements do not reflect market values, so they are not suf-
ficient for purposes of evaluating managers’ performance. To help fill this void,
financial analysts have developed two additional performance measures, the first of
which is MVA, or market value added.'®* MVA is simply the difference between the
market value of a firm’s equity and the book value as shown on the balance sheet,
with market value found by multiplying the stock price by the number of shares
outstanding. For our hypothetical firm, MVA is $19.5 million — $0.5 million =
$19 million.

For Allied, which has 50 million shares outstanding and a stock price of $23.06,
the market value of the equity is $1,153 million versus a book value, as shown on
the balance sheet in Table 3.1, of $940 million. Therefore, Allied’s MVA is $1,153 —
$940 = $213 million. This $213 million represents the difference between the money
Allied’s stockholders have invested in the corporation since its founding—including
retained earnings—versus the cash they could receive if they sold the business. The
higher its MVA, the better the job management is doing for the firm’s shareholders.
Boards of directors often look at MVA when deciding on the compensation a firm’s
managers deserve. Note, though, that just as all ships rise in a rising tide, most firms’

“The concepts of EVA and MVA were developed by Joel Stern and Bennett Stewart, co-founders of
the consulting firm Stern Stewart & Company. Stern Stewart copyrighted the terms MVA and EVA,
so other consulting firms have given other names to these values. Still, MVA and EVA are the terms
most commonly used in practice. For more on MVA and EVA, see G. Bennett Stewart, The Quest for
Value (New York: HarperCollins, 1991, 1999).
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stock prices rise in a rising stock market, so a positive MVA may not be entirely
attributable to management performance.
A related concept, economic value added (EVA), sometimes called “economic  Economic Value

profit,” is closely related to MVA and is found as follows:"” Added (EVA)
Excess of NOPAT over
Net operating profit  Annual dollar capital costs.
EVA = after taxes - cost of 34
(NOPAT) capital
Total After-tax
=EBIT(1 —T) — | invested X percentage

capital  cost of capital

Companies create value (and realize positive EVA) if the benefits of their invest-
ments exceed the cost of raising the necessary capital. Total invested capital repre-
sents the amount of money that the company has raised from debt, equity, and any
other sources of capital (such as preferred stock).!® The annual dollar cost of capital
is total invested capital multiplied by the after-tax percentage cost of this capital.
So, for example, if the company has raised $1 million in capital, and the current
cost of capital is 10%, the annual dollar cost of capital would be $100,000. The funds
raised from this capital are invested in a variety of net fixed assets and net operat-
ing working capital. In any given year, NOPAT is the amount of money that these
investments have generated for the company’s investors after paying for operating
costs and taxes—in this regard it represents the benefits of capital investments.

EVA is an estimate of a business’s true economic profit for a given year, and
it often differs sharply from accounting net income. The main reason for this dif-
ference is that although accounting income takes into account the cost of debt (the
company’s interest expense), it does not deduct for the cost of equity capital. By
contrast, EVA takes into account the total dollar cost of all capital, which includes
both the cost of debt and equity capital.

If EVA is positive, then after-tax operating income exceeds the cost of the capi-
tal needed to produce that income, and management’s actions are adding value
for stockholders. Positive EVA on an annual basis will help ensure that MVA is
also positive. Note that whereas MVA applies to the entire firm, EVA can be deter-
mined for divisions as well as for the company as a whole, so it is useful as a guide
to “reasonable” compensation for divisional as well as top corporate managers.

SelfTest

0 Define the terms market value added (MVA) and economic value added (EVA).

How does EVA differ from accounting net income?

“Another top consulting company, McKinsey & Company, uses the term economic profit. Its defini-
tion of economic profit is

(Total invested capital) X (Return on invested capital — Cost of capital)

Because the return on invested capital is [EBIT(1 — T)]/Total invested capital, you can show with a
little bit of algebra that EVA and economic profit are identical.

Note that some analysts (as the citation below shows) take out excess cash when calculating total
invested capital. However, we are going to keep things simple and use the standard definition

in this text. For a further discussion, refer to news.morningstar.com/classroom?2/course
.asp?docid=145095&page=9.
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3-9 Income Taxes

The IRS website is www.irs
.gov. Here you can find cur-
rent filing information and
current credits and deductions
information, and order need-

ed forms and publications. may Change over time.

Individuals and corporations pay out a significant portion of their income as
taxes, so taxes are important in both personal and corporate decisions. We sum-
marize the key aspects of the U.S. tax system for individuals in this section and
for corporations in the next section, using 2017 data. The details of our tax laws
change fairly often, but the basic nature of the tax system is likely to remain
intact. Following the 2016 election, many have proposed significant changes to
the Tax Code. (See the box titled, “Congress Considers Significant Changes to
the Tax Code.”) So, it remains possible that key features discussed in this section

CONGRESS CONSIDERS SIGNIFICA

TO THE TAX CODE ¢

In the text, we describe some key elements of the current
tax code, but as you probably know, there are on-going
attempts to change both the structure of the tax code and
the relevant tax rates. Many in Congress have focused spe-
cifically on the corporate tax code. The concern is that US.
companies often pay much higher rates than their global
competitors (see table below). There has also been some
talk of allowing companies to immediately expense their
capital investments for tax purposes (to spur new invest-
ment in both R&D and plant and equipment), while others

have proposed limiting the interest deduction on debt (to
discourage companies from taking on too much debt). At
the same time, others in Congress have expressed interest
in reforming the personal tax code.

It is always hard to predict how Congress will respond,
but if enacted these changes will likely have an important
effect for both corporate managers and individual house-
holds. In any event, it will be interesting to see how these
issues play out over the next couple of years.

Sample of 2016 Corporate Tax Rates Around the World

Country Tax Rate
Australia 30.00%
Canada 26.50
Denmark 22.00
France 33.30
Germany 29.72
Hong Kong 16.50
Ireland 12.50
Japan 30.86
Mexico 30.00
Russia 20.00
Saudi Arabia 20.00
South Africa 28.00
Spain 25.00
United Kingdom 20.00
United States 40.00

Source: “Corporate Tax Rates Table,” https://home.kpmg.com/xx/en/home/services/tax/tax-tools-and-resources/tax-rates-online/corporate

-tax-rates-table.html.
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3-9A INDIVIDUAL TAXES

Individuals pay taxes on wages and salaries, on investment income (dividends,

interest, and profits from the sale of securities), and on the profits of proprietor-

ships and partnerships. The tax rates are progressive—that is, the higher one’s Progressive

income, the larger the percentage paid in taxes. Table 3.5 provides the 2017 tax A tax system where the

rates that taxpayers will pay for tax returns due April 15, 2018. tax rate is higher on

Taxable income is defined as “gross income less a set of exemptions and deduc- ~ higher incomes. The

tions.” When filing a tax return in 2018 for the tax year 2017, taxpayers received ~Personalincome taxin

an exemption of $4,050 for each dependent, including the taxpayer, which reduces the United Staotes, which

taxable income. However, this exemption is indexed to rise with inflation, and the lranges f rom 0% on the
.. .. . owest incomes to 39.6%

exemption is phased out (taken away) for high-income taxpayers. Also, certain

. . . . . . on the highest incomes,
expenses, including mortgage interest paid, state and local income taxes paid, | progressive.

2017 Individual Tax Rates TABLE 3.5

Single Individuals

You Pay This Plus This Percentage Average Tax
If Your Taxable Amount on the on the Excess over Rate at Top

Incomells Base of the Bracket the Base (Marginal Rate) of Bracket

Up to $9,325 $ 0 10.0% 10.0%
$9,325-$37,950 932.50 15.0 13.8
$37,950-%$91,900 5,226.25 25.0 204
$91,900-5$191,650 18,713.75 28.0 243
$191,650-%$416,700 46,643.75 33.0 29.0
$416,700-%$418,400 120,910.25 35.0 29.0
Over $418,400 121,505.25 39.6 39.6
Married Couples Filing Joint Returns

You Pay This Plus This Percentage Average Tax
If Your Taxable Amount on the on the Excess over the Rate at

Income Is Base of the Bracket Base (Marginal Rate) Top of Bracket

Up to $18,650 $ 0 10.0% 10.0%
$18,650-%75,900 1,865.00 15.0 13.8
$75,900-5$153,100 10,452.50 25.0 194
$153,100-$233,350 29,752.50 28.0 224
$233,350-%416,700 52,222.50 33.0 271
$416,700—-$470,700 112,728.00 35.0 28.0
Over $470,700 131,628.00 39.6 396

Notes:

1. These are the 2017 tax rates that will be paid on tax returns due April 15, 2018. The income ranges at
which each tax rate takes effect are indexed with inflation, so they change each year.

2. The average tax rates are always below the marginal rates, but in 2017 the average at the top of the
brackets approaches 39.6% as taxable income rises without limit.

3. In 2017, a personal exemption of $4,050 per person or dependent could be deducted from gross income
to determine taxable income. Thus, a husband and wife with two children would have a 2017 exemption
of 4 X $4,050 = $16,200. The exemption increases with inflation, but if gross income exceeds certain
limits, the exemption is phased out, and this has the effect of raising the effective tax rate on incomes
over the specified limit. In addition, taxpayers can claim itemized deductions for charitable contributions
and certain other items, but these deductions are also phased out for high-income taxpayers. In addi-
tion, there are Social Security and Medicare taxes. These additional situations and payroll taxes push the
2017 effective tax rate up well above 39.6%.
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Marginal Tax Rate
The tax rate applicable to
the last unit of a person’s
income.

Average Tax Rate
Taxes paid divided by
taxable income.

Capital Gain

The profit from the sale
of a capital asset for
more than its purchase
price.

Capital Loss

The loss from the sale
of a capital asset for less
than its purchase price.

and charitable contributions, can be deducted and thus be used to reduce taxable
income—but again, high-income taxpayers lose most of these deductions.

The marginal tax rate is defined as “the tax rate on the last dollar of income.”
Marginal rates begin at 10% and rise to 39.6%. Note, though, that when consider-
ation is given to the phase-out of exemptions and deductions, to Social Security
and Medicare taxes, and to state taxes, the marginal tax rate may actually exceed
50%. Average tax rates can be calculated from the data in Table 3.5. For example,
if a single individual had taxable income of $40,000, his or her tax bill would be
$5,226.25 + ($40,000 — $37,950)(0.25) = $5,226.25 + $512.50 = $5,738.75. Her
average tax rate would be $5,738.75/$40,000 = 14.35% versus a marginal rate of
25%. If she received a raise of $1,000, bringing her income to $41,000, she would
have to pay $250 of it as taxes, so her after-tax raise would be $750.

Note too that interest income received by individuals from corporate securi-
ties is added to other income and thus is taxed at federal rates going up to 39.6%,
plus state taxes." Capital gains and losses, on the other hand, are treated differently.
Assets such as stocks, bonds, and real estate are defined as capital assets. When
you buy a capital asset and later sell it for more than you paid, you earn a profit
that is called a capital gain; when you suffer a loss, it is called a capital loss. If
you held the asset for a year or less, you will have a short-term capital gain or loss,
while if you held it for more than a year, you will have a long-term capital gain or
loss. Thus, if you buy 100 shares of Disney stock for $100 per share and sell them
for $110 per share, you have a capital gain of 100 X $10, or $1,000. However, if you
sell the stock for $90 per share, you will have a $1,000 capital loss. Depending on
how long you hold the stock, you will have a short-term or long-term capital gain
or loss. If you sell the stock for exactly $100 per share, you make neither a gain
nor a loss, so no tax is due.

A short-term capital gain is taxed at the same rate as ordinary income.
However, long-term capital gains are taxed differently. For most taxpayers, the
rate on long-term capital gains is only 15%. Thus, if in 2017, you were in the
35% tax bracket, any short-term capital gains you earned would be taxed just
like ordinary income, but your long-term capital gains would only be taxed at
15%. However, the tax rate on long-term capital gains is 20% for taxpayers in the
39.6% tax bracket. In addition, high-income taxpayers may incur a 3.8% unearned
income Medicare contribution tax applied to their capital gains and other net
investment income. So, the highest tax rate that could apply on short-term capital
gains that are taxed at ordinary rates is 43.4% compared to 23.8% on long-term
capital gains. Even for individuals at these top tax brackets, the tax rate on long-
term capital gains still remains considerably lower than the tax rate on ordinary
income.

Beginning in 2013, the maximum tax rate on qualified dividends increased to
20% for taxpayers in the 39.6% tax bracket.” However, for most taxpayers the
top tax rate on qualified dividends is 15%. Because corporations pay dividends
out of earnings that have already been taxed, there is double taxation of corporate

YUnder U.S. tax laws, interest on most state and local government bonds, called municipals or
“munis,” is not subject to federal income taxes. This has a significant effect on the values of munis
and on their rates of return. We discuss rates and returns in Chapter 8.

Y1f you have a net capital loss (your capital losses exceed your capital gains) for the year, you
can deduct up to $3,000 of this loss against your other income (for example, salary, interest, and
dividends).

Z'For a dividend to be “qualified,” the investor must have owned the stock for more than 60 days
during a 121-day period that begins 60 days prior to the ex-dividend date. We discuss dividends in
Chapter 15; however, for now, understand that the ex-dividend date is the date when the right to
the current dividend leaves the stock.
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income—income is first taxed at the corporate rate; then, when what is left is paid
out as dividends, it is taxed again. This double taxation motivated Congress to tax
dividends at a lower rate than the rate on ordinary income.

Tax rates on dividends and capital gains have varied over time, but they have
generally been lower than rates on ordinary income. Congress wants the economy
to grow. For growth, we need investment in productive assets, and low capital
gains and dividend tax rates encourage investment. Individuals with money to
invest understand the tax advantages associated with making equity investments
in newly formed companies versus buying bonds, so new ventures have an easier
time attracting capital under the tax system. All in all, lower capital gains and
dividend tax rates stimulate capital formation and investment.

As you might imagine, over the years Congress has frequently adjusted the
tax code for individuals to promote certain activities. For example, Individual
Retirement Accounts (IRAs) have encouraged individuals to save more for retire-
ment. There are two main types of IRAs, Traditional IRAs and Roth IRAs. In
each case, investors receive valuable tax benefits as long as the money is held
in their account until age 59%. Qualified contributions to a Traditional IRA are
tax deductible, and the income and capital gains on the investments within the
account are not taxed until the money is withdrawn after age 59%. On the other
hand, contributions to a Roth IRA are not tax deductible (they come out of after-
tax dollars), but from that point forward, neither the future income nor the capital
gains from the investments are taxed. In each case, investors in IRAs face penalties
if they withdraw funds before age 59%, unless there is a qualifying exception—for
example, investors in a Roth IRA can withdraw up to $10,000 from their account
to help pay for a first-time home without facing a penalty.

As a very rough rule of thumb, Roth IRAs are more attractive for those indi-
viduals who believe that their tax rates will increase over time—either because
they think their income will increase as they age and/or because they think
Congress will raise overall tax rates in the future. For this reason, many younger
investors who expect higher pay (and therefore higher tax rates!) over time tend
to select Roth IRAs. Indeed, a Vanguard analyst in a recent article in The Wall
Street Journal estimates that investors under 30 years old allocate 92% of their IRA
funds into Roth accounts. But as you might expect, one size doesn't fit all, and it is
important to review the specific eligibility requirements, potential penalties, and
distribution policies before making any investments. Fortunately, there are a lot
of great online resources that summarize the relative benefits and drawbacks with
both Traditional and Roth IRAs.”

One other tax feature should be addressed—the Alternative Minimum
Tax (AMT). The AMT was created in 1969 because Congress learned that
155 millionaires with high incomes paid no taxes because they had so many tax
shelters from items such as depreciation on real estate and municipal bond inter-
est. Under the AMT law, people must calculate their tax under the “regular” sys-
tem and then under the AMT system, where many deductions are added back to
income and then taxed at a special AMT rate. For many years, the AMT was not
indexed for inflation, and literally millions of taxpayers found themselves subject
to this very complex tax.”

ZFor additional information regarding IRAs refer to Laura Saunders, “Is a Roth Account Right
for You?” The Wall Street Journal (www.wsj.com), December 19, 2014; and David Wolpe, “All about
IRAs,” The Motley Fool (www.fool.com/money/allaboutiras/allaboutiras.htm).

PBeginning in 2013, the AMT exemption amounts are indexed to inflation. In 2017, the AMT
exemption amounts are $54,300 for single taxpayers, $84,500 for those married and filing jointly,
and $42,250 for those married and filing separately. The corporate AMT exemption is $40,000 and
is phased out with alternative minimum taxable income between $150,000 and $310,000.

Traditional IRAs
Individual retirement
arrangements in which
qualified contributions
are tax deductible and
income and capital gains
on investments within
the account are not
taxed until the money is
withdrawn after age 59%.

Roth IRAs

Individual retirement
arrangements in which
contributions are not tax
deductible but the future
income and capital gains
within these accounts are
not taxed if the money is
withdrawn after age 59%.

Alternative Minimum
Tax (AMT)

Created by Congress to
make it more difficult

for wealthy individuals
to avoid paying taxes
through the use of vari-
ous deductions.
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TABLE 3.6

2017 Corporate Tax Rates

It Pays This Plus This Percentage Average Tax
If a Corporation’s Amount on the on the Excess over the Rate at Top
Taxable Income s Base of the Bracket Base (Marginal Rate) of Bracket
Up to $50,000 $ 0 15% 15.0%
$50,000-$75,000 7,500 25 18.3
$75,000-5$100,000 13,750 34 223
$100,000-$335,000 22,250 39 34.0
$335,000-$10,000,000 113,900 34 34.0
$10,000,000-%15,000,000 3,400,000 35 343
$15,000,000-$18,333,333 5,150,000 38 35.0
Over $18,333,333 6,416,667 35 35.0

Tax legislation also increased health care taxes for single taxpayers earning
more than $200,000 and married taxpayers earning more than $250,000. These
taxpayers will incur an additional 0.9% Medicare tax and a 3.8% net investment
income tax on certain types of investment income.

3-9B CORPORATE TAXES

The corporate tax structure, shown in Table 3.6, is relatively simple. To illustrate,
if a firm had $65,000 of taxable income, its tax bill would be $11,250:

Taxes = $7,500 + 0.25($15,000)
= $7,500 + $3,750 = $11,250

Its average tax rate would be $11,250/$65,000 = 17.3%. Note that corporate income
above $18,333,333 has an average and marginal tax rate of 35%.

Interest and Dividends Received by a Corporation

Corporations earn most of their income from operations, but they may also own
securities—bonds and stocks—and receive interest and dividend income. Interest
income received by a corporation is taxed as ordinary income at regular corpo-
rate tax rates. However, dividends are taxed more favorably: 70% of dividends received
is excluded from taxable income, whereas the remaining 30% is taxed at the ordinary tax
rate.* Thus, a corporation earning more than $18,333,333 and paying a 40% mar-
ginal federal plus state tax rate would normally pay only (0.30)(0.4) = 0.12 = 12%
of its dividend income as taxes. If this firm had $10,000 in pretax dividend income,
its after-tax dividend income would be $8,800:

After-tax income = Pretaxincome (1 — T) = $10,000(1 — 0.12) = $8,800

The rationale behind this exclusion is that when a corporation receives divi-
dends and then pays out its own after-tax income as dividends to its stockholders,
the dividends received are subjected to triple taxation: (1) The original corporation

#The exclusion depends on the percentage of the paying company’s stock the receiving company
owns. If it owns 100% (hence, the payer is a subsidiary), all of the dividend will be excluded. If it
owns less than 20%, which is the case if the stock held is just an investment, 70% will be excluded.
Also, state tax rules vary, but in our example, we assume that Allied also has a state tax exclusion.
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is taxed. (2) The second corporation is taxed on the dividends it receives. (3) The
individuals who receive the final dividends are taxed again. This explains the 70%
intercorporate dividend exclusion.

Suppose a firm has excess cash that it does not need for operations, and it plans
to invest this cash in marketable securities. The tax factor favors stocks, which pay
dividends, rather than bonds, which pay interest. For example, suppose Allied had
$100,000 to invest, and it could buy bonds that paid 8% interest, or $8,000 per year,
or stock that paid 7% in dividends, or $7,000. Allied is in the 40% federal-plus-state
tax bracket. Therefore, if Allied bought bonds and received interest, its tax on the
$8,000 of interest would be 0.4($8,000) = $3,200, and its after-tax income would
be $4,800. If it bought stock, its tax would be $7,000(0.12) = $840, and its after-tax
income would be $6,160. Other factors might lead Allied to invest in bonds, but when
the investor is a corporation, the tax factor favors stock investments.

Interest and Dividends Paid by a Corporation

A firm like Allied can finance its operations with either debt or stock. If a firm
uses debt, it must pay interest, whereas if it uses stock, it is expected to pay divi-
dends. Interest paid can be deducted from operating income to obtain taxable income, but
dividends paid cannot be deducted. Therefore, Allied would need $1 of pretax income
to pay $1 of interest, but because it is in the 40% federal-plus-state tax bracket, it
must earn $1.67 of pretax income to pay $1 of dividends:

Pretax income needed _ $1 _ 8 $1.67

to pay $1 of dividends 1 — Taxrate 0.60 ’
Working backward, if Allied has $1.67 in pretax income, it must pay $0.67 in taxes
[(0.4)($1.67) = $0.67]. This leaves it with after-tax income of $1.00.

Table 3.7 shows the situation for a firm with $10 million of assets, sales of
$5 million, and $1.5 million of earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT). As shown
in column 1, if the firm were financed entirely by bonds and if it made interest pay-
ments of $1.5 million, its taxable income would be zero, taxes would be zero, and
its investors would receive the entire $1.5 million. (The term investors includes both
stockholders and bondholders.) However, as shown in column 2, if the firm had
no debt and was therefore financed entirely by stock, all of the $1.5 million of EBIT
would be taxable income to the corporation, the tax would be $1,500,000(0.40) =
$600,000, and investors would receive only $0.9 million versus $1.5 million under
debt financing. Therefore, the rate of return to investors on their $10 million invest-
ment is much higher when debt is used.

Returns to Investors under Bond and Stock Financing TABLE 3.7
Use Bonds Use Stocks
(1) (2)
Sales $5,000,000 $5,000,000
Operating costs 3,500,000 3,500,000
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) $1,500,000 $1,500,000
Interest 1,500,000 0
Taxable income S 0 $1,500,000
Federal-plus-state taxes (40%) 0 600,000
After-tax income S 0 $ 900,000
Income to investors $1,500,000 $ 900,000
Rate of return on $10 million of assets 15.0% 9.0%
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Carryback

Ordinary corporate oper-
ating losses can be car-
ried backward for 2 years
and carried forward for
20 years to offset taxable
income in a given year.

Carryforward
Ordinary corporate oper-
ating losses can be car-
ried backward for 2 years
and carried forward for
20 years to offset taxable
income in a given year.

TABLE 3.8

Of course, it is generally not possible to finance exclusively with debt, and
the risk of doing so would offset the benefits of the higher expected income. Still,
the fact that interest is a deductible expense has a profound effect on the way businesses
are financed—the corporate tax system favors debt financing over equity financing. This
point is discussed in more detail in Chapters 10 and 14.%

Corporate Capital Gains

Before 1987, corporate long-term capital gains were taxed at lower rates than
corporate ordinary income; so the situation was similar for corporations and indi-
viduals. Currently, though, corporations’ capital gains are taxed at the same rates
as their operating income.

Corporate Loss Carryback and Carryforward

Ordinary corporate operating losses can be carried back (carryback) to each of the
preceding 2 years and carried forward (carryforward) for the next 20 years and
used to offset taxable income in those years. For example, an operating loss in
2018 could be carried back and used to reduce taxable income in 2016 and 2017, it
also could be carried forward, if necessary, and used in 2019, 2020, up until 2038.
The loss is applied to the earliest year first, then to the next earliest year, and so
forth, until losses have been used up or the 20-year carryforward limit has been
reached.

To illustrate, suppose Company X had $2 million of pretax profits (taxable
income) in 2016 and 2017 and then in 2018, it lost $12 million. Its federal-plus-state
tax rate is 40%. As shown in Table 3.8, Company X would use the carryback fea-
ture to recompute its taxes for 2016, using $2 million of the 2018 operating losses
to reduce the 2016 pretax profit to zero. This would permit it to recover the taxes
paid in 2016. Therefore, in 2018, it would receive a refund of its 2016 taxes because
of the loss experienced in 2018. Because $10 million of the unrecovered losses
would still be available, X would repeat this procedure for 2017. Thus, in 2018,

Calculation of Loss Carryback and Carryforward for 2016-2017 Using a $12 Million
2018 Loss

2016 2017
Original taxable income $ 2,000,000 $ 2,000,000
Carryback credit —2,000,000 —2,000,000
Adjusted profit $ 0 $ 0
Taxes previously paid (40%) 800,000 800,000
Difference = Tax refund $ 800,000 $ 800,000

Total refund check received in 2019: $800,000 + $800,000 = $1,600,000.
Amount of loss carryforward available for use in 2019-2038:

2018 loss $ 12,000,000
Carryback losses used 4,000,000
Carryforward losses still available $ 8,000,000

»A company could, in theory, refrain from paying dividends to help prevent its stockholders from
having to pay taxes on dividends received. The IRS has a rule against the improper accumulation of
retained earnings. However, in our experience, it is easy for firms to justify retaining earnings, and
we have never seen a firm have a problem with the improper accumulation rule.
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the company would pay zero taxes for 2018 and would receive a refund for taxes
paid in 2016 and 2017. It would still have $8 million of unrecovered losses to carry
forward, subject to the 20-year limit. This $8 million could be used until the entire
$12 million loss had been used to offset taxable income. The purpose of permitting
this loss treatment is to avoid penalizing corporations whose incomes fluctuate
substantially from year to year.

Consolidated Corporate Tax Returns

If a corporation owns 80% or more of another corporation’s stock, it can aggregate
income and file one consolidated tax return. This allows the losses of one com-
pany to be used to offset the profits of another. (Similarly, one division’s losses can
be used to offset another division’s profits.) No business wants to incur losses, but
tax offsets make it more feasible for large, multidivisional corporations to under-
take risky new ventures or ventures that will suffer losses during a developmental
period.

Taxation of Small Businesses: S Corporations

As we noted in Chapter 1, the Tax Code allows small businesses that meet cer-

tain conditions to be set up as corporations and thus receive the benefits of the

corporate form of organization—especially limited liability—yet still be taxed as

proprietorships or partnerships rather than as corporations. These corporations

are called S Corporations. (Regular corporations are called C corporations.) If a S Corporation
corporation elects to set up as an S corporation, all of its income is reported as A small corporation that,
personal income by its stockholders, on a pro rata basis, and thus is taxed at the under Subchapter S of
stockholders’ individual rates. Because the income is taxed only once, this is an ~the Interal Revenue
important benefit to the owners of small corporations in which all or most of the Code, elects to be taxed

income earned each year will be distributed as dividends. The situation is similar asa propr.letorsh|p ora
for LLCs partnership yet retains

limited liability and other
benefits of the corporate
Depreciation form of organization.
Depreciation plays an important role in income tax calculations—the larger the

depreciation, the lower the taxable income, the lower the tax bill, and thus the

higher the operating cash flow. Congress specifies the life over which assets can

be depreciated for tax purposes and the depreciation methods that can be used.

We discuss in detail how depreciation is calculated and how it affects income and

cash flows when we study capital budgeting.

SelfTest
Explain this statement: Our tax rates are progressive.
0 What's the difference between marginal and average tax rates?

What's the AMT, and what is its purpose?
What's a muni bond, and how are these bonds taxed?
What are long-term capital gains? Are they taxed like other income? Explain.
How does our tax system influence the use of debt financing by corporations?
What is the logic behind allowing tax loss carrybacks/carryforwards?
Differentiate between S and C corporations.
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@

%@ TYING IT ALL TOGETHER

The primary purposes of this chapter were to describe the basic financial state-
ments, to present background information on cash flows, to differentiate between
cash flow and accounting income, and to provide an overview of the federal income
tax system. In the next chapter, we build on this information to analyze a firm'’s finan-
cial statements and to determine its financial health.

Self-Test Questions and Problems

vV

ST-1

ST-2

(Solutions Appear in Appendix A)

KEY TERMS Define each of the following terms:

a. Annual report; balance sheet; income statement; statement of cash flows; statement of
stockholders” equity

. Stockholders’ equity; retained earnings; working capital; net working capital; net ope-
rating working capital (NOWC); total debt
Depreciation; amortization; operating income; EBITDA; free cash flow (FCF)
. Net operating profit after taxes (NOPAT)
Market value added (MVA); economic value added (EVA)
Progressive tax; marginal tax rate; average tax rate
. Tax loss carryback; carryforward; alternative minimum tax (AMT)
. Traditional IRAs; Roth IRAs
Capital gain (loss)
j- S corporation

o8

5 a9 0 Q0

—-

NET INCOME AND CASH FLOW Last year Rattner Robotics had $5 million in operating
income (EBIT). Its depreciation expense was $1 million, its interest expense was $1 million,
and its corporate tax rate was 40%. At year-end, it had $14 million in operating current
assets, $3 million in accounts payable, $1 million in accruals, $2 million in notes payable,
and $15 million in net plant and equipment. Assume Rattner has no excess cash. Rattner
uses only debt and common equity to fund its operations. (In other words, Rattner has no
preferred stock on its balance sheet.) Rattner had no other current liabilities. Assume that
Rattner’s only noncash item was depreciation.

What was the company’s net income?

. What was its net operating working capital (NOWC)?

What was its net working capital (NWC)?

. Rattner had $12 million in net plant and equipment the prior year. Its net operating
working capital has remained constant over time. What is the company’s free cash
flow (ECF) for the year that just ended?

e. Rattner has 500,000 common shares outstanding, and the common stock amount on
the balance sheet is $5 million. The company has not issued or repurchased common
stock during the year. Last year’s balance in retained earnings was $11.2 million, and
the firm paid out dividends of $1.2 million during the year. Develop Rattner’s end-of-
year statement of stockholders’ equity.

f. If the firm’s stock price at year-end is $52, what is the firm’s market value added (MVA)?

g. If the firm’s after-tax percentage cost of capital is 9%, what is the firm’s EVA at year-end?

oo o
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3-1
3-2
B
3-4

3-5

3-6

3-7

3-8

3-9

3-10
3-11

3-12

Problems

What four financial statements are contained in most annual reports?
Who are some of the basic users of financial statements, and how do they use them?

If a “typical” firm reports $20 million of retained earnings on its balance sheet, could its
directors declare a $20 million cash dividend without having any qualms about what they
were doing? Explain your answer.

Explain the following statement: Although the balance sheet can be thought of as a snap-
shot of a firm’s financial position af a point in time, the income statement reports on opera-
tions over a period of time.

Financial statements are based on generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and
are audited by CPA firms. Do investors need to worry about the validity of those state-
ments? Explain your answer.

Refer to the box titled, “The Balance Sheet of an Average American Household” when
answering parts a and b.

a. Based on this evidence, did the financial position of the average household improved
during 2004-2007? During 2007-2010? During 2010-2016? Explain your answers.

b. What do you think the average household balance sheet looks like today? Explain
your answer.

What is free cash flow? If you were an investor, why might you be more interested in free
cash flow than net income?

Would it be possible for a company to report negative free cash flow and still be highly
valued by investors; that is, could a negative free cash flow ever be viewed optimistically
by investors? Explain your answer.

How are management’s actions incorporated in EVA and MVA? How are EVA and MVA
interconnected?

Explain the following statement: Our tax rates are progressive.

What does double taxation of corporate income mean? Could income ever be subject to triple
taxation? Explain your answer.

How does the deductibility of interest and dividends by the paying corporation affect the
choice of financing (i.e., the use of debt versus equity)?

Easy 3-1
Problems
1-8

BALANCE SHEET The assets of Dallas & Associates consist entirely of current assets and net
plant and equipment, and the firm has no excess cash. The firm has total assets of $2.5 mil-
lion and net plant and equipment equals $2 million. It has notes payable of $150,000, long-
term debt of $750,000, and total common equity of $1.5 million. The firm does have accounts
payable and accruals on its balance sheet. The firm only finances with debt and common
equity, so it has no preferred stock on its balance sheet.

What is the company’s total debt?

. What is the amount of total liabilities and equity that appears on the firm’s balance sheet?
What is the balance of current assets on the firm’s balance sheet?

. What is the balance of current liabilities on the firm’s balance sheet?

What is the amount of accounts payable and accruals on its balance sheet? (Hint:
Consider this as a single line item on the firm’s balance sheet.)

© o0 o

=

What is the firm’s net working capital?
. What is the firm’s net operating working capital?

o a9

. What is the explanation for the difference in your answers to parts f and g?
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3-2 INCOME STATEMENT Byron Books Inc. recently reported $13 million of net income. Its
EBIT was $20.8 million, and its tax rate was 35%. What was its interest expense? (Hint:
Write out the headings for an income statement, and fill in the known values. Then divide
$13 million of net income by (1 —T) = 0.65 to find the pretax income. The difference
between EBIT and taxable income must be interest expense. Use this same procedure to
complete similar problems.)

3-3 INCOME STATEMENT Patterson Brothers recently reported an EBITDA of $7.5 million and
net income of $2.1 million. It had $2.0 million of interest expense, and its corporate tax rate
was 30%. What was its charge for depreciation and amortization?

3-4 STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY In its most recent financial statements, Nessler
Inc. reported $75 million of net income and $825 million of retained earnings. The previous
retained earnings were $784 million. How much in dividends were paid to shareholders
during the year? Assume that all dividends declared were actually paid.

3-5 MVA Harper Industries has $900 million of common equity on its balance sheet, its stock
price is $80 per share, and its market value added (MVA) is $50 million. How many com-
mon shares are currently outstanding?

3-6 MVA Over the years, Masterson Corporation’s stockholders have provided $34,000,000 of
capital when they purchased new issues of stock and allowed management to retain some
of the firm’s earnings. The firm now has 2,000,000 shares of common stock outstanding,
and the shares sell at a price of $28 per share. How much value has Masterson’s manage-
ment added to stockholder wealth over the years, that is, what is Masterson’s MVA?

3-7 EVA Barton Industries has operating income for the year of $3,500,000 and a 36% tax rate.
Its total invested capital is $20,000,000 and its after-tax percentage cost of capital is 8%.
What is the firm’s EVA?

3-8 PERSONALTAXES Susan and Stan Britton are a married couple who file a joint income tax
return, where the tax rates are based on the tax tables presented in the chapter. Assume that
their taxable income this year was $375,000.

a. What is their federal tax liability?
b. What is their marginal tax rate?
c. What is their average tax rate?

Intermediate 3-9 BALANCE SHEET Which of the following actions are most likely to directly increase cash as
Problems shown on a firm'’s balance sheet? Explain and state the assumptions that underlie your answer.
9-14

a. It issues $4 million of new common stock.

b. It buys new plant and equipment at a cost of $3 million.
c. Itreports a large loss for the year.

d. It increases the dividends paid on its common stock.

3-10 STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Electronics World Inc. paid out $22.4 million in
total common dividends and reported $144.7 million of retained earnings at year-end. The
prior year’s retained earnings were $95.5 million. What was the net income? Assume that
all dividends declared were actually paid.

3-11 EVA For 2018, Gourmet Kitchen Products reported $22 million of sales and $19 million
of operating costs (including depreciation). The company has $15 million of total invested
capital. Its after-tax cost of capital is 10%, and its federal-plus-state income tax rate was
36%. What was the firm’s economic value added (EVA), that is, how much value did man-
agement add to stockholders” wealth during 2018?

3-12 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Hampton Industries had $39,000 in cash at year-end 2017
and $11,000 in cash at year-end 2018. The firm invested in property, plant, and equipment
totaling $210,000. Cash flow from financing activities totaled +$120,000.

a. What was the cash flow from operating activities?

b. If accruals increased by $15,000, receivables and inventories increased by $50,000, and
depreciation and amortization totaled $25,000, what was the firm’s net income?
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3-13 STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS You have just been hired as a financial analyst for Barrington
Industries. Unfortunately, company headquarters (where all of the firm’s records are kept)
has been destroyed by fire. So, your first job will be to recreate the firm’s cash flow state-
ment for the year just ended. The firm had $100,000 in the bank at the end of the prior
year, and its working capital accounts except cash remained constant during the year. It
earned $5 million in net income during the year but paid $800,000 in dividends to com-
mon shareholders. Throughout the year, the firm purchased $5.5 million of machinery that
was needed for a new project. You have just spoken to the firm’s accountants and learned
that annual depreciation expense for the year is $450,000; however, the purchase price for
the machinery represents additions to property, plant, and equipment before depreciation.
Finally, you have determined that the only financing done by the firm was to issue long-
term debt of $1 million at a 6% interest rate. What was the firm’s end-of-year cash balance?
Recreate the firm’s cash flow statement to arrive at your answer.

3-14 FREE CASHFLOW Arlington Corporation’s financial statements (dollars and shares are in
millions) are provided here.

Balance Sheets as of December 31

2018 2017
Assets
Cash and equivalents $ 15,000 S 14,000
Accounts receivable 35,000 30,000
Inventories 33,320 27,000
Total current assets $ 83,320 $ 71,000
Net plant and equipment 48,000 46,000
Total assets $131,320 $ 117,000
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $ 10,100 $ 9,000
Accruals 8,000 6,000
Notes payable 7,000 5,050
Total current liabilities $ 25,100 $ 20,050
Long-term bonds 20,000 20,000
Total liabilities $ 45,100 $ 40,050
Common stock (4,000 shares) 40,000 40,000
Retained earnings 46,220 36,950
Common equity $ 86,220 $ 76,950
Total liabilities and equity $131,320 $ 117,000
Income Statement for Year Ending December 31, 2018
Sales $210,000
Operating costs excluding depreciation and amortization 160,000
EBITDA $ 50,000
Depreciation and amortization 6,000
EBIT $ 44,000
Interest 5,350
EBT $ 38,650
Taxes (40%) 15,460
Net income $23—190
Dividends paid $ 13,920

a. What was net operating working capital for 2017 and 2018? Assume that all cash is
excess cash; i.e., this cash is not needed for operating purposes.

b. What was Arlington’s 2018 free cash flow?

c. Construct Arlington’s 2018 statement of stockholders” equity.
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d. What was Arlington’s 2018 EVA? Assume that its after-tax cost of capital is 10%.

e. What was Arlington’s MVA at year-end 2018? Assume that its stock price at
December 31, 2018 was $25.

Challenging 3-15 INCOME STATEMENT Edmonds Industries is forecasting the following income statement:

Problems

15-18 Sales $10,000,000
Operating costs excluding depreciation and amortization 5,500,000
EBITDA $ 4,500,000
Depreciation and amortization 1,200,000
EBIT $ 3,300,000
Interest 500,000
EBT $ 2,800,000
Taxes (40%) 1,120,000
Net income $ 1,680,000

The CEO would like to see higher sales and a forecasted net income of $2,100,000. Assume
that operating costs (excluding depreciation and amortization) are 55% of sales and that
depreciation and amortization and interest expenses will increase by 6%. The tax rate,
which is 40%, will remain the same. (Note that while the tax rate remains constant, the taxes
paid will change.) What level of sales would generate $2,100,000 in net income?

3-16 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS The Davidson Corporation’s balance sheet and income state-

ment are provided here.

Davidson Corporation: Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2018
(Millions of Dollars)

Assets Liabilities and Equity
Cash and equivalents $ 15 Accounts payable $ 120
Accounts receivable 515 Accruals 280
Inventories 880 Notes payable 220
Total current assets $1,410 Total current liabilities $ 620
Net plant and equipment 2,590 Long-term bonds 1,520
Total liabilities $2,140
Common stock (100 million shares) 260
Retained earnings 1,600
Common equity $1,860
Total assets $4,000 Total liabilities and equity $4,000

Davidson Corporation: Income Statement for Year Ending
December 31, 2018 (Millions of Dollars)

Sales $ 6,250
Operating costs excluding depreciation and amortization 5230
EBITDA $ 1,020
Depreciation and amortization 220
EBIT $ 800
Interest 180
EBT $ 620
Taxes (40%) 248
Net income $ 372
Common dividends paid $ 146
Earnings per share $ 372
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a. Construct the statement of stockholders” equity for December 31, 2018. No common
stock was issued during 2018.

b. How much money has been reinvested in the firm over the years?
c. At the present time, how large a check could be written without it bouncing?
d. How much money must be paid to current creditors within the next year?

3-17 FREE CASHFLOW Financial information for Powell Panther Corporation is shown here.

Powell Panther Corporation: Income Statements for Year Ending December 31 (Millions of Dollars)

2018 2017
Sales $ 1,200.0 $1,000.0
Operating costs excluding depreciation and amortization 1,020.0 850.0
EBITDA $ 180.0 $ 150.0
Depreciation and amortization 30.0 25.0
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) $ 150.0 $ 125.0
Interest 21.7 20.2
Earnings before taxes (EBT) S 1283 S 104.8
Taxes (40%) 51.3 419
Net income $ 770 $ 629
Common dividends $ 605 $ 464

Powell Panther Corporation: Balance Sheets as of December 31
(Millions of Dollars)

2018 2017
Assets
Cash and equivalents $ 120 $ 10.0
Accounts receivable 180.0 150.0
Inventories 180.0 200.0
Total current assets $372.0 $360.0
Net plant and equipment 300.0 250.0
Total assets $672.0 $610.0
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $108.0 $ 90.0
Accruals 72.0 60.0
Notes payable 67.0 51.5
Total current liabilities $247.0 $201.5
Long-term bonds 150.0 150.0
Total liabilities $397.0 $351.5
Common stock (50 million shares) 50.0 50.0
Retained earnings 225.0 208.5
Common equity $275.0 $258.5
Total liabilities and equity $672.0 $610.0

a. What was net operating working capital for 2017 and 2018? Assume the firm has no
excess cash.

b. What was the 2018 free cash flow?
c. How would you explain the large increase in 2018 dividends?

3-18 PERSONAL TAXES Mary Jarvis is a single individual who is working on filing her tax
return for the previous year. She has assembled the following relevant information:

®  She received $82,000 in salary.
®  She received $12,000 of dividend income.
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®  She received $5,000 of interest income on Home Depot bonds.
®  She received $22,000 from the sale of Disney stock that was purchased 2 years prior
to the sale at a cost of $9,000.

®  She received $10,000 from the sale of Google stock that was purchased 6 months
prior to the sale at a cost of $7,500.

®  Mary receives one exemption ($4,050), and she has allowable itemized deductions of
$7,500. These amounts will be deducted from her gross income to determine her tax-
able income.

Assume that her tax rates are based on the tax tables presented in the chapter.

a. What is Mary’s federal tax liability?
b. What is her marginal tax rate?
c. What is her average tax rate?

Comprehensive/Spreadsheet Problem

3-19 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CASH FLOW, AND TAXES Laiho Industries’s 2017 and 2018 bal-
ance sheets (in thousands of dollars) are shown.

2018 2017
Cash $102,850 $ 89,725
Accounts receivable 103,365 85,527
Inventories 38,444 34,982
Total current assets $244,659 $210,234
Net fixed assets 67,165 42,436
Total assets $311,824 $252,670
Accounts payable $ 30,761 $ 23,109
Accruals 30,477 22,656
Notes payable 16,717 14,217
Total current liabilities $ 77,955 $ 59,982
Long-term debt 76,264 63,914
Total liabilities $154,219 $123,896
Common stock 100,000 90,000
Retained earnings 57,605 38,774
Total common equity $157,605 $128,774
Total liabilities and equity $311,824 $252,670

a. Sales for 2018 were $455,150,000, and EBITDA was 15% of sales. Furthermore, depre-
ciation and amortization were 11% of net fixed assets, interest was $8,575,000, the
corporate tax rate was 40%, and Laiho pays 40% of its net income as dividends. Given
this information, construct the firm’s 2018 income statement.

b. Construct the statement of stockholders” equity for the year ending December 31, 2018,
and the 2018 statement of cash flows.

c. Calculate 2017 and 2018 net operating working capital (NOWC) and 2018 free cash
flow (FCF). Assume the firm has no excess cash.

d. If Laiho increased its dividend payout ratio, what effect would this have on corporate
taxes paid? What effect would this have on taxes paid by the company’s share-
holders?

e. Assume that the firm’s after-tax cost of capital is 10.5%. What is the firm’s 2018 EVA?

f. Assume that the firm’s stock price is $22 per share and that at year-end 2018 the firm
has 10 million shares outstanding. What is the firm’s MVA at year-end 2018?
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2
¢
& INTEGRATED CASE

D’LEON INC., PART |

3-20 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND TAXES Donna Jamison, a 2011 graduate of the University of Florida,
with 4 years of banking experience, was recently brought in as assistant to the chairperson of the board
of D’Leon Inc., a small food producer that operates in north Florida and whose specialty is high-quality
pecan and other nut products sold in the snack foods market. D’Leon’s president, Al Watkins, decided in
2017 to undertake a major expansion and to “go national” in competition with Frito-Lay, Eagle, and other
major snack foods companies. Watkins believed that D’Leon’s products were of higher quality than the
competition’s, that this quality differential would enable it to charge a premium price, and that the end
result would be greatly increased sales, profits, and stock price.

The company doubled its plant capacity, opened new sales offices outside its home territory, and
launched an expensive advertising campaign. D’Leon’s results were not satisfactory, to put it mildly. Its
board of directors, which consisted of its president, vice president, and major stockholders (all of whom
were local businesspeople), was most upset when directors learned how the expansion was going. Unhappy
suppliers were being paid late, and the bank was complaining about the deteriorating situation and threaten-
ing to cut off credit. As a result, Watkins was informed that changes would have to be made—and quickly;
otherwise, he would be fired. Also, at the board’s insistence, Donna Jamison was brought in and given the job
of assistant to Fred Campo, a retired banker who was D’Leon’s chairperson and largest stockholder. Campo
agreed to give up a few of his golfing days and help nurse the company back to health, with Jamison’s help.

Jamison began by gathering the financial statements and other data given in Tables IC 3.1, IC 3.2, IC 3.3,
and IC 3.4. Assume that you are Jamison’s assistant. You must help her answer the following questions for
Campo. (Note: We will continue with this case in Chapter 4, and you will feel more comfortable with the anal-
ysis there. But answering these questions will help prepare you for Chapter 4. Provide clear explanations.)

a.  What effect did the expansion have on sales, after-tax operating income, net operating working capi-
tal (NOWC), and net income?

b. What effect did the company’s expansion have on its free cash flow?

D’Leon purchases materials on 30-day terms, meaning that it is supposed to pay for purchases with-
in 30 days of receipt. Judging from its 2018 balance sheet, do you think that D’Leon pays suppliers
on time? Explain, including what problems might occur if suppliers are not paid in a timely manner.

d. D’Leon spends money for labor, materials, and fixed assets (depreciation) to make products—and
spends still more money to sell those products. Then the firm makes sales that result in receivables,
which eventually result in cash inflows. Does it appear that D’Leon’s sales price exceeds its costs per
unit sold? How does this affect the cash balance?

e. Suppose D’Leon’s sales manager told the sales staff to start offering 60-day credit terms rather than
the 30-day terms now being offered. D’Leon’s competitors react by offering similar terms, so sales
remain constant. What effect would this have on the cash account? How would the cash account be
affected if sales doubled as a result of the credit policy change?

f.  Can you imagine a situation in which the sales price exceeds the cost of producing and selling a unit
of output, yet a dramatic increase in sales volume causes the cash balance to decline? Explain.

g. Did D’Leon finance its expansion program with internally generated funds (additions to retained
earnings plus depreciation) or with external capital? How does the choice of financing affect the
company’s financial strength?

h. Refer to Tables IC 3.2 and IC 3.4. Suppose D’Leon broke even in 2018 in the sense that sales revenues
equaled total operating costs plus interest charges. Would the asset expansion have caused the com-
pany to experience a cash shortage that required it to raise external capital? Explain.

i.  If D’Leon starts depreciating fixed assets over 7 years rather than 10 years, would that affect (1) the phys-
ical stock of assets, (2) the balance sheet account for fixed assets, (3) the company’s reported net income,
and (4) the company’s cash position? Assume that the same depreciation method is used for stockholder
reporting and for tax calculations and that the accounting change has no effect on assets’ physical lives.

j-  Explain how earnings per share, dividends per share, and book value per share are calculated and
what they mean. Why does the market price per share not equal the book value per share?

k. Explain briefly the tax treatment of (1) interest and dividends paid, (2) interest earned and dividends
received, (3) capital gains, and (4) tax loss carrybacks and carryforwards. How might each of these
items affect D’Leon’s taxes?
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TABLE IC3.1 Balance Sheets
2018 2017
Assets
Cash? $ 7,282 $ 57,600
Accounts receivable 632,160 351,200
Inventories 1,287,360 715,200
Total current assets $1,926,802 $1,124,000
Gross fixed assets 1,202,950 491,000
Less accumulated depreciation 263,160 146,200
Net fixed assets $ 939,790 $ 344,800
Total assets $2,866,592 $1,468,800
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $ 524,160 S 145,600
Accruals 489,600 136,000
Notes payable 636,808 200,000
Total current liabilities $1,650,568 $ 481,600
Long-term debt 723,432 323,432
Common stock (100,000 shares) 460,000 460,000
Retained earnings 32,592 203,768
Total equity $ 492,592 $ 663,768
Total liabilities and equity $2,866,592 $1,468,800

2Assume that all cash is excess cash; i.e., this cash is not needed for operating purposes.

TABLE IC3.2 Income Statements

2018 2017
Sales $6,034,000 $ 3,432,000
Cost of goods sold 5,528,000 2,864,000
Other expenses 519,988 358,672
Total operating costs excluding depreciation and amortization $ 6,047,988 $ 3,222,672
Depreciation and amortization 116,960 18,900
EBIT ($130,948) $ 190,428
Interest expense 136,012 43,828
EBT ($ 266,960) $ 146,600
Taxes (40%) (106,784)2 58,640
Net income ($ 160,176) S 87,960
EPS (S 1.602) $ 0.880
DPS $ 0.110 $ 0.220
Book value per share $ 4.926 $ 6.638
Stock price $ 2.25 $ 8.50
Shares outstanding 100,000 100,000
Tax rate 40.00% 40.00%
Lease payments S 40,000 S 40,000
Sinking fund payments 0 0

aThe firm had sufficient taxable income in 2016 and 2017 to obtain its full tax refund in 2018.
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Statement of Stockholders’ Equity, 2018 TABLEIC3.3
Common Stock
Retained Total Stockholders’
Shares Amount Earnings Equity
Balances, December 31, 2017 100,000 $460,000 $ 203,768 $ 663,768
2018 Net income (160,176)
Cash dividends (11,000)
Addition (subtraction) to retained earnings (171,176)
Balances, December 31, 2018 100,000 $460,000 $ 32,592 $ 492,592
Statement of Cash Flows, 2018 TABLEIC3.4
Operating Activities
Net income ($ 160,176)
Depreciation and amortization 116,960
Increase in accounts payable 378,560
Increase in accruals 353,600
Increase in accounts receivable (280,960)
Increase in inventories (572,160)
Net cash provided by operating activities (5 164,176)
Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant, and equipment ($711,950)
Net cash used in investing activities ($711,950)
Financing Activities
Increase in notes payable $ 436,808
Increase in long-term debt 400,000
Payment of cash dividends (11,000)
Net cash provided by financing activities $ 825,808
Summary
Net decrease in cash ($ 50,318)
Cash at beginning of year 57,600
Cash at end of year $ 7,282
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Q

TAKING A CLOSERLOOK — N\

(EXPLORING DunkIN’ BRANDS GROUP'S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS \

Use online resources to work on this chapter’s questions. Please note that website
information changes over time, and these changes may limit your ability to answer
some of these questions.

Dunkin’ Brands Group, Inc. operates under the Dunkin’ Donuts and Baskin-Robbins brands world-
wide. As of November 3, 2016, the company had about 12,000 Dunkin” Donuts and 7,600 Baskin-
Robbins restaurants.

Using financial websites such as finance.yahoo.com and money.msn.com, you can access a wealth
of financial information for companies such as Dunkin’ Brands. By entering the company’s ticker sym-
bol, DNKN, you will be able to access a great deal of useful information, including a summary of what
Dunkin” Brands does (Profile), a chart of its recent stock price (Summary), EPS estimates (Analysts),
recent news stories (Summary), and a list of key financial data and ratios (Statistics).

In researching a company’s operating performance, a good place to start is the recent stock price
performance. From an interactive chart, you can obtain a chart of the company’s stock price perfor-
mance and compare it to the overall market (as measured by the S&P 500 index) between 2011 and
2017. As you can see, Dunkin’ Brands has had its ups and downs. But the company’s overall perfor-
mance has been quite strong during the past 4 years, following the market trend, but generally outper-
forming the market for most of the last 4 years.

You can also find Dunkin” Brands’ recent financial statements (Financials). Typically, you can find
annual balance sheets, income statements, and cash flow statements for 3 years. Quarterly information
is also available.

DiscussioN QUESTIONS

1. Looking at the most recent year available, what is the amount of total assets on Dunkin’ Brands’ balance
sheet? What percentage is fixed assets, such as plant and equipment? What percentage is current assets?
How much has the company grown over the years that are shown?

2. Does Dunkin’ Brands have very much long-term debt? What are the chief ways in which Dunkin” Brands
has financed assets?

3. Looking at the statement of cash flows, what factors can explain the change in the company’s cash posi-
tion over the last couple of years?

4. Looking at the income statement, what are the company’s most recent sales and net income? Over the
past several years, what has been the sales growth rate? What has been the growth rate in net income?

5. Over the past few years, has there been a strong correlation between stock price performance and reported
earnings? Explain. (Hint: Change the Interactive Stock Chart so that it corresponds to the same number of
\ years shown for the financial statements.)
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-

Can You Make Money Analyzing Stocks?

For many years, a debate has raged over this
question. Some argue that the stock market is
highly efficient and that all available informa-
tion regarding a stock is already reflected in its
price. The “efficient market advocates” point out
that there are thousands of smart, well-trained
analysts working for institutions with billions of
dollars. These analysts have access to the lat-
est information, and they spring into action—
buying or selling—as soon as a firm releases any
information that has a bearing on its future prof-
its. The “efficient market advocates”also point out
that few mutual funds, which hire good people
and pay them well, actually beat the averages. If
these experts earn only average returns, how can
the rest of us expect to beat the market?

Others disagree, arguing that analysis can
pay off. They point out that some fund managers
perform better than average year after year. Also,
they note that some “activist” investors analyze

firms carefully, identify those with weaknesses
that appear to be correctable, and then per-
suade their managers to take actions to improve
the firms’ performances.

Arguably, the world’s best-known inves-
tor is Warren Buffett. Through his company
Berkshire Hathaway, Buffett has made significant
investments in a number of well-known com-
panies, including Coca-Cola, American Express,
DIRECTV, IBM, and Wells Fargo. Buffett is well
known for taking a long-run view of things.
His value-investing approach, which borrows
heavily from the ideas espoused decades ago
by Benjamin Graham, looks for stocks trading at
prices that are significantly lower than their esti-
mated intrinsic value. Value investors rely heavily
on the type of analysis described in this chapter
to assess a company’s strengths and weaknesses
and to derive the key inputs for their estimates
of intrinsic value.

ZUMA Press, Inc./Alamy Stock Photo
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Berkshire Hathaway's performance under Buffett's man-
agement has been nothing short of amazing. A recent article
in Fortune calculated that in the 50 years between 1964 and
2014 with Buffett at the helm, Berkshire Hathaway provided its
investors with a staggering total return of 1,826,163%, which
translates into a compound annual return of 21.6%! And so far,
Buffett is showing no signs of slowing down. From early 2015
to early 2017, the stock jumped another 16%, once again out-
performing the overall market during the same time period.

Always looking for new opportunities, in June 2013,
Berkshire Hathaway partnered with private equity firm 3G
Capital and acquired H.J. Heinz Company for $28 billion. A
year later in November 2014, Buffett saw what he thought
was another good opportunity. In that transaction, Berkshire
purchased the Duracell battery unit from Procter and Gamble.
In March 2015, he once again combined forces with 3G Capital
to help finance the merger between Heinz and Kraft Foods.
In each case, Buffett purchased a well-established brand that
he believes has even greater potential for improvement. Even

more recently, Berkshire Hathaway attracted headlines by
making a big bet on Apple in the fourth quarter of 2016. The
company increased its investment in Apple from 15 million
shares to 57 million shares. Since this investment, Apple’s stock
price has soared, and a recent forbes magazine article suggests
that assuming the company did not make any changes to its
position, it had made more than $1 billion from its investment
in Apple over just a few short months! That said, at least one
expert has taken a different view and has argued that the long-
run prospects for Apple are not as strong as many believe.

So, although many people regard financial statements as
“just accounting,’ they really are much more. As you will see in
this chapter, these statements provide a wealth of information
that can be used for a wide variety of purposes by managers,
investors, lenders, customers, suppliers, and regulators. An
analysis of its statements can highlight a company’s strengths
and shortcomings, and this information can be used by man-
agement to improve the company’s performance and by oth-
ers to predict future results.

Sources: Carol J. Loomis, “Grading Berkshire after 50 Years under Buffett: How Does a 1,826,163% Stock Rise Sound?” Fortune (www.fortune.com),
February 28, 2015; Jonathan Stempel and Devika Krishna Kumar, “Buffett’'s Berkshire Hathaway Buys P&G’s Duracell,” Reuters (www.reuters
.com), November 13, 2014; and Lauren Gensler, “Warren Buffett Nearly Quadruples Stake in Apple,” Forbes (www.forbes.com), February 14, 2017.

N

‘ PUTTING THINGS IN PERSPECTIVE

The primary goal of financial management is to maximize shareholders’ wealth,
not accounting measures such as net income or earnings per share (EPS). However,
accounting data influence stock prices, and these data can be used to see why a com-
pany is performing the way it is and where it is heading. Chapter 3 described the key
financial statements and showed how they change as a firm’s operations change. Now,
in Chapter 4, we show how the statements are used by managers to improve the firm's
stock price, by lenders to evaluate the likelihood that borrowers will be able to pay off
loans, and by security analysts to forecast earnings, dividends, and stock prices.

If management is to maximize a firm'’s value, it must take advantage of the firm'’s
strengths and correct its weaknesses. Financial analysis involves (1) comparing
the firm’s performance to that of other firms in the same industry and (2) evaluat-
ing trends in the firm’s financial position over time. These studies help managers
identify deficiencies and take corrective actions. In this chapter, we focus on how
managers and investors evaluate a firm’s financial position. Then, in later chapters,
we examine the types of actions managers can take to improve future performance
and thus increase the firm’s stock price.

When you finish this chapter, you should be able to do the following:

« Explain what ratio analysis is.

« List the five groups of ratios and identify, calculate, and interpret the key ratios
in each group.
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- Discuss each ratio’s relationship to the balance sheet and income statement.

« Discuss why return on equity (ROE) is the key ratio under management’s control
and how the other ratios impact ROE, and explain how to use the DuPont equa-
tion for improving ROE.

. Compare a firm’s ratios with those of other firms (benchmarking) and analyze a
given firm’s ratios over time (trend analysis).

- Discuss the tendency of ratios to fluctuate over time (which may or may not be
problematic), explain how they can be influenced by accounting practices as
well as other factors, and explain why they must be used with care.

4-1 Ratio Analysis

Ratios help us evaluate financial statements. For example, at the end of 2018,
Allied Food Products had $860 million of interest-bearing debt and interest charg-
es of $88 million, while Midwest Products had $52 million of interest-bearing
debt and interest charges of $4 million. Which company is stronger? The burden
of these debts and the companies” ability to repay them can best be evaluated
by comparing each firm’s total debt to its total capital and comparing interest
expense to the income and cash available to pay that interest. Ratios are used to
make such comparisons. We calculate Allied’s ratios for 2018 using data from the
balance sheets and income statements given in Tables 3.1 and 3.2. We also evalu-
ate the ratios relative to food industry averages, using data in millions of dollars.'
As you will see, we can calculate many different ratios, with different ones used
to examine different aspects of the firm’s operations. You will get to know some
ratios by name, but it’s better to understand what they are designed to do than to
memorize names and equations.
We divide the ratios into five categories:

I.  Liquidity ratios, which give an idea of the firm’s ability to pay off debts that
are maturing within a year.

2. Asset management ratios, which give an idea of how efficiently the firm is
using its assets.

3. Debt management ratios, which give an idea of how the firm has financed its
assets as well as the firm’s ability to repay its long-term debt.

4. Profitability ratios, which give an idea of how profitably the firm is operating
and utilizing its assets.

5. Market value ratios, which give an idea of what investors think about the firm
and its future prospects.

'Financial statement data for most publicly traded firms can be obtained from the Internet. Free
sites that provide this information include Google Finance (google.com/finance) and Yahoo!
Finance (finance.yahoo.com). These sites provide financial statements, which can be copied to an
Excel file and used to create your own ratios, but the websites also provide calculated ratios.

In addition to the ratios discussed in this chapter, financial analysts often employ a tool known
as common size analysis. To form a common size balance sheet, simply divide each asset, liability, and
equity item by total assets and then express the results as percentages. To develop a common size
income statement, divide each income statement item by sales. The resultant percentage statements
can be compared with statements of larger or smaller firms or with those of the same firm over
time. One would normally obtain the basic statements from a source such as Google Finance and
copy them to Excel, so constructing common size statements is quite easy. Note too that industry
average data are generally given as percentages, which make them easy to compare with a firm’s
own common size statements. We provide Allied Food Products’s common size statements in Web
Appendix 4A.
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Students can download
the Excel chapter
models from the
textbook’s student
companion site on
cengage.com. Once
downloaded onto your
computer, retrieve the
Chapter 4 Excel model
and follow along as you
read this chapter.
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Part 2 Fundamental Concepts in Financial Management

Liquid Asset

An asset that can be con-
verted to cash quickly
without having to reduce
the asset’s price very
much.

Liquidity Ratios

Ratios that show the rela-
tionship of a firm’s cash
and other current assets
to its current liabilities.

Current Ratio

This ratio is calculated by
dividing current assets
by current liabilities. It
indicates the extent to
which current liabilities
are covered by those
assets expected to be
converted to cash in the
near future.

Satisfactory liquidity ratios are necessary if the firm is to continue operating.
Good asset management ratios are necessary for the firm to keep its costs low and
thus its net income high. Debt management ratios indicate how risky the firm is
and how much of its operating income must be paid to bondholders rather than
stockholders. Profitability ratios combine the asset and debt management catego-
ries and show their effects on ROE. Finally, market value ratios tell us what inves-
tors think about the company and its prospects.

All of the ratios are important, but different ones are more important for
some companies than for others. For example, if a firm borrowed too much in
the past and its debt now threatens to drive it into bankruptcy, the debt ratios
are key. Similarly, if a firm expanded too rapidly and now finds itself with
excess inventory and manufacturing capacity, the asset management ratios
take center stage. The ROE is always important, but a high ROE depends on
maintaining liquidity, on efficient asset management, and on the proper use
of debt. Managers are, of course, vitally concerned with the stock price, but
managers have little direct control over the stock market’s performance; they
do, however, have control over their firm’s ROE. So ROE tends to be the main
focal point.

4-2 Liquidity Ratios

The liquidity ratios help answer this question: Will the firm be able to pay off its
debts as they come due and thus remain a viable organization? If the answer is
no, liquidity must be addressed.

A liquid asset is one that trades in an active market and thus can be quickly
converted to cash at the going market price. As shown in Table 3.1, Allied has
$310 million of current liabilities that must be paid off within the coming year.
Will it have trouble meeting that obligation? A full liquidity analysis requires the
use of a cash budget, which we discuss in Chapter 16; however, by relating cash
and other current assets to current liabilities, ratio analysis provides a quick and
easy-to-use measure of liquidity. Two of the most commonly used liquidity ratios
are discussed below.

4-2A CURRENT RATIO

The primary liquidity ratio is the current ratio, which is calculated by dividing
current assets by current liabilities:

X Current assets
Currentratio=——————
Current liabilities

$1,000
= = 3.2X
$310

Industry average = 4.2X

Current assets include cash, marketable securities, accounts receivable, and
inventories. Allied’s current liabilities consist of accounts payable, accrued wages
and taxes, and short-term notes payable to its bank, all of which are due within
1 year.

If a company is having financial difficulty, it typically begins to pay its
accounts payable more slowly and to borrow more from its bank, both of which
increase current liabilities. If current liabilities are rising faster than current assets,
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A wide range of valuable financial information is available
on the Internet. With just a couple of clicks, an investor can
find the key financial statements for most publicly traded
companies.

Suppose you are thinking of buying some Disney stock,
and you want to analyze its recent performance. Here's a par-
tial (but by no means complete) list of sites you can access to
get started:

«  One source is Yahoo! Finance (finance.yahoo.com). Here
you will find updated market information along with links
to a variety of research sites. Enter a stock’s ticker symbol,
and you will see the stock’s current price along with recent
news about the company. Click “Statistics” to find a report
on the company’s key financial ratios. Links to the com-
pany’s financials (income statement, balance sheet, and
statement of cash flows) can also be found. Yahoo! Finance
also has a list of insider transactions (which can be found
under Holders) that tell you whether a company’s CEO
and other key insiders are buying or selling the company’s
stock. In addition, the site has a message board (which
can be found under Conversations) where investors share
opinions about the company. Note also that, in most
cases, a complete listing of a firm’s SEC filings can be found
at the SEC website (sec.gov).

«  Two other websites with similar information are Google
Finance (google.com/finance) and MSN Money (msn.com
/en-us/money). After entering a stock’s ticker symbol,
you will see the current stock price and a list of recent
news stories. At either of these sites, you will find links to
a company’s financial statements and key ratios, as well
as other information including analyst ratings, historical
charts, earnings estimates, and a summary of insider
transactions.

. Other sources for up-to-date market information are CNN
Money (money.cnn.com), Zacks Investment Research
(zacks.com), and MarketWatch (marketwatch.com), part of
The Wall Street Journal Digital Network. On these sites, you
also can obtain stock quotes, financial statements, com-
pany profiles, and charts of a firm'’s stock price over time.

«  CNBC(cnbc.com) is another good source of financial infor-
mation. Here, you enter a firm's ticker symbol to obtain
the firm’s stock price and fundamentals like its market
cap, beta, and dividend yield. You can also chart a firm's
stock price and obtain news about the company, earn-
ings history and estimates, industry peer comparisons,
quarterly or annual financial statements, and a summary
of ownership.

Chapter 4 Analysis of Financial Statements
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«  Seekingalpha.com provides stock price quotes; funda-
mentals like EPS, P/E, and dividend yield information
as well as stock price charts. In addition, you can obtain
b